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Item 1. Financial Statements

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

EXELIXIS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

September 30,
2013 December 31,
(unaudited) 2012
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 92,016 170,069
Short-term investments 187,203 241,371
Short-term restricted cash and investments 12,211 12,246
Trade and other receivables 5,171 2,751
Inventory 1,764 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,799 6,104
Total current assets 306,164 432,541
Long-term investments 157,402 182,311
Long-term restricted cash and investments 15,889 27,964
Property and equipment, net 5,520 6,059
Goodwill 63,684 63,684
Other assets 7,300 8,538
Total assets $ 555,959 721,097
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 3,559 4,398
Accrued clinical trial liabilities 35,042 20,560
Accrued compensation and benefits 9,342 10,375
Other accrued liabilities 13,017 11,795
Current portion of convertible notes 10,000 10,000
Current portion of loans payable 2,127 3,170
Current portion of restructuring 3,776 5,085
Deferred revenue 1,017 16,321
Total current liabilities 77,880 81,704
Long-term portion of convertible notes 248,707 240,476
Long-term portion of loans payable 80,757 82,090
Long-term portion of restructuring 10,126 14,137
Other long-term liabilities 5,726 6,256
Total liabilities 423,196 424,663
Contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 400,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding:
184,194,124 and 183,697,213 shares at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively 184 183
Additional paid-in capital 1,560,415 1,550,345
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 180 92)
Accumulated deficit (1,428,016) (1,254,002)
Total stockholders’ equity 132,763 296,434
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 555,959 § 721,097

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EXELIXIS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

(unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenues:
License and contract revenues $ 695 $ 13,313  $ 16,321  $ 39,636
Net product revenues 4,771 — 10,670 —
Total revenues 5,466 13,313 26,991 39,636
Operating expenses:
Cost of goods sold 290 — 855 —
Research and development 47,354 30,680 129,166 96,386
Selling, general and administrative 13,598 7,343 37,323 22,008
Restructuring charge 137 733 865 1,704
Total operating expenses 61,379 38,756 168,209 120,098
Loss from operations (55,913) (25,443) (141,218) (80,462)
Other income (expense), net:
Interest income and other, net 219 318 930 818
Interest expense (11,430) (7,679) (33,726) (15,775)
Total other income (expense), net (11,211) (7,361) (32,796) (14,957)
Loss before income taxes (67,124) (32,804) (174,014) (95,419)
Income tax provision — 10 — 33
Net loss $ (67,124) $ (32,814) $ (174,014) $ (95,452)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.36) $ (0.20) $ (0.95) $ (0.63)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per
share 184,149 166,354 183,957 152,316
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
EXELIXIS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Net loss $ (67,124) $ (32,814) $ (174,014) $ (95,452)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (1) 443 (23) 272 120
Comprehensive loss $ (66,681) $ (32,837) $ (173,742) $ (95,332)

(1) Other comprehensive income (loss) consisted solely of unrealized gains or losses on available for sale securities arising during the periods presented. There were no
reclassification adjustments to net income resulting from realized gains or losses on the sale of securities and there was no income tax expense related to other
comprehensive income during those periods.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

EXELIXIS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation expense

Restructuring credit for property and equipment

Accretion of debt discount
Other

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Other receivables

Inventory

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other assets

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities

Clinical trial liability
Restructuring liability
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred revenue
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from maturities of restricted cash and investments

Purchase of restricted cash and investments
Proceeds from maturities of investments
Purchases of investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan

Proceeds from debt issuance, net

Principal payments on debt

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2013 2012
$ (174,014) $ (95,452)
2,382 4,071
8,503 6,222
— (141)
19,445 8,624
5,243 3,450
(2,420) 27,082
(1,764) —
(1,495) (1,892)
— (1,983)
(652) 1,308
14,482 1,972
(5,320) (3,489)
(530) (76)
(15,304) (34,106)
(151,444) (84,410)
(2,079) (1,528)
40 877
15,968 4,199
(3,785) (40,188)
251,470 236,323
(176,768) (359,524)
84,846 (159,841)
— 203,479
25 901
894 828
— 277,673
(12,374) (4,082)
(11,455) 478,799
(78,053) 234,548
170,069 74,257
$ 92,016 $ 308,805

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EXELIXIS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization

3«  «

Exelixis, Inc. (“Exelixis,” “we,” “our” or “us”) is a biotechnology company committed to developing small molecule therapies for the treatment of
cancer. We are focusing our proprietary resources and development and commercialization efforts exclusively on COMETRIQ® (cabozantinib), our wholly-
owned inhibitor of multiple receptor tyrosine kinases. On November 29, 2012, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration approved COMETRIQ for the
treatment of progressive, metastatic medullary thyroid cancer (“MTC”), in the United States, where it became commercially available in late January 2013.
Cabozantinib is being evaluated in a variety of other cancer indications through a broad development program, including two ongoing phase 3 pivotal trials in
metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, an ongoing phase 3 pivotal trial in metastatic renal cell cancer and an ongoing phase 3 pivotal trial in advanced
hepatocellular cancer. We believe COMETRIQ has the potential to be a high-quality, broadly-active and differentiated anti-cancer agent that can make a
meaningful difference in the lives of patients. Our objective is to develop COMETRIQ into a major oncology franchise, and we believe that the approval of
COMETRIQ for the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC provides us with the opportunity to establish a commercial presence in furtherance of this
objective.

We have also established a portfolio of other novel compounds that we believe have the potential to address serious unmet medical needs. Many of
these compounds are being developed by partners as part of collaborations, at no cost to us but with significant retained economics to us in the event these
compounds are commercialized. As disclosed on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT01689519), a phase 3 clinical trial for one of these compounds, cobimetinib (GDC-
0973/X1L518), which we out-licensed to Genentech, Inc. (a wholly-owned member of the Roche Group), was initiated on November 1, 2012.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Exelixis and those of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, including Exelixis International
(Bermuda) Ltd. (“Exelixis Bermuda”). In September 2013, Exelixis engaged in intercompany transactions whereby Exelixis Bermuda acquired the existing
and future intellectual property rights to exploit cabozantinib in jurisdictions outside of the United States. All intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States for interim financial information and pursuant to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for complete
financial statements. In our opinion, all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation of the
results of operations and cash flows for the period presented have been included.

Exelixis adopted a 52- or 53-week fiscal year that generally ends on the Friday closest to December 31%. Fiscal year 2012, a 52-week year, ended on
December 28, 2012, and fiscal year 2013, a 52-week year, will end on December 27, 2013. For convenience, references in this report as of and for the fiscal
quarters ended September 28, 2012 and September 27, 2013, and as of the fiscal year ended December 28, 2012, are indicated as ended September 30, 2012,
September 30, 2013, and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 or for any future period. These financial statements and notes should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 21, 2013.

Segment Information

We operate in one business segment.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements is in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States which
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures.
On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates including, but not limited to, those related to inventory, revenue recognition, cost of goods sold,
valuation of long-lived assets, certain accrued liabilities including clinical trial accruals and restructuring liability, share-based compensation and the
valuation of the debt and equity components of our convertible debt at issuance. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other market-
specific and other relevant assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Inventory

We consider regulatory approval of product candidates to be uncertain and product manufactured prior to regulatory approval may not be sold unless
regulatory approval is obtained. As such, the manufacturing costs for product candidates incurred prior to regulatory approval are not capitalized as inventory
but rather are expensed as research and development costs. When regulatory approval is obtained, we begin capitalization of inventory related costs. We
received regulatory approval for our first product, COMETRIQ, on November 29, 2012.

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We determine the cost of inventory using the standard-cost method, which
approximates actual cost based on a first-in, first-out method. We analyze our inventory levels quarterly and write down inventory that has become obsolete,
or has a cost basis in excess of its expected net realizable value and inventory quantities in excess of expected requirements. Expired inventory is disposed of
and the related costs are recognized as cost of goods sold in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Goodwill

Goodwill amounts have been recorded as the excess purchase price over tangible assets, liabilities and intangible assets acquired based on their
estimated fair value, by applying the purchase method. Goodwill is not subject to amortization. We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis and
on an interim basis if events or changes in circumstances between annual impairment tests indicate that the asset might be impaired. When evaluating
goodwill for impairment we must determine the reporting units that exist within Exelixis. We have determined that we have one reporting unit, which is
consistent with our sole operating segment as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from the sale of COMETRIQ and from license fees and milestones earned on research and collaboration arrangements. See
“Note 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 for a description of our policies for revenue recognition on research and collaboration agreements. We did not
enter into any new collaboration agreements during the nine months ended September 30, 2013. See “Note 2 - Research and Collaboration Agreements” to
our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 for a description of our existing
collaboration agreements.

Net Product Revenues

We recognize revenue when it is both realized or realizable and earned, meaning persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, title has transferred, the price is fixed or determinable, there are no remaining customer acceptance requirements, and collectability of the resulting
receivable is reasonably assured. For product sales in the United States, this generally occurs upon shipment of the product to the patient. For product sales in
Europe, this occurs when our European distribution partner has accepted the product.

We sell our product, COMETRIQ, in the United States to a specialty pharmacy that benefits from customer incentives and has a right of return. We
have a limited sales history and cannot reliably estimate expected returns of the product nor the discounts and rebates due to payors at the time of shipment to
the specialty pharmacy. Accordingly, upon shipment to the specialty pharmacy, we record deferred revenue on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We
recognize revenue when the specialty pharmacy provides the product to a patient based on the fulfillment of a prescription. We record revenue using an
analysis of prescription data from our specialty pharmacy to ascertain the date of shipment and the payor mix. This approach is frequently referred to as the
“sell-through” revenue recognition model. Once the prescription has been provided to

7
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the patient, it is not subject to return unless the product is damaged.

Product sales to our European distribution partner are not subject to customer incentives, rights of return or discounts and allowances. We record
revenue at the time our European distribution partner has accepted the product, a method also known as the “sell-in” revenue recognition model.

Product Sales Discounts and Allowances

We calculate gross product revenues based on the price that we charge our United States specialty pharmacy and our European distribution partner.
We estimate our net product revenues by deducting from our gross product revenues (a) trade allowances, such as discounts for prompt payment,
(b) estimated government rebates and chargebacks, and (c) estimated costs of patient assistance programs. We initially record estimates for these deductions
at the time we recognize the gross revenue. We update our estimates on a recurring basis as new information becomes available. These discounts and
allowances apply only to gross product revenues earned in the United States.

Customer Credits: The United States specialty pharmacy receives a discount of 2% for prompt payment. We expect this specialty pharmacy will earn
100% of its prompt payment discounts and, therefore, we deduct the full amount of these discounts from total product sales when revenues are recognized.

Mandated Rebates: Allowances for rebates include mandated discounts under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and other government programs.
Rebate amounts owed after the final dispensing of the product to a benefit plan participant are based upon contractual agreements or legal requirements with
public sector benefit providers, such as Medicaid. The allowance for rebates is based on statutory discount rates and expected utilization. Our estimates for
the expected utilization of rebates are based on customer and payor data received from the United States specialty pharmacy. Rebates are generally invoiced
by the payor and paid in arrears, such that the accrual balance consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be incurred for the current quarter’s
shipments to patients, plus an accrual balance for known prior quarter’s unpaid rebates. If actual future rebates vary from estimates, we may need to adjust
our accruals, which would affect net revenue in the period of adjustment.

Chargebacks: Chargebacks are discounts that occur when contracted customers purchase directly from a specialty pharmacy. Contracted customers,
which currently consist primarily of Public Health Service institutions, non-profit clinics, and Federal government entities purchasing via the Federal Supply
Schedule, generally purchase the product at a discounted price. The United States specialty pharmacy, in turn, charges back to us the difference between the
price initially paid by the specialty pharmacy and the discounted price paid to the specialty pharmacy by the customer. The allowance for chargebacks is
based on sales to contracted customers.

Medicare Part D Coverage Gap: In the United States, the Medicare Part D prescription drug benefit mandates manufacturers to fund 50% of the
Medicare Part D insurance coverage gap for prescription drugs sold to eligible patients. Our estimates for expected Medicare Part D coverage gap are based in
part on third party market research data and on customer and payor data received from the United States specialty pharmacy. Funding of the coverage gap is
invoiced and paid in arrears so that the accrual balance consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be incurred for the current quarter's shipments to
patients, plus an accrual balance for prior sales. If actual future funding varies from estimates, we may need to adjust our accruals, which would affect net
revenue in the period of adjustment.

Co-payment Assistance: Patients who have commercial insurance and meet certain eligibility requirements may receive co-payment assistance. We
accrue a liability for co-payment assistance based on actual program participation and estimates of program redemption using customer data provided by our
United States specialty pharmacy.

Patient Assistance Program

We provide COMETRIQ at no cost to eligible patients who have no insurance and meet certain financial and clinical criteria through our Patient
Assistance Program (“PAP”). We record the cost of the product as a selling, general and administrative expense at the time the product is designated as PAP
inventory.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold is related to our product revenues and consists primarily a 3% royalty we are required to pay GlaxoSmithKline and indirect labor
costs. A significant portion of the manufacturing costs for current product sales were incurred prior to regulatory approval of COMETRIQ for the treatment of
progressive, metastatic MTC and, therefore, were expensed as research and development costs when incurred, rather than capitalized as inventory.
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In accordance with our 2002 collaboration agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, we are required to pay GlaxoSmithKline a 3% royalty on the Net Sales
of any product incorporating cabozantinib, including COMETRIQ. Net Sales is defined in the collaboration agreement generally as the gross invoiced sales
price less customer credits, rebates, chargebacks, shipping costs, customs duties, and sales tax and other similar tax payments we are required to make.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, Accounting Standards Codification Topic 220, Comprehensive Income was amended to require additional information about
amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income. We adopted this guidance beginning January 1, 2013, and will provide the additional
information when such reclassifications occur. The amendment did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2: RESTRUCTURINGS

Between March 2010 and May 2013, we implemented five restructurings (referred to collectively as the “Restructurings”) as a consequence of our
decision to focus our proprietary resources and development efforts on the development and commercialization of cabozantinib and strategy to manage costs.
The aggregate reduction in headcount from the Restructurings was 429 employees. Charges and credits related to the Restructurings were recorded in periods
other than those in which the Restructurings were implemented as a result of sublease activities for certain of our buildings in South San Francisco,
California, changes in assumptions regarding anticipated sublease activities, the effect of the passage of time on our discounted cash flow computations,
previously planned employee terminations, and sales of excess equipment and other assets.

We have recorded aggregate restructuring charges of $52.9 million in connection with the Restructurings, of which $28.9 million related to facility
charges, $21.7 million related to termination benefits, $2.2 million related to the impairment of excess equipment and other assets, and an additional minor
amount related to legal and other fees. Asset impairment charges, net were partially offset by cash proceeds of $2.6 million from the sale of such assets.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, we recorded restructuring charges of $0.9 million and $1.7 million, respectively, which
related primarily to termination benefits and facility charges in connection with the exit of portions of certain of our buildings in South San Francisco. Those
charges were partially offset by a $0.7 million credit resulting from a new sublease entered into during the three months ended September 30, 2013.

The total outstanding restructuring liability related to the Restructurings is included in current and long-term portion of restructuring on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The components and changes of these liabilities during the annual periods from inception of the restructuring activities through
the year ended December 31, 2012 and during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 are summarized in the following table (in thousands):

Employee
Severance Facility Asset Legal and
and Other Benefits Charges Impairment Other Fees Total
Restructuring liability as of December 31, 2011 $ 6 $ 13,921  $ — 3 51 $ 13,978
Restructuring charge (credit) 970 8,276 47) (28) 9,171
Cash payments (965) (5,299) — 3) (6,267)
Adjustments or non-cash credits including
stock compensation expense (11 2,304 (891) — 1,402
Proceeds from sale of assets — — 938 — 938
Restructuring liability as of December 31, 2012 — 19,202 — 20 19,222
Restructuring charge (credit) 496 359 25 (15) 865
Cash payments (424) (5,608) — — (6,032)
Adjustments or non-cash credits including
stock compensation expense (55) (73) (25) — (153)
Restructuring liability as of
September 30, 2013 $ 17 3 13,880 $ — 3 5 % 13,902
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We expect to pay accrued facility charges of $13.9 million, net of cash received from our subtenants, through 2017, or the end of our lease terms of
the buildings. With respect to our Restructurings, we expect to incur additional restructuring charges of approximately $1.8 million which relate to the exit, in
prior periods, of certain of our South San Francisco buildings. These charges will be recorded through the end of the building lease terms, the last of which
ends in 2017.

The Restructurings have resulted in aggregate cash expenditures of $34.8 million, net of $9.1 million in cash received from subtenants and $2.6
million in cash received in connection with the sale of excess equipment and other assets. Net cash expenditures for the Restructurings were $2.1 million and
$2.2 million during the three months ended September 30, 2013, and 2012, respectively and $6.0 million and $4.5 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The restructuring charges that we expect to incur in connection with the Restructurings are subject to a number of assumptions, and actual results
may materially differ. We may also incur other material charges not currently contemplated due to events that may occur as a result of, or associated with, the
Restructurings.

NOTE 3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The following table summarizes cash and cash equivalents, investments, and restricted cash and investments by balance sheet line item as of
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

September 30, 2013

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
As reported:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 92,016 $ — % — 92,016
Short-term investments 187,086 141 (24) 187,203
Short-term restricted cash and investments 12,172 39 — 12,211
Long-term investments 157,437 63 (98) 157,402
Long-term restricted cash and investments 15,830 59 — 15,889
Total cash and investments $ 464,541 $ 302 % (122) $ 464,721
December 31, 2012
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
As reported:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 170,070 $ — % @ $ 170,069
Short-term investments 241,391 46 (66) 241,371
Short-term restricted cash and investments 12,242 4 — 12,246
Long-term investments 182,407 28 (124) 182,311
Long-term restricted cash and investments 27,943 21 — 27,964
Total cash and investments $ 634,053 $ 9 $ (191) $ 633,961

Under our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, we are required to maintain compensating balances on deposit in one or more
investment accounts with Silicon Valley Bank and certain other designated financial institutions. The total collateral balances as of September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 were $84.5 million and $87.0 million, respectively, and are reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets in short- and long-term
investments. See “Note 7 - Debt” to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2012, for more information regarding the collateral balance requirements under our Silicon Valley Bank loan and security agreement.
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All of our cash equivalents and investments are classified as available-for-sale. The following table summarizes our cash and cash equivalents and
investments by security type as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

September 30, 2013

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash and money market funds $ 62,645 $ — 3 — 62,645
Commercial paper 43,591 1 — 43,592
Corporate bonds 266,700 173 (122) 266,751
U.S. Treasury and government sponsored enterprises 83,323 119 — 83,442
Municipal bonds 8,282 9 — 8,291
Total cash and investments $ 464,541 $ 302 $ (122) s 464,721

December 31, 2012

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash and money market funds $ 81,744 $ 2 $ — 81,746
Commercial paper 167,223 8 — 167,231
Corporate bonds 222,106 30 (187) 221,949
U.S. Treasury and government sponsored enterprises 132,933 59 (@) 132,991
Municipal bonds 30,047 — 3) 30,044
Total cash and investments $ 634,053 $ 9 $ (191) $ 633,961

All of our investments are subject to a quarterly impairment review. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, we did
not record any other-than-temporary impairment charges on our available-for-sale securities. As of September 30, 2013, the fair value of investments that
were in an unrealized loss position was $106.8 million, including $105.8 million in corporate bonds. There were 53 investments in an unrealized loss position
as of September 30, 2013. All investments in an unrealized loss position have been so for less than one year and the unrealized losses were not attributed to
credit risk, but rather associated with the changes in interest rates. Based on the scheduled maturities of our investments, we concluded that the unrealized
losses in our investment securities are not other-than-temporary, as it is more likely than not that we will hold these investments for a period of time sufficient
for a recovery of our cost basis.

The following summarizes the fair value of securities classified as available-for-sale by contractual maturity as of September 30, 2013 (in
thousands):

Mature within One After One Year
Year through Two Years Fair Value
Money market funds $ 58,102 $ — % 58,102
Commercial paper 43,592 — 43,592
Corporate bonds 168,715 98,036 266,751
U.S. Treasury and government sponsored enterprises 71,279 12,163 83,442
Municipal bonds 2,212 6,079 8,291
Total $ 343,900 $ 116,278  $ 460,178

The classification of certain compensating balances and restricted investments are dependent upon the term of the underlying restriction on the asset
and not the maturity date of the investment. Therefore, certain long-term investments and long-term restricted cash and investments have contractual
maturities within one year.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, there were no sales of investments, and therefore there were no
reclassification adjustments of accumulated other comprehensive income to net income resulting from realized gains or losses on the sale of securities.
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NOTE 4. INVENTORY

Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2013 2012
Raw materials $ 301 $ —
Work in process 1,374 —
Finished goods 89 —
Total $ 1,764 $ —

We received regulatory approval for our first product, COMETRIQ, on November 29, 2012. As of December 31, 2012, our recorded inventory
balance was $0 as we did not incur any costs that would be recorded as inventory subsequent to the receipt of regulatory approval and prior to year end.

NOTE 5. DEBT

The amortized carrying amount of our debt consists of the following (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2013 2012

Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2019 $ 161,279 $ 149,800
Secured Convertible Notes due 2015 97,428 100,676
Silicon Valley Bank term loan 80,000 80,000
Silicon Valley Bank line of credit 2,884 5,260

Total debt 341,591 335,736
Less: current portion (12,127) (13,170)

Long-term debt $ 329,464 $ 322,566

See “Note 7 - Debt” to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012,
for additional information on the terms of our debt, including a description of the conversion features of the of 4.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2019 (the “2019 Notes”) and our Secured Convertible Notes due June 2015 (the “Deerfield Notes™).

Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2019

In August 2012, we issued and sold $287.5 million aggregate principal amount the 2019 Notes. As of September 30, 2013, the entire principal
balance remains outstanding. The following is a summary of the liability component of the 2019 Notes as of September 30, 2013 (in thousands):

September 30,
2013
Net carrying amount of the liability component $ 161,279
Unamortized discount of the liability component 126,221
Face amount of the 2019 Notes $ 287,500

The debt discount and debt issuance costs will be amortized as interest expense through August 2019. During the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2013, total interest expense for the 2019 Notes was $7.2 million, and $21.2 million, respectively, including stated coupon interest of $3.1
million and $9.2 million, respectively, and the amortization of the debt discount and debt issuance costs of $4.1 million and $12.0 million, respectively.
During both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, total interest expense for the 2019 Notes was $3.4 million including stated coupon interest
of $1.5 million and the amortization of the debt discount and debt issuance costs of $1.9 million. The balance of unamortized fees and costs was $4.1 million
and $4.7 million as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, which is recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as Other
assets.
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Secured Convertible Notes due June 2015

In June 2010, we entered into a note purchase agreement with entities affiliated with Deerfield Management Company, L.P. (“Deerfield”), pursuant
to which, on July 1, 2010, we sold to Deerfield an aggregate of $124.0 million initial principal amount of the Deerfield Notes. As of September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, the remaining outstanding principal balance on the Deerfield Notes was $114.0 million and $124.0 million, respectively. During the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2013, total interest expense for the Deerfield Notes was $4.1 million and $11.9 million, respectively, and during the
same periods in 2012, $4.1 million and $11.7 million, respectively, including the stated coupon rate and the amortization of the debt discount and debt
issuance costs. The non-cash expense relating to the amortization of the debt discount and debt issuance costs were $2.6 million and $7.4 million during the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, and $2.5 million and $7.2 million, during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2012, respectively. The balance of unamortized fees and costs was $1.6 million and $2.3 million as of September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively, which is recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as Other assets.

We also entered into a security agreement in favor of Deerfield, which provides that our obligations under the Deerfield Notes will be secured by
substantially all of our assets except intellectual property. On August 1, 2013, the parties amended the security agreement to limit the extent to which voting
equity interests in any of our foreign subsidiaries shall be secured assets.

NOTE 6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value of our financial instruments reflects the amounts that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit price). The fair value hierarchy has the following three levels:

Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 — observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. These inputs include using prices from
independent pricing services based on quoted prices in active markets for similar instruments or on industry models using data inputs, such as interest rates
and prices that can be directly observed or corroborated in active markets.

Level 3—unobservable inputs.

A review of the fair value hierarchy classification is conducted on a quarterly basis. Changes in the observability of valuation inputs may result in a
reclassification of levels for certain investments within the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers between any of the fair value hierarchies, as
determined at the end of each reporting period.

The following table sets forth the fair value of our financial assets that were measured and recorded on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2013
and December 31, 2012. We did not have any Level 3 investments during the periods presented. The amounts presented exclude cash, but include investments
classified as cash equivalents (in thousands):

September 30, 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Money market funds $ 58,102 $ — % 58,102
Commercial paper — 43,592 43,592
Corporate bonds — 266,751 266,751
U.S. Treasury and government sponsored enterprises — 83,442 83,442
Municipal bonds — 8,291 8,291
Total $ 58,102 $ 402,076  $ 460,178
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December 31, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Money market funds $ 76,050 $ — % 76,050
Commercial paper — 167,231 167,231
Corporate bonds — 221,949 221,949
U.S. Treasury and government sponsored enterprises — 132,991 132,991
Municipal bonds — 30,044 30,044
Total $ 76,050 $ 552,215 $ 628,265

The estimated fair values of our financial instruments that are carried at amortized cost for which it is practicable to determine a fair value were as

follows (in thousands):

September 30, 2013

December 31, 2012

Carrying Carrying

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
2019 Notes $ 161,279 $ 337,928 $ 149,800 $ 280,111
Silicon Valley Bank term loan $ 80,000 $ 79,884 $ 80,000 $ 79,542
Silicon Valley Bank Line of Credit $ 2,884 $ 2,884 $ 5260 $ 5,253

There is no practicable method to determine the fair value of the Deerfield Notes due to the unique structure of the instrument that was financed by
entities affiliated with Deerfield and the current non-liquid market in structured notes. The carrying amounts of cash, trade and other receivables, accounts

payable and accrued clinical trial liabilities approximate their fair values and are excluded from the tables above.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument for which it is practicable to

estimate a value:

*  When available, we value investments based on quoted prices for those financial instruments, which is a Level 1 input. Our remaining investments
are valued using third-party pricing sources, which use observable market prices, interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted

intervals of similar assets as observable inputs for pricing, which is a Level 2 input.

*  The 2019 Notes are valued using a third-party pricing model that is based in part on average trading prices, which is a Level 2 input. The 2019 Notes
are not marked-to-market and are shown at their initial fair value less the unamortized discount; the portion of the value allocated to the conversion

option is included in Stockholders’ equity in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

*  We have estimated the fair value of our other debt instruments, where possible, using the net present value of the payments discounted at an interest
rate that is consistent with money-market rates that would have been earned on our non-interest-bearing compensating balances, which is a Level 2

input.

NOTE 7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

We recorded and allocated employee stock-based compensation expenses for our equity incentive plans and our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

(“ESPP”) as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
Research and development expense $ 1,415 $ 970 $ 4326 $ 3,202
Selling, general and administrative expense 1,478 923 4,115 2,970
Restructuring-related stock-based compensation expense — — 49 —
Total employee stock-based compensation expense $ 2,893 $ 1,893 $ 8,490 $ 6,172

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value our stock options. The expected life computation is based on historical exercise patterns and

post-vesting termination behavior. We considered implied volatility as well as our historical
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volatility in developing our estimate of expected volatility. The fair value of employee stock option awards and ESPP purchases was estimated using the

following assumptions and weighted average fair values:

Weighted average grant-date fair value

Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Volatility

Expected life

Weighted average grant-date fair value

Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Volatility

Expected life

Stock Options

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
2.99 $ 3.31 2.92 $ 3.27
1.57% 0.81% 1.47% 0.82%
—% —% —% —%
60% 69% 60% 69%
5.6 years 5.6 years 5.6 years 5.7 years

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
1.74 $ 1.63 1.66 $ 2.13
0.08% 0.15% 0.12% 0.10%
—% —% —% —%
67% 68% 67% 68%
0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 years

Of the stock options outstanding as of September 30, 2013, 3,720,752 were granted subject to performance objectives tied to the achievement of
clinical goals set by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors and will vest in full or part based on achievement of such goals. As of
September 30, 2013, we expect that achievement of some of those performance objectives is probable and have, therefore, included stock-based
compensation for such awards. We have not included any stock-based compensation expense for stock options with performance objectives where the

performance goals cannot be reasonably assured of achievement.

A summary of all stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 is presented below (dollars in thousands, except per share

amounts):

Options outstanding at December 31, 2012

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

Options outstanding at September 30, 2013

Exercisable at September 30, 2013

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Term (Years) Value
18,448,550 $ 6.85
5,778,323 $ 5.38
4,473) $ 4.42
(712,885) $ 6.42
23,509,515 $ 6.50 471 $ 5,709
13,803,103 $ 7.23 351 $ 2,376

As of September 30, 2013, $24.4 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to employee stock options was expected to be

recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.92 years.
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A summary of all restricted stock unit (“RSU”) activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 is presented below (dollars in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Grant Date Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Fair Value Term (Years) Value
Awards outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,294,621  $ 6.07
Awarded 1,058,668 $ 5.44
Released (230,059) $ 7.34
Forfeited (72,132)  $ 5.48
Awards outstanding at September 30, 2013 2,051,098 $ 5.62 1.98 $ 11,855

As of September 30, 2013, $8.0 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to employee RSUs was expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 3.33 years.

NOTE 8. INCOME TAXES

At December 31, 2012, we had federal net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $1,007 million which expire in the years 2018 through
2032. We also had net operating loss carry-forwards for California of approximately $880 million, which expire in the years 2013 through 2032, and
California tax credits of approximately $26 million.

During the three months ended September 30, 2013, Exelixis Bermuda acquired the existing and future intellectual property rights to exploit
cabozantinib in jurisdictions outside of the United States. The transfer of the existing rights created a taxable gain in the U.S. and state jurisdictions. For tax
purposes, that gain is primarily offset by current fiscal year losses and the remainder through the utilization of an insignificant amount of net operating loss
carry-forwards for which there is a corresponding reduction to our valuation allowance.

NOTE 9. NET LOSS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net loss $ (67,124) $ (32,814) % (174,014) $ (95,452)
Denominator:
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share 184,149 166,354 183,957 152,316
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.36) $ 0.200 $ (0.95) $ (0.63)

The following table sets forth outstanding potential shares of common stock that are not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share
because, to do so would be anti-dilutive (in thousands):

September 30
2013 2012
Convertible debt 54,123 54,123
Outstanding stock options, unvested RSUs and ESPP contributions 25,694 15,839
Warrants 1,441 1,441
Total potentially dilutive shares 81,258 71,403
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NOTE 10. CONTINGENCIES
Pending Litigation

From time to time, we are party to legal proceedings, claims and investigations in the ordinary course of business, including the matter described
below.

In December 2012, a former officer filed a lawsuit against us and our chief executive officer in California state court seeking unspecified monetary
damages based on contract and tort claims in connection with the former officer’s execution and revocation of a Rule 10b5-1 stock trading plan in December
2010. This matter was settled for an immaterial amount during the three months ended September 30, 2013.

NOTE 11. CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk are primarily trade and other receivables and investments.
Investments consist of money market funds, taxable commercial paper, corporate bonds with high credit quality, U.S. government agency obligations and
U.S. government sponsored enterprises. All investments are maintained with financial institutions that management believes are creditworthy.

Trade and other receivables are unsecured and are concentrated in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. Accordingly, we may be exposed
to credit risk generally associated with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. We have incurred no bad debt expense since inception. As of
September 30, 2013, 55% of our trade receivables are with the specialty pharmacy that sells COMETRIQ in the United States and 14% are with our European
distribution partner. Both of these customers pay promptly and within their respective payment terms.

We have operations primarily in the United States, while some of our collaboration partners have headquarters outside of the United States and
certain of our clinical trials for cabozantinib are conducted outside of the United States. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, 100%
of our revenues were earned in the United States. During the 2013, we initiated a Named Patient Use (“NPU”) program through our distribution partner,
Swedish Orphan Biovitrum, to support the distribution and commercialization of COMETRIQ for metastatic MTC primarily in the European Union and
potentially other countries. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, 87% and 96%, respectively, of our revenues were earned in the
United States; the remainder of our revenues were earned in the European Union under this NPU program. All of our long-lived assets are located in the
United States.

The following table sets forth the percentage of revenues recognized under our collaboration agreements and product sales to the specialty pharmacy
that represent 10% or more of total revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012:

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2013 2012
Collaborator:
Bristol-Myers Squibb 60% 59%
Merck —% 27%
Daiichi Sankyo —% 14%
Pharmacy:
Diplomat Specialty Pharmacy 36% —%
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements. These statements are based on Exelixis, Inc.’s (“Exelixis,” “we,” “our”
or “us”) current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about our business and our industry, and involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause our or our industry's results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any
future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied in, or contemplated by, the forward-looking statements. Words such as
“believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “planned,” “focus,” “objective,” “will,” “may,” “could,” “would,” “estimate,” “potential,” “continue,”
“encouraging,” or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Our actual results and the timing of events
may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include those discussed in
Part II, Item 1A of this Form 10-Q, as well as those discussed elsewhere in this report.

» o« » « » «

This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and accompanying notes included in this report and the
financial statements and accompanying notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on February 21, 2013. Operating results are not necessarily indicative of results that may occur in future
periods. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events after the date of this report.

Overview

We are a biotechnology company committed to developing small molecule therapies for the treatment of cancer. We are focusing our proprietary
resources and development and commercialization efforts exclusively on COMETRIQ® (cabozantinib), our wholly-owned inhibitor of multiple receptor
tyrosine kinases. On November 29, 2012, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, approved COMETRIQ for the treatment of progressive,
metastatic medullary thyroid cancer, or MTC, in the United States, where it became commercially available in late January 2013. We have also submitted a
Marketing Authorization Application, or MAA, for cabozantinib for the proposed indication of progressive, unresectable, locally advanced, or metastatic
MTC to the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, that was accepted for review in November 2012. Cabozantinib is being evaluated in a variety of other
cancer indications through a broad development program, including two ongoing phase 3 pivotal trials in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer, or
CRPC, an ongoing phase 3 pivotal trial in metastatic renal cell cancer, or RCC, and an ongoing phase 3 pivotal trial in advanced hepatocellular cancer, or
HCC. We believe COMETRIQ has the potential to be a high-quality, broadly-active and differentiated anti-cancer agent that can make a meaningful
difference in the lives of patients. Our objective is to develop COMETRIQ into a major oncology franchise, and we believe that the approval of COMETRIQ
for the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC provides us with the opportunity to establish a commercial presence in furtherance of this objective. We
currently expect top-line data from our two phase 3 pivotal trials of cabozantinib in CRPC and the overall survival analysis of EXAM, our phase 3 pivotal
trial of cabozantinib in progressive, metastatic MTC, in 2014.

We have also established a portfolio of other novel compounds that we believe have the potential to address serious unmet medical needs. Many of
these compounds are being developed by partners as part of collaborations, at no cost to us but with significant retained economics to us in the event these
compounds are commercialized. As disclosed on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT01689519), a phase 3 clinical trial for one of these compounds, cobimetinib (GDC-
0973/XL518), which we out-licensed to Genentech, Inc. (a wholly- owned member of the Roche Group), or Genentech, was initiated on November 1, 2012.
Roche and Genentech have provided guidance that they expect top-line data from this trial in 2014.

Our Strategy

We believe that the available clinical data demonstrate that COMETRIQ has the potential to be a broadly active anti-cancer agent, and our objective
is to build COMETRIQ into a major oncology franchise. The initial regulatory approval of COMETRIQ to treat progressive, metastatic MTC provides a
niche market opportunity that allows us to gain commercialization experience at relatively low cost while providing a solid foundation for potential expansion
into larger cancer indications.

We intend to advance cabozantinib through an extensive development program investigating its activity in multiple cancer indications including, but
not limited to, prostate, renal, hepatocellular and non-small-cell-lung cancers. We intend to focus our internal efforts on cancers for which we believe
cabozantinib has significant therapeutic and commercial potential in the near term, while utilizing our Cooperative Research and Development Agreement, or
CRADA, with the National Cancer Institute’s Cancer Therapy Evaluation Program, or NCI-CTEP, and investigator sponsored trials, or ISTs, to generate
additional data to allow us to prioritize future late stage trials in a cost-effective fashion. We believe that this staged approach to building value represents the
most rational and effective use of our personnel and financial resources.

Collaborations

We have established collaborations with leading pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, or Bristol-
Myers Squibb, Sanofi, Genentech, GlaxoSmithKline, Merck (known as MSD outside of the United States and Canada) and Daiichi Sankyo Company
Limited, or Daiichi Sankyo, for various compounds and programs in our portfolio. Pursuant to these collaborations, we have out-licensed compounds or
programs to a partner for further development and commercialization, have no further development cost obligations related to such compounds or programs
and may be entitled to receive milestones and royalties or a share of profits from commercialization. As disclosed on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT01689519), a
phase 3 clinical trial for one of these compounds, cobimetinib (GDC-0973/XL518), which we out-licensed to Genentech, was initiated on November 1, 2012.
In addition, several other out-licensed compounds are in multiple phase 2 studies. These partnered compounds could potentially be of significant value to us if
their development progresses successfully.

With respect to our partnered compounds, we are eligible to receive potential milestone payments under our collaborations totaling approximately
$2.4 billion in the aggregate on a non-risk adjusted basis, of which 10% are related to clinical development milestones, 41% are related to regulatory
milestones and 49% are related to commercial milestones.

Business Highlights for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 and Recent Developments

Achievement of Full Patient Enrollment Target for COMET-1

In September 2013, COMET-1 (CabOzantinib MET Inhibition CRPC Efficacy Trial-1), our phase 3 pivotal trial of cabozantinib in patients with
metastatic CRPC, with the primary endpoint of overall survival, reached its enrollment target of 960 patients. We currently expect top-line data from



COMET-1 and COMET-2, our other phase 3 pivotal trial in metastatic CRPC, in 2014.

Initiation of Phase 3 Pivotal Trial of Cabozantinib in Patients with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma

In September 2013, we initiated CELESTIAL (Cabozantinib Phase 3 Controlled Study In Hepatocellular Carcinoma), a phase 3 pivotal trial
comparing cabozantinib with placebo in patients with advanced HCC who have previously been treated with sorafenib. Patients will be randomized 2:1 to
receive 60 mg of cabozantinib daily or placebo. The primary endpoint for CELESTIAL is overall survival, and the secondary endpoints include objective
response rate and progression-free survival.

Updated Phase 1b Data for Cobimetinib (GDC-0973/XL518) in Combination with Vemurafenib Presented at the European Cancer Congress 2013

In September 2013, data from an ongoing phase 1b clinical trial, conducted by Roche and Genentech, of vemurafenib in combination with
cobimetinib (GDC-0973/XL518) in patients with locally advanced/unresectable or metastatic melanoma carrying a BRAFV6% mutation was presented at the
European Cancer Congress 2013. The data presented suggest that the preliminary safety profile and activity of the investigational combination of cobimetinib
(GDC-0973/X1L518) and vemurafenib are encouraging in BRAF inhibitor-naive patients. Although the phase 1b dose escalation study was designed to
evaluate the safety and tolerability of cobimetinib (GDC-0973/XL518) in combination with vemurafenib, objective responses (comprising complete or partial
responses) were observed in 85% of the patients who had not been previously treated with a BRAF inhibitor.
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Certain Factors Important to Understanding Our Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Successful development of drugs is inherently difficult and uncertain. Our business requires significant investments in research and development
over many years, and products often fail during the research and development process. Our long-term prospects depend upon our ability, and the abilities of
our partners to successfully commercialize new therapeutics in highly competitive areas such as cancer treatment. Our financial performance is driven by
many factors, including those described below.

Limited Sources of Revenues

COMETRIQ was approved by the FDA for the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC in the United States on November 29, 2012. We
commercially launched COMETRIQ in late January 2013. We currently estimate that there are between 500 and 700 first- and second-line metastatic MTC
patients diagnosed each year in the United States who will be eligible for COMETRIQ, and as a result we only expect to generate limited revenues from the
sale of COMETRIQ in MTC. Prior to the approval of COMETRIQ, we had no pharmaceutical product that had received marketing approval, and from the
commercial launch through September 30, 2013, we generated $10.7 million in net revenues from the sale of COMETRIQ. We have derived substantially all
of our revenues to date from collaborative research and development agreements. Revenues from research and development collaborations depend on
research funding, the achievement of milestones, and royalties we earn from any future products developed from the collaborative research. We do not
anticipate any further revenues from our collaborative research and development agreements for the remainder of 2013. Effective October 29, 2013, the
wholesale acquisition price for COMETRIQ is $10,395 for a 28-day supply of all dosage strengths.

Clinical Development of Cabozantinib

We have focused our proprietary resources and development efforts on the development of cabozantinib. However, the product candidate may fail to
show adequate safety or efficacy in clinical testing. Furthermore, predicting the timing of the initiation or completion of clinical trials is difficult, and our
trials may be delayed due to many factors, including factors outside of our control. The future development path of cabozantinib depends upon the results of
each stage of clinical development. We expect to incur increased expenses for the development of cabozantinib as it advances in clinical development.

Liquidity

As of September 30, 2013, we had $464.7 million in cash and investments, which included short- and long-term restricted cash and investments of
$12.2 million and $15.9 million, respectively, and short- and long-term unrestricted investments of $187.2 million and $157.4 million, respectively. We are
required to maintain on deposit with Silicon Valley Bank or one of its affiliates short- and long-term unrestricted investments of $2.2 million and $82.4
million, respectively, pursuant to covenants in our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank. We anticipate that our current cash and cash
equivalents, short- and long-term investments and product revenues will enable us to maintain our operations for a period of at least 12 months following the
end of the third quarter of 2013. However, our future capital requirements will be substantial, and we may need to raise additional capital in the future. Our
capital requirements will depend on many factors, and we may need to use available capital resources and raise additional capital significantly earlier than we
currently anticipate.

Our minimum liquidity needs are also determined by financial covenants in our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank as well as
other factors, which are described under “- Liquidity and Capital Resources — Cash Requirements.”

Our ability to raise additional funds may be severely impaired if cabozantinib fails to show adequate safety or efficacy in clinical testing.

Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes

On August 14, 2012, we issued and sold $287.5 million aggregate principal amount of the 4.25% convertible senior subordinated notes due 2019, or
the 2019 Notes, for net proceeds of $277.7 million. The 2019 Notes mature on August 15, 2019, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased, and bear
interest at a rate of 4.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning February 15, 2013. Subject to
certain terms and conditions, at any time on or after August 15, 2016, we may redeem for cash all or a portion of the 2019 Notes. The redemption price will
equal 100% of the principal amount of the 2019 Notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. Upon
the occurrence of certain circumstances, holders may convert their 2019 Notes prior to
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the close of business on the business day immediately preceding May 15, 2019. On or after May 15, 2019, until the close of business on the second trading
day immediately preceding August 15, 2019, holders may surrender their 2019 Notes for conversion at any time. Upon conversion, we will pay or deliver, as
the case may be, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election. The initial conversion rate of
188.2353 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the 2019 Notes is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately $5.31 per share of
common stock and is subject to adjustment in connection with certain events. If a “Fundamental Change” (as defined in the indenture governing the 2019
Notes) occurs, holders of the 2019 Notes may require us to purchase for cash all or any portion of their 2019 Notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Notes to be purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the Fundamental Change purchase date. In addition,
if certain bankruptcy and insolvency-related events of defaults occur, the principal of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, all of the then outstanding notes
shall automatically become due and payable. If an event of default other than certain bankruptcy and insolvency-related events of defaults occurs and is
continuing, the Trustee by notice to us or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding 2019 Notes by notice to us and the Trustee, may
declare the principal of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, all of the then outstanding 2019 Notes to be due and payable.

In connection with the offering of the 2019 Notes, $36.5 million of the proceeds were deposited into an escrow account which contains an amount of
permitted securities sufficient to fund, when due, the total aggregate amount of the first six scheduled semi-annual interest payments on the 2019 Notes. As of
September 30, 2013, we have used $12.2 million of the amounts held in the escrow account to pay the required semi-annual interest payments. The short- and
long-term amounts held in the escrow account as of September 30, 2013 were $12.2 million and $12.2 million, respectively, and are included in short- and
long-term restricted cash and investments. We have pledged our interest in the escrow account to the Trustee as security for our obligations under the 2019
Notes.

Deerfield Facility

On June 2, 2010, we entered into a note purchase agreement with entities affiliated with Deerfield Management Company, L.P., or Deerfield,
pursuant to which, on July 1, 2010, we sold to Deerfield an aggregate of $124.0 million initial principal amount of our secured convertible notes due June
2015, or the Deerfield Notes, for an aggregate purchase price of $80.0 million, less closing fees and expenses of approximately $2.0 million. On August 6,
2012, the parties amended the note purchase agreement to permit the issuance of the 2019 Notes and modify certain optional prepayment rights. The
amendment became effective upon the issuance of the 2019 Notes and the payment to Deerfield of a $1.5 million consent fee. On August 1, 2013, the parties
further amended the note purchase agreement to clarify certain of our other rights under the agreement. The outstanding principal amount of the Deerfield
Notes bears interest in the annual amount of $6.0 million, payable quarterly in arrears. In January 2013, we made a mandatory prepayment of $10.0 million
on the Deerfield Notes. We will be required to make additional mandatory prepayments on the Deerfield Notes on an annual basis in 2014 and 2015 equal to
15% of specified payments from our collaborative arrangements (other than intercompany arrangements) received during the prior fiscal year, subject to a
maximum annual prepayment amount of $27.5 million. There is a required minimum prepayment amount of $10.0 million due in January 2014. There is no
minimum prepayment due in 2015. We may also prepay all or a portion (not less than $5.0 million) of the principal amount of the Deerfield Notes at an
optional prepayment price based on a discounted principal amount (during the first three years of the term, subject to a prepayment premium) determined as
of the date of prepayment, plus accrued and unpaid interest, plus in the case of a prepayment of the full principal amount of the Deerfield Notes (other than
prepayments upon the occurrence of specified transactions relating to a change of control or a substantial sale of assets), all accrued interest that would have
accrued between the date of such prepayment and the next anniversary of the note purchase agreement. In lieu of making any optional or mandatory
prepayment in cash, subject to certain limitations (including a cap on the number of shares issuable under the note purchase agreement), we have the right to
convert all or a portion of the principal amount of the Deerfield Notes into, or satisfy all or any portion of the optional prepayment amounts or mandatory
prepayment amounts (other than the $10.0 million mandatory prepayment required in January 2014) with shares of our common stock. Additionally, in lieu of
making any payment of accrued and unpaid interest in respect of the Deerfield Notes in cash, subject to certain limitations, we may elect to satisfy any such
payment with shares of our common stock. The number of shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion or in settlement of principal and interest
obligations will be based upon the discounted trading price of our common stock over a specified trading period. Upon certain changes of control of our
company, a sale or transfer of assets in one transaction or a series of related transactions for a purchase price of more than $400 million or a sale or transfer of
more than 50% of our assets, Deerfield may require us to prepay the notes at the optional prepayment price, plus accrued and unpaid interest and any other
accrued and reimbursable expenses, or the Put Price. Upon an event of default, Deerfield may declare all or a portion of the Put Price to be immediately due
and payable.

We also entered into a security agreement in favor of Deerfield, which provides that our obligations under the Deerfield Notes will be secured by
substantially all of our assets except intellectual property. On August 1, 2013, the parties
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amended the security agreement to limit the extent to which voting equity interests in any of our foreign subsidiaries shall be secured assets.

The note purchase agreement and the security agreement include customary representations and warranties and covenants made by us, including
restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness.

Loan Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank

On May 22, 2002, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank for an equipment line of credit. On December 21, 2004,
December 21, 2006 and December 21, 2007, we amended the loan and security agreement to provide for additional equipment lines of credit and on June 2,
2010, we further amended the loan and security agreement to provide for a new seven-year term loan in the amount of $80.0 million. As of September 30,
2013, the combined outstanding principal balance due under the lines of credit and term loan was $82.9 million, compared to $85.3 million as of
December 31, 2012. The principal amount outstanding under the term loan accrues interest at 1.0% per annum, which interest is due and payable monthly. We
are required to repay the term loan in one balloon principal payment, representing 100% of the principal balance and accrued and unpaid interest, on May 31,
2017. We are required to repay any advances under an equipment line of credit in 48 equal monthly payments of principal and interest. We have the option to
prepay all, but not less than all, of the amounts advanced under the term loan, provided that we pay all unpaid accrued interest thereon that is due through the
date of such prepayment and the interest on the entire principal balance of the term loan that would otherwise have been paid after such prepayment date until
the maturity date of the term loan. We have the option to prepay without penalty any advance under an equipment line of credit other than advances under a
single equipment line of credit, which has a 1.0% prepayment penalty, provided that we pay all unpaid accrued interest thereon that is due through the date of
such prepayment. In accordance with the terms of the loan and security agreement, we are required to maintain an amount equal to at least 100%, but not to
exceed 107%, of the outstanding principal balance of the term loan and all equipment lines of credit under the loan and security agreement on deposit in one
or more investment accounts with Silicon Valley Bank or one of its affiliates as support for our obligations under the loan and security agreement (although
we are entitled to retain income earned or the amounts maintained in such accounts). Any amounts outstanding under the term loan during the continuance of
an event of default under the loan and security agreement will, at the election of Silicon Valley Bank, bear interest at a per annum rate equal to 6.0%. If one or
more events of default under the loan and security agreement occurs and continues beyond any applicable cure period, Silicon Valley Bank may declare all or
part of the obligations under the loan and security agreement to be immediately due and payable and stop advancing money or extending credit to us under
the loan and security agreement.

Restructurings

Between March 2010 and May 2013, we implemented five restructurings, which we refer to collectively as the Restructurings, as a consequence of
our decision to focus our proprietary resources and development efforts on the development and commercialization of cabozantinib and strategy to manage
costs. The aggregate reduction in headcount from the Restructurings was 429 employees. Charges and credits related to the Restructurings were recorded in
periods other than those in which the Restructurings were implemented as a result of sublease activities for our buildings in South San Francisco, California,
changes in assumptions regarding anticipated sublease activities, the effect of the passage of time on our discounted cash flow computations, previously
planned employee terminations, and sales of excess equipment and other assets.

We have recorded aggregate restructuring charges of $52.9 million in connection with the Restructurings, of which $28.9 million related to facility
charges, $21.7 million related to termination benefits, $2.2 million related to the impairment of excess equipment and other assets, and an additional minor
amount related to legal and other fees. Asset impairment charges, net were partially offset by cash proceeds of $2.6 million from the sale of such assets.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, we recorded restructuring charges of $0.9 million and $1.7 million, respectively, which
related primarily to termination benefits and facility charges in connection with the exit of portions of certain of our buildings in South San Francisco. Those
charges were partially offset by a $0.7 million credit resulting from a new sublease entered into during the three months ended September 30, 2013.

We expect to pay accrued facility charges of $13.9 million, net of cash received from our subtenants, through 2017, or the end of our lease terms of
the buildings. With respect to our Restructurings, we expect to incur additional restructuring charges of approximately $1.8 million which relate to the exit, in
prior periods, of certain of our South San Francisco buildings. These charges will be recorded through the end of the building lease terms, the last of which
ends in 2017.

The Restructurings have resulted in aggregate cash expenditures of $34.8 million, net of $9.1 million in cash received from subtenants and $2.6
million in cash received in connection with the sale of excess equipment and other assets. Net cash
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expenditures for the Restructurings were $2.1 million and $2.2 million during the three months ended September 30, 2013, and 2012, respectively and $6.0
million and $4.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

The restructuring charges that we expect to incur in connection with the Restructurings are subject to a number of assumptions, and actual results
may materially differ. We may also incur other material charges not currently contemplated due to events that may occur as a result of, or associated with, the
Restructurings.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements is in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States which
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures.
On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates including, but not limited to, those related to inventory, revenue recognition, cost of goods sold,
valuation of long-lived assets, certain accrued liabilities including clinical trial accruals and restructuring liability, share-based compensation and the
valuation of the debt and equity components of our convertible debt at issuance. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other market-
specific and other relevant assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our senior management has discussed the development,
selection and disclosure of these estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

An accounting policy is considered to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably could have been used, or changes in the accounting estimates that are
reasonably likely to occur periodically, could materially impact the financial statements. We believe our critical accounting policies relating to inventory,
revenue recognition, cost of goods sold, clinical trial accruals, restructuring liability, share based compensation and convertible debt valuation reflect the more
significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Other than the addition of inventory, revenue recognition on product sales, and cost of goods sold, there have been no significant changes in our
critical accounting policies and estimates during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to the critical accounting policies and estimates
disclosed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2012.

Inventory

We consider regulatory approval of product candidates to be uncertain and product manufactured prior to regulatory approval may not be sold unless
regulatory approval is obtained. As such, the manufacturing costs for product candidates incurred prior to regulatory approval are not capitalized as inventory,
but rather are expensed as research and development costs. When regulatory approval is obtained, capitalization of inventory may begin. On November 29,
2012, the FDA approved our first product, COMETRIQ, for the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC in the United States, where it became commercially
available in late January 2013.

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We determine the cost of inventory using the standard-cost method, which
approximates actual cost based on a first-in, first-out method. We analyze our inventory levels quarterly and write down inventory that has become obsolete,
or has a cost basis in excess of its expected net realizable value and inventory quantities in excess of expected requirements. Expired inventory is disposed of
and the related costs are recognized as cost of goods sold in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Revenue Recognition on Product Sales

We recognize revenue when it is both realized or realizable and earned, meaning persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, title has transferred, the price is fixed or determinable, there are no remaining customer acceptance requirements, and collectability of the resulting
receivable is reasonably assured. For product sales in the United States, this generally occurs upon shipment of the product to the patient. For product sales in
Europe, this occurs when our European distribution partner has accepted the product.

We sell our product, COMETRIQ, in the United States to a specialty pharmacy that benefits from customer incentives and has a right of return. We
have a limited sales history and cannot reliably estimate expected returns of the product nor the discounts and rebates due to payors at the time of shipment to
the specialty pharmacy. Accordingly, upon shipment to the specialty pharmacy, we record deferred revenue on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We
recognize revenue when the specialty pharmacy provides the product to a patient based on the fulfillment of a prescription. We record revenue using an
analysis of
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prescription data from our specialty pharmacy to ascertain the date of shipment and the payor mix. This approach is frequently referred to as the “sell-
through” revenue recognition model. Once the prescription has been provided to the patient, it is not subject to return unless the product is damaged.

Product sales to our European distribution partner are not subject to customer incentives, rights of return or discounts and allowances. We record
revenue at the time our European distribution partner has accepted the product, a method also known as the “sell-in” revenue recognition model.

We calculate gross product revenues based on the price that we charge our United States specialty pharmacy and our European distribution partner,
Sobi. We estimate our United States net product revenues by deducting from our gross product revenues (a) trade allowances, such as discounts for prompt
payment, (b) estimated government rebates and chargebacks, and (c) estimated costs of patient assistance programs. We initially record estimates for these
deductions at the time we recognize the gross revenue. We update our estimates on a recurring basis as new information becomes available. These discounts
and allowances apply only to gross product revenues earned in the United States.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold is related to our product revenues and consists primarily of indirect labor costs, a 3% royalty we are required to pay
GlaxoSmithKline in connection with sales of COMETRIQ and direct logistics costs. A significant portion of the manufacturing costs for current product sales
were incurred prior to regulatory approval of COMETRIQ for the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC and, therefore, are expensed as research and
development costs as incurred, rather than capitalized as inventory.

In accordance with our 2002 collaboration agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, we are required to pay GlaxoSmithKline a 3% royalty on the Net Sales
of any product incorporating cabozantinib, including COMETRIQ. Net Sales is defined in the collaboration agreement generally as the gross invoiced sales
price less customer credits, rebates, chargebacks, shipping costs, customs duties, and sales tax and other similar tax payments we are required to make.

Exelixis International (Bermuda) Ltd.

In September 2013, Exelixis engaged in intercompany transactions whereby Exelixis Bermuda acquired the existing and future intellectual property
rights to exploit cabozantinib in jurisdictions outside of the United States.

Fiscal Year Convention

Exelixis adopted a 52- or 53-week fiscal year that generally ends on the Friday closest to December 31%. Fiscal year 2012, a 52-week year, ended on
December 28, 2012, and fiscal year 2013, a 52-week year, will end on December 27, 2013. For convenience, references in this report as of and for the fiscal
quarters ended September 28, 2012 and September 27, 2013, and as of the fiscal year ended December 28, 2012, are indicated as ended September 30, 2012,
September 30, 2013, and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Results of Operations
Revenues

Total revenues by category were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012

License revenues (1) $ 358 $ 4,012 $ 8,380 $ 22,702
Contract revenues (2) 337 9,301 7,941 16,934
Net product revenues 4,771 — 10,670 —

Total revenues $ 5,466 $ 13,313 $ 26,991 $ 39,636
Dollar change $ (7,847) $ (12,645)
Percentage change (59)% (32)%

(1) Includes amortization of upfront payments.
(2) Includes milestone payments.
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Total revenues by collaboration partner or customer were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012

Bristol-Myers Squibb 695 $ 7,813 $ 16,321 $ 23,439
Diplomat Specialty Pharmacy 4,034 — 9,657 —
Swedish Orphan Biovitrum 737 — 1,013 —
Merck — — — 10,667
Daiichi Sankyo — 5,500 — 5,500
Other — — — 30

Total revenues $ 5,466 $ 13,313 $ 26,991 $ 39,636
Dollar change $ (7,847) $ (12,645)
Percentage change (59)% (32)%

Revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 included net product revenues of $4.8 million and $10.7 million, respectively,
from the sale of COMETRIQ, which became commercially available in late January 2013. The decrease in total revenues during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2013 was due to a decrease in contract and license revenues relating to the depletion of deferred revenues from Bristol-Myers Squibb
and a $5.5 million milestone payment received from Daiichi Sankyo in August 2012. The decrease in total revenues during the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 was also due to $10.7 million in license revenue recognized in 2012 resulting from the completion of the technology transfer under our
December 2011 license agreement with Merck for our PI3K-delta program.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold consists primarily of a 3% royalty we are required to pay GlaxoSmithKline in connection with sales of COMETRIQ and indirect
labor costs. We began capitalizing COMETRIQ inventory following the regulatory approval for COMETRIQ on November 29, 2012. The cost of product
manufactured prior to regulatory approval was expensed as research and development costs as incurred. Cost of goods sold was $0.3 million and $0.9 million
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively. The cost of goods sold and product gross margins we have experienced in this early
stage of our product launch may not be representative of what we may experience going forward.

Research and Development Expenses

Total research and development expenses were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Research and development expenses $ 47,354  $ 30,680 $ 129,166  $ 96,386
Dollar change $ 16,674 $ 32,780
Percentage change 54% 34%

Research and development expenses consist primarily of clinical trial expenses, personnel expenses, allocation of general corporate costs, consulting
and outside services, stock-based compensation and expenses for temporary employees.

The increases for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to prior year periods were predominantly driven by increases in
clinical trial costs, which include services performed by third-party contract research organizations and other vendors. Those increases in clinical trial costs
were $13.9 million, or 101%, for the three months ended September 30, 2013, and $30.4 million, or 71%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. The
increases in clinical trial costs were primarily related to clinical trial activities for COMET-1, our phase 3 pivotal trial with the primary endpoint of overall
survival in metastatic CRPC, as well as costs incurred in connection with the start-up of our phase 3 pivotal trials for metastatic RCC and advanced HCC. The
increases in costs for those trials were partially offset by lower clinical trial costs related to the continued wind down of our phase 2 randomized
discontinuation trial.

There were additional increases in research and development expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, related to
personnel, consulting and outside services, and stock-based compensation. Personnel increased primarily due to hiring undertaken as a result of increased
clinical trial activities as well as wage increases. Consulting and
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outside services increased primarily as a result of the engagement of additional medical science liaisons required to support our increased clinical trial
activities. Stock-based compensation increased primarily as a result of an increase in the number and valuation of new grants as well as an increase in the
participation and valuation of purchases under our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Those increases were partially offset by decreases in depreciation
and amortization expense primarily as a result of the impairment and disposition of assets related to the Restructurings and the impact of additional assets
becoming fully depreciated during 2012 and a decrease in the allocation of general corporate costs (such as facility costs, property taxes and insurance) to
research and development, primarily due to a decrease in allocable costs.

Historically, we grouped our research and development expenses into three categories: development, drug discovery and other. Our development
group leads the development and implementation of our clinical and regulatory strategies and prioritizes disease indications in which our compounds may be
studied in clinical trials. Development expenses relate primarily to clinical trial, personnel and general corporate costs. Our drug discovery efforts consisted of
the discovery, optimization and characterization of lead compounds for selection of development candidates with the best potential for further evaluation and
advancement into clinical development. Drug discovery expenses related primarily to personnel expense, lab supplies and general corporate costs. The other
category primarily includes stock-based compensation expense.

As noted under “Overview”, we are focusing our proprietary resources and development efforts exclusively on cabozantinib in order to maximize the
therapeutic and commercial potential of this compound, and as a result, we expect nearly all of our future research and development expenses to relate to the
clinical development of cabozantinib. Additionally, as a consequence of our focus on cabozantinib, we have discontinued all of our drug discovery efforts,
including those previously funded under our ROR collaboration agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb following the completion of our obligations in July
2013. As a result of this shift in business strategy and the limited relevance of the disclosure with respect to our current operations, we no longer disclose the
breakdown of our research and development expenses by category.

We expect to continue to incur significant research and development costs for cabozantinib in future periods as we evaluate its potential in a variety
of cancer indications through a broad development program, including two ongoing phase 3 pivotal trials in metastatic CRPC, a phase 3 pivotal trial in
metastatic RCC, and an ongoing phase 3 pivotal trial in advanced HCC. We also expect to expand the cabozantinib development program to other solid tumor
indications, based on encouraging interim data that have emerged from our phase 2 randomized discontinuation trial as well as other clinical trials. In
addition, post marketing requirements in connection with the approval of COMETRIQ in progressive, metastatic MTC dictate that we conduct additional
studies in that indication.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Total selling, general and administrative expenses were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 13,598 $ 7,343 $ 37,323 $ 22,008
Dollar change $ 6,255 $ 15,315
Percentage change 85% 70%

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel expenses, consulting and outside services, facility costs, patent costs,
employee stock-based compensation expense, marketing and other legal and accounting fees. These expenses also include selling and distribution costs in
2013 as a result of the commercial launch of COMETRIQ in late January 2013.

Approximately half of the increases for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to the prior year periods, were a result of
an increase in expenses related to consulting and outside services provided by our U.S. sales force and our European distribution partner for the sale of
COMETRIQ. The remaining increases for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 were related to legal and accounting fees, wages and benefits,
employee stock-based compensation expense, and patent costs and also for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, reduced allocations to research and
development. These increases were partially offset by decreases in facilities costs during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Restructuring Charge

Between March 2010 and May 2013, we implemented five restructurings as a consequence of our decision to focus our proprietary resources and
development efforts on the development and commercialization of cabozantinib and strategy to
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manage costs. The aggregate reduction in headcount from the Restructurings was 429 employees. Charges and credits related to the Restructurings were
recorded in periods other than those in which the Restructurings were implemented as a result of sublease activities for certain of our buildings in South San
Francisco, California, changes in assumptions regarding anticipated sublease activities, the effect of the passage of time on our discounted cash flow
computations, previously planned employee terminations, and sales of excess equipment and other assets.

Total charges from our Restructurings were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Restructuring charge $ 137 $ 733 $ 865 $ 1,704
Dollar change $ (596) $ (839)
Percentage change (81)% (49)%

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, we recorded restructuring charges of $0.1 million and $0.9 million, respectively, which
related to termination benefits and facility charges in connection with the exit of all or portions of certain of our buildings in South San Francisco. Those
charges were partially offset by a $0.7 million credit resulting from a new sublease entered into during the three months ended September 30, 2013.

Total Other Income (Expense), Net

Total other income (expense), net, were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Interest income and other, net $ 219 $ 318 $ 930 $ 818
Interest expense (11,430) (7,679) (33,726) (15,775)
Total other expense, net $ (11,211) % (7,361) $ (32,796) $ (14,957)
Dollar change $ (3,850) $ (17,839)
Percentage change 52% 119%

Total other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest expense incurred on our debt, partially offset by interest income earned on our cash
and investments.

The change in total other expense, net for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to the same periods in 2012, was
primarily due to the increased interest expense as a result of the August 2012 issuance of the 2019 Notes. Interest expense includes aggregate non-cash
interest expense on both the 2019 Notes and the Deerfield Notes of $6.7 million and $19.4 million, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013,
respectively, as compared to $4.5 million and $9.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, respectively.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Cash

The following table summarizes our cash flow activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2013 2012

Net loss $ (174,014) $ (95,452)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities 35,573 22,226
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (13,003) (11,184)

Net cash used in operating activities (151,444) (84,410)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 84,846 (159,841)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (11,455) 478,799
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (78,053) 234,548
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 170,069 74,257
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 92,016 $ 308,805

To date, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity, payments and loans from collaborators and banks, debt financing
arrangements and equipment financing facilities. We have also financed certain of our research and development activities under our agreements with various
collaborators. As of September 30, 2013, we had $464.7 million in cash and investments, which included short- and long-term restricted cash and investments
of $12.2 million and $15.9 million, respectively, and short- and long-term unrestricted investments of $187.2 million and $157.4 million, respectively. As of
September 30, 2013, we are required to maintain on deposit with Silicon Valley Bank or one of its affiliates short- and long-term unrestricted investments of
$2.2 million and $82.4 million, respectively, pursuant to covenants in our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank.

Operating Activities

Our operating activities used cash of $151.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to cash used of $84.4 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 related primarily to our $168.2 million in operating expenses for the
period, less non-cash expenses for accretion of debt discount totaling $19.4 million, stock-based compensation totaling $8.5 million, investment amortization
totaling $5.2 million, and depreciation and amortization totaling $2.4 million. Our operating expenses were largely attributable to the development of
cabozantinib. In addition, we paid $6.0 million for restructuring activities during the period. All of our license and contract revenues during the nine months
ended September 30, 2013 were non-cash, which was reflected in the $15.3 million reduction in deferred revenue during the period.

Cash used by operating activities for the 2012 period related primarily to our net loss of $95.5 million, which was largely due to the development of
cabozantinib and to a $34.1 million reduction in deferred revenue primarily due to non-cash revenue recognized related to our 2007 and 2010 collaboration
agreements with Bristol-Myers Squibb. In addition, we paid $4.5 million of our restructuring liability. Uses of cash were partially offset by the receipt of
$27.3 million in cash relating to the termination of our 2009 discovery collaboration with Sanofi in December 2011 and the up-front payment received from
Merck under our P13K-delta license agreement. In addition, we had non-cash charges totaling $18.9 million relating to stock-based compensation,
depreciation and amortization and accretion of implied interest under the Deerfield Notes and the 2019 Notes.

Except for 2011, we have been in a net loss position since inception and our cash used in operating activities has been primarily driven by our net
loss. Operating cash flows can differ from our consolidated net loss as a result of differences in the timing of cash receipts and earnings recognition and non-
cash charges. Going forward for at least the next several years, we expect to continue to use cash for operating activities as we incur net losses associated with
our research and development activities, primarily with respect to manufacturing and development expenses for cabozantinib.
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Investing Activities

Our investing activities provided cash of $84.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to cash used of $159.8 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Cash provided by investing activities for the 2013 period was primarily due to the maturity of investments of $251.5 million, less investment
purchases of $176.8 million.

Cash used by investing activities for the 2012 period was primarily due to the purchase of $359.5 million of investments, less proceeds from the
maturity of investments of $236.3 million.

Financing Activities

Our financing activities used cash of $11.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared to cash provided of $478.8 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Cash used for financing activities for 2013 was primarily due to principal payments on debt of $12.4 million.

Cash provided by our financing activities for 2012 was primarily due to the issuance of 12.7 million shares of common stock in February 2012 and
34.5 million shares of common stock in August 2012 for total net proceeds of $203.5 million, as well as the issuance and sale of the 2019 Notes for net
proceeds of $277.7 million. The cash provided by financing activities was partially offset by cash used for principal payments on notes payable and bank
obligations of $4.1 million.

Proceeds from common stock and debt issuances are used for general working capital purposes, such as research and development activities and
other general corporate purposes. Over the next several years, we are required to make certain payments on notes and bank obligations. In 2010, we amended
our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank to provide for a new seven-year term loan in the amount of $80.0 million. In addition, in 2010 we
sold to Deerfield an aggregate $124.0 million initial principal amount of the Deerfield Notes for an aggregate purchase price of $80.0 million, less closing
fees and expenses of approximately $2.0 million. In August 2012, we incurred $287.5 million of indebtedness through the issuance of the 2019 Notes. See “--
Certain Factors Important to Understanding Our Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Cash Requirements

We have incurred net losses since inception through the quarter ended September 30, 2013, with the exception of the fiscal year ended December 31,
2011. In 2011, we had net income primarily as a result of the acceleration of revenue recognized under our 2008 collaboration agreement with Bristol-Myers
Squibb that terminated in October 2011 and under our 2009 discovery collaboration agreement with Sanofi that terminated in December 2011. We anticipate
net losses and negative operating cash flow for the foreseeable future. For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we had a net loss of $174.0 million; as
of September 30, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.4 billion. We commercially launched COMETRIQ for the treatment of progressive, metastatic
MTC in the United States in late January 2013. From the commercial launch through September 30, 2013, we have generated $10.7 million in net revenues
from the sale of COMETRIQ. We have derived substantially all of our revenues to date from collaborative research and development agreements. Revenues
from research and development collaborations depend on research funding, the achievement of milestones, and royalties we earn from any future products
developed from the collaborative research. If we are unable to successfully achieve milestones, our collaborators fail to develop successful products or
research funding we receive from collaborators decreases, we will not earn the revenues contemplated under such collaborative agreements. The amount of
our net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of growth, if any, in our sales of COMETRIQ for progressive, metastatic MTC, license and contract revenues
and on the level of our expenses. These losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. Our
research and development expenditures and selling, general and administrative expenses have exceeded our revenues for each year other than 2011, and we
expect to spend significant additional amounts to fund the continued development of cabozantinib. As a result, we expect to continue to incur substantial
operating expenses, and, consequently, we will need to generate significant additional revenues to achieve future profitability. Because of the numerous risks
and uncertainties associated with developing drugs, we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will become profitable, if at all.

We anticipate that our current cash and cash equivalents, short- and long-term investments and product revenues will enable us to maintain our
operations for a period of at least 12 months following the end of the third quarter of 2013. However, our future capital requirements will be substantial, and
we may need to raise additional capital in the future. Our capital
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requirements will depend on many factors, and we may need to use available capital resources and raise additional capital significantly earlier than we
currently anticipate. These factors include:

«  the progress and scope of the development and commercialization activities with respect to COMETRIQ® (cabozantinib);

« repayment of the 2019 Notes;

+ repayment of the Deerfield Notes;

* repayment of our loan from Silicon Valley Bank;

* the commercial success of COMETRIQ and the revenues we generate;

+ the level of payments received under existing collaboration agreements, licensing agreements and other arrangements;

»  the degree to which we conduct funded development activity on behalf of partners to whom we have out-licensed compounds or programs;

*  whether we enter into new collaboration agreements, licensing agreements or other arrangements (including, in particular, with respect to
COMETRIQ) that provide additional capital;

*  our ability to control costs;

* our ability to remain in compliance with, or amend or cause to be waived, financial covenants contained in agreements with third parties;
»  the amount of our cash and cash equivalents, short- and long-term investments that serve as collateral for bank lines of credit;

» future clinical trial results;

»  our need to expand our product and clinical development efforts;

» the cost and timing of regulatory approvals;

* the cost of clinical and research supplies of our product candidates;

*  our obligation to share U.S. marketing and commercialization costs for cobimetinib (GDC-0973/XL518) under our collaboration with Genentech;
*  our ability to share the costs of our clinical development efforts with third parties;

» the effect of competing technological and market developments;

» the filing, maintenance, prosecution, defense and enforcement of patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and

« the cost of any acquisitions of or investments in businesses, products and technologies.

We may seek to raise funds through the sale of equity or debt securities or through external borrowings. In addition, we may enter into additional
strategic partnerships, collaborative arrangements or other strategic transactions. It is unclear whether any such partnership, arrangement or transaction will
occur, on satisfactory terms or at all, or what the timing and nature of such a partnership, arrangement or transaction may be. The sale of equity or convertible
debt securities in the future may be dilutive to our stockholders, and debt-financing arrangements may require us to pledge certain assets and enter into
covenants that would restrict certain business activities or our ability to incur further indebtedness, and may contain other terms that are not favorable to our
stockholders or us. If we are unable to obtain adequate funds on reasonable terms, we may be required to curtail operations significantly or obtain funds by
entering into financing, supply or collaboration agreements on unattractive terms or we may be required to relinquish rights to technology or product
candidates or to grant licenses on terms that are unfavorable to us.

We may need to obtain additional funding in order to stay in compliance with financial covenants contained in our loan and security agreement with
Silicon Valley Bank. The loan and security agreement requires that we maintain an amount equal to at least 100%, but not to exceed 107%, of the outstanding
principal balance of the term loan and all equipment lines of credit under the loan and security agreement at all times in one or more investment accounts with
Silicon Valley Bank or one of its affiliates as support for our obligations under the loan and security agreement. If the balance on our deposit account(s) falls
below the required level for more than 10 days, Silicon Valley Bank may declare all or part of the obligations under the loan and security agreement to be
immediately due and payable and stop advancing money or extending credit to us. If we are unable to remain in compliance with our financial covenants or if
we are unable to renegotiate such covenants and the lender exercises its remedies under the agreement, we would not be able to operate under our current
operating plan.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our market risks at September 30, 2013 have not changed significantly from those discussed in Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 21, 2013.

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio and our long-term debt. As of September 30,
2013, and December 31, 2012, a decrease in the interest rates of one percentage point would have had a net adverse change in the fair value of interest rate
sensitive assets and liabilities of $10.0 million and $8.7 million, respectively.

In addition, we have exposure to fluctuations in certain foreign currencies in countries in which we conduct clinical trials. As of September 30, 2013,
and December 31, 2012, approximately $3.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively, of our clinical accrual balance was owed in foreign currencies. An adverse
change of one percentage point in the foreign currency exchange rates would have not resulted in a material impact for any periods presented.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
or 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act) required by Rules 13a-15(b) or 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, within an organization have been detected. Accordingly, our disclosure controls and procedures are
designed to provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of our disclosure control system are met and, as set forth above, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded, based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this report, that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of our disclosure control system were met.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
our most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings. We may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary
course of business.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the factors discussed elsewhere in this report and our other reports filed with the SEC, the following are important factors that could
cause actual results or events to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we deem immaterial also
may impair our business operations. If any of the following risks or such other risks actually occurs, our business could be harmed.

We have marked with an asterisk (*) those risk factors below that reflect substantive changes in risks facing us from the risk factors included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 21, 2013.

Risks Related to Our Need for Additional Financing and Our Financial Results

If additional capital is not available to us, we may be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our product development programs or commercialization efforts
and we may breach our financial covenants.*

We may need to raise additional capital to:

» fund our operations and clinical trials;
»  continue our research and development efforts; and

» commercialize our product candidates, if any such candidates receive regulatory approval for commercial sale.

As of September 30, 2013, we had $464.7 million in cash and investments, which included short- and long-term restricted cash and investments of
$12.2 million and $15.9 million, respectively, and short- and long-term unrestricted investments of $187.2 million and $157.4 million, respectively. We are
required to maintain on deposit with Silicon Valley Bank or one of its affiliates short- and long-term unrestricted investments of $2.2 million and $82.4
million, respectively, pursuant to covenants in our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank. We anticipate that our current cash and cash
equivalents, short- and long-term investments and product revenues will enable us to maintain our operations for a period of at least 12 months following the
end of the third quarter of 2013. However, our future capital requirements will be substantial, and we may need to raise additional capital in the future. Our
capital requirements will depend on many factors, and we may need to use available capital resources and raise additional capital significantly earlier than we
currently anticipate. These factors include:

- the progress and scope of the development and commercialization activities with respect to COMETRIQ® (cabozantinib);

» repayment of our $287.5 million aggregate principal amount of the 2019 Notes that mature on August 15, 2019, unless earlier converted,
redeemed or repurchased;

« repayment of the $114.0 million initial principal amount of the Deerfield Notes, for which we will be required to make mandatory prepayments
on an annual basis in 2014 and 2015 equal to 15% of specified payments from our collaborative arrangements (other than intercompany
arrangements) received during the prior fiscal year, subject to a maximum annual prepayment amount of $27.5 million and, for the payment due
in January 2014, a required minimum prepayment amount of $10.0 million, unless we are able to repay them with our common stock, which we
are only able to do under specified conditions;

+ repayment of our term loan and line of credit from Silicon Valley Bank, which had an outstanding balance at September 30, 2013, of $82.9
million;

* the commercial success of COMETRIQ and the revenues we generate;

» the level of payments received under existing collaboration agreements, licensing agreements and other arrangements;

» the degree to which we conduct funded development activity on behalf of partners to whom we have out-licensed compounds or programs;
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* whether we enter into new collaboration agreements, licensing agreements or other arrangements (including, in particular, with respect to
COMETRIQ) that provide additional capital;

*  our ability to control costs;

*  our ability to remain in compliance with, or amend or cause to be waived, financial covenants contained in agreements with third parties;
+  the amount of our cash and cash equivalents, short- and long-term investments that serve as collateral for bank lines of credit;

«  future clinical trial results;

*  our need to expand our product and clinical development efforts;

+ the cost and timing of regulatory approvals;

+ the cost of clinical and research supplies of our product candidates;

+ our obligation to share U.S. marketing and commercialization costs for cobimetinib (GDC-0973/XL518) under our collaboration with
Genentech;

*  our ability to share the costs of our clinical development efforts with third parties;
» the effect of competing technological and market developments;
+ the filing, maintenance, prosecution, defense and enforcement of patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and

+ the cost of any acquisitions of or investments in businesses, products and technologies.

We may seek to raise funds through the sale of equity or debt securities or through external borrowings. In addition, we may enter into additional
strategic partnerships, collaborative arrangements or other strategic transactions. It is unclear whether any such partnership, arrangement or transaction will
occur, on satisfactory terms or at all, or what the timing and nature of such a partnership, arrangement or transaction may be. The sale of equity or convertible
debt securities in the future may be dilutive to our stockholders, and debt-financing arrangements may require us to pledge certain assets and enter into
covenants that would restrict certain business activities or our ability to incur further indebtedness, and may contain other terms that are not favorable to our
stockholders or us. If we are unable to obtain adequate funds on reasonable terms, we may be required to curtail operations significantly or obtain funds by
entering into financing, supply or collaboration agreements on unattractive terms or we may be required to relinquish rights to technology or product
candidates or to grant licenses on terms that are unfavorable to us.

We may need to obtain additional funding in order to stay in compliance with financial covenants contained in our loan and security agreement with
Silicon Valley Bank. The terms of the agreement contains covenants or events of default requiring us to maintain specified collateral balances. The failure to
comply with these covenants could result in an acceleration of the underlying debt obligations. If we are unable to remain in compliance with such covenants
or if we are unable to renegotiate such covenants and the lender exercises its remedies under the agreement, we would not be able to operate under our current
operating plan.

We have a history of net losses. We expect to continue to incur net losses, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability. *

We have incurred net losses since inception through the quarter ended September 30, 2013, with the exception of the fiscal year ended December 31,
2011. In 2011, we had net income primarily as a result of the acceleration of revenue recognized under our 2008 collaboration agreement with Bristol-Myers
Squibb that terminated in October 2011 and under our 2009 discovery collaboration agreement with Sanofi that terminated in December 2011. We anticipate
net losses and negative operating cash flow for the foreseeable future. For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we had a net loss of $174.0 million; as
of September 30, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.4 billion. We commercially launched COMETRIQ for the treatment of progressive, metastatic
MTC in the United States in late January 2013. From the commercial launch through September 30, 2013, we have generated $10.7 million in net revenues
from the sale of COMETRIQ. We have derived substantially all of our revenues to date from collaborative research and development agreements. Revenues
from research and development collaborations depend on research funding, the achievement of milestones, and royalties we earn from any future products
developed from the collaborative research. If we are unable to successfully achieve milestones, our collaborators fail to develop successful products or
research funding we receive from collaborators decreases, we will not earn the revenues contemplated under such collaborative agreements. The amount of
our net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of growth, if any, in our sales of COMETRIQ for progressive, metastatic MTC, license and contract revenues
and on the level of our expenses. These losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. Our
research and development expenditures and general and administrative expenses have exceeded our revenues for each year other than 2011, and we expect to
spend significant additional amounts to fund the continued development of cabozantinib. As a result, we expect to continue to incur substantial operating
expenses, and, consequently, we will need to generate significant
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additional revenues to achieve future profitability. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing drugs, we are unable to predict
the extent of any future losses or when we will become profitable, if at all.

Our significant level of indebtedness could limit cash flow available for our operations and expose us to risks that could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.*

We incurred significant additional indebtedness and substantial debt service requirements as a result of our offering of the 2019 Notes in August
2012. As of September 30, 2013, our total consolidated indebtedness through maturity was $467.8 million (excluding trade payables). We may also incur
additional indebtedness to meet future financing needs. If we raise additional indebtedness, it would increase our interest expense, leverage and operating and
financial costs.

Our indebtedness could have significant negative consequences for our business, results of operations and financial condition, including:

+ making it more difficult for us to meet our payment and other obligations under the 2019 Notes, the Deerfield Notes, our loan and security
agreement with Silicon Valley Bank or our other indebtedness;

+ resulting in an event of default if we fail to comply with the financial and other restrictive covenants contained in our debt agreements, which
event of default could result in all of our debt becoming immediately due and payable;

* increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions;

*  subjecting us to the risk of increased sensitivity to interest rate increases on our indebtedness with variable interest rates, including borrowings
under our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank;

*  limiting our ability to obtain additional financing;

*  requiring the dedication of a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness, thereby reducing the amount of
our cash flow available for other purposes, including working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

*  limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business;

+  preventing us from raising funds necessary to purchase the 2019 Notes in the event we are required to do so following a “Fundamental Change”
as specified in the indenture governing the 2019 Notes, or to settle conversions of the 2019 Notes in cash;

+ dilution experienced by our existing stockholders as a result of the conversion of the 2019 Notes or the Deerfield Notes into shares of common
stock; and

»  placing us at a possible competitive disadvantage with less leveraged competitors and competitors that may have better access to capital
resources.

We cannot assure you that we will continue to maintain sufficient cash reserves or that our business will continue to generate cash flow from
operations at levels sufficient to permit us to pay principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness, or that our cash needs will not increase. If we
are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or otherwise obtain funds necessary to make required payments, or if we fail to comply with the various
requirements of the 2019 Notes, the Deerfield Notes, our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, or any indebtedness which we have incurred
or may incur in the future, we would be in default, which would permit the holders or the Trustee of the 2019 Notes or other indebtedness to accelerate the
maturity of such notes or other indebtedness and could cause defaults under the 2019 Notes, the Deerfield Notes, our loan and security agreement with Silicon
Valley Bank or our other indebtedness. Any default under the 2019 Notes, the Deerfield Notes, our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, or
any indebtedness that we have incurred or may incur in the future could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

If a Fundamental Change occurs, holders of the 2019 Notes may require us to purchase for cash all or any portion of their 2019 Notes at a purchase
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the Fundamental Change
purchase date. We may not have sufficient funds to purchase the notes upon a Fundamental Change. In addition, the terms of any borrowing agreements
which we may enter into from time to time may require early repayment of borrowings under circumstances similar to those constituting a Fundamental
Change. Furthermore, any repurchase of 2019 Notes by us may be considered an event of default under such borrowing agreements.

We may not realize the expected benefits of our initiatives to control costs.*

Managing costs is a key element of our business strategy. Consistent with this element of our strategy, and as a consequence of our decision to focus
our proprietary resources and development efforts on the late-stage development and commercialization of cabozantinib, we implemented the Restructurings,
which resulted in an aggregate reduction in headcount
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of 429 employees. We have recorded aggregate restructuring charges of $52.9 million in connection with the Restructurings and anticipate that we will incur
additional restructuring charges related to the exit of all or portions of certain of our buildings in South San Francisco, California. These charges will be
recorded through the end of the building lease terms, the last of which ends in 2017.

As part of the Restructurings, we have entered into sublease agreements for certain of our facilities in South San Francisco. We are still assessing our
ability to sublease portions of our facilities in light of the workforce reductions as well as the potential for sublease income. Estimates for sublease income
would require significant assumptions regarding the time required to contract with subtenants, the amount of idle space we would be able to sublease and
potential future sublease rates. If we are able to vacate portions of our facilities, we would need to continue to update our estimate of the lease exit costs in our
financial statements until we were able to negotiate an exit to the lease or negotiate a sublease for the remaining term of the lease.

If we experience excessive unanticipated inefficiencies or incremental costs in connection with restructuring activities, such as unanticipated
inefficiencies caused by reducing headcount, we may be unable to meaningfully realize cost savings and we may incur expenses in excess of what we
anticipate. Either of these outcomes could prevent us from meeting our strategic objectives and could adversely impact our results of operations and financial
condition.

We are exposed to risks related to foreign currency exchange rates.

Most of our foreign expenses incurred are associated with establishing and conducting clinical trials for cabozantinib. The amount of expenses
incurred will be impacted by fluctuations in the currencies of those countries in which we conduct clinical trials. Our agreements with the foreign sites that
conduct such clinical trials generally provide that payments for the services provided will be calculated in the currency of that country, and converted into
U.S. dollars using various exchange rates based upon when services are rendered or the timing of invoices. When the U.S. dollar weakens against foreign
currencies, the U.S. dollar value of the foreign-currency denominated expense increases, and when the U.S. dollar strengthens against these currencies, the
U.S. dollar value of the foreign-currency denominated expense decreases. Consequently, changes in exchange rates may affect our financial position and
results of operations.

Global credit and financial market conditions could negatively impact the value of our current portfolio of cash equivalents, short-term investments or
long-term investments and our ability to meet our financing objectives.

Our cash and cash equivalents are maintained in highly liquid investments with remaining maturities of 90 days or less at the time of purchase. Our
short-term and long-term investments consist primarily of readily marketable debt securities with remaining maturities of more than 90 days at the time of
purchase. While as of the date of this report we are not aware of any downgrades, material losses, or other significant deterioration in the fair value of our
cash equivalents, short-term investments or long-term investments since September 30, 2013, no assurance can be given that a deterioration in conditions of
the global credit and financial markets would not negatively impact our current portfolio of cash equivalents or investments or our ability to meet our
financing objectives.

Risks Related to COMETRIQ™ (cabozantinib)
We are dependent on the successful development and commercialization of COMETRIQ.*

The success of our business is dependent upon the successful development and commercialization of COMETRIQ. As part of our strategy, we are
dedicating all of our proprietary resources to advance COMETRIQ as aggressively as possible. On November 29, 2012, the FDA approved COMETRIQ for
the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC in the United States and we commercially launched COMETRIQ in late January 2013. We have also submitted
an MAA for cabozantinib for the proposed indication of progressive, unresectable, locally advanced, or metastatic MTC to the EMA that was accepted for
review in November 2012. We view the approval of COMETRIQ by the FDA for the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC as a transitional event
towards our objective of developing COMETRIQ into a major oncology franchise. Our ability to realize this objective or the value of our investment is
contingent on, among other things, successful clinical development, regulatory approval and market acceptance of COMETRIQ. If we encounter difficulties
in the development of COMETRIQ in other indications beyond progressive, metastatic MTC due to any of the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section
or otherwise, or we do not receive regulatory approval in such indications or are unable to successfully commercialize COMETRIQ in progressive, metastatic
MTC or such other indications if approved, we will not have the resources necessary to continue our business in its current form.

The commercial success of COMETRIQ will depend upon the degree of market acceptance of COMETRIQ among physicians, patients, health care
payors, and the medical community.

Our ability to commercialize COMETRIQ for the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC and potentially other
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indications, if approved, will be highly dependent upon the extent to which COMETRIQ gains market acceptance among: physicians; patients; health care
payors, such as Medicare and Medicaid; and the medical community. If COMETRIQ does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not generate
adequate product revenues, if at all, and we may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of COMETRIQ will depend upon a number of
factors, including:

+ the effectiveness, or perceived effectiveness, of COMETRIQ in comparison to competing products;

» the existence of any significant side effects of COMETRIQ, as well as their severity in comparison to those of any competing products;
+ potential advantages or disadvantages in relation to alternative treatments;

+ the timing of market entry relative to competitive treatments;

* indications for which COMETRIQ is approved;

+  the ability to offer COMETRIQ for sale at competitive prices;

» relative convenience and ease of administration;

+  the strength of sales, marketing and distribution support; and

+ sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement.

If we are unable to establish and maintain adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities or enter into or maintain agreements with third parties
to do so, we may be unable to successfully commercialize COMETRIQ.*

We have established a small commercial organization that we believe is commensurate with the size of the market opportunity for progressive,
metastatic MTC. We have also designed our commercial organization to maintain the maximum amount of flexibility, and to enable us to quickly scale up if
additional indications are approved in the future. We believe we have created an efficient commercial organization, taking advantage of outsourcing options
where prudent to maximize the effectiveness of our commercial expenditures. However, we may not be able to correctly judge the size and experience of the
sales and marketing force and the scale of distribution necessary to successfully market and sell COMETRIQ. Establishing and maintaining sales, marketing
and distribution capabilities are expensive and time-consuming. Such expenses may be disproportional compared to the revenues we may be able to generate
on sales of COMETRIQ and have an adverse impact on our results of operations. If we are unable to establish and maintain adequate sales, marketing and
distribution capabilities, independently or with others, we may not be able to generate product revenues and our business may be adversely affected.

We currently rely on a single third party logistics provider to handle shipping and warehousing of our commercial supply of COMETRIQ and a
single specialty pharmacy to dispense COMETRIQ to patients in fulfillment of prescriptions in the United States. We will also rely on a third party, Swedish
Orphan Biovitrum, or Sobi, to distribute and commercialize COMETRIQ for the treatment of metastatic MTC in the European Union. Sobi is currently
supporting access to cabozantinib under a Named Patient Use program in the European Union and other countries. Our current and anticipated future
dependence upon these third parties may adversely affect our future profit margins and our ability to supply COMETRIQ to the marketplace on a timely and
competitive basis. For example, if our third party logistics provider’s warehouse suffers a fire or damage from another type of disaster, the commercial supply
of COMETRIQ could be destroyed, resulting in a disruption in our commercialization efforts. These third parties may not be able to provide services in the
time we require to meet our commercial timelines and objectives or to meet regulatory requirements. We may not be able to maintain or renew our
arrangements with these third parties, or enter into new arrangements, on acceptable terms, or at all. These third parties could terminate or decline to renew
our arrangements based on their own business priorities, at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us. If we are unable to contract for logistics services or
distribution of COMETRIQ on acceptable terms, our commercialization efforts may be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

We are subject to certain healthcare laws, regulation and enforcement; our failure to comply with those laws could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition.*

We are subject to certain healthcare laws and regulations and enforcement by the federal government and the states in which we conduct our
business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include, without limitation:

»  the federal healthcare programs’ Anti-Kickback Law, which constrains our marketing practices, educational programs, pricing policies, and
relationships with healthcare providers or other entities, by prohibiting, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
receiving, offering or paying remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual for, or the
purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as the
Medicare and Medicaid programs;
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» federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-party payors that are false or
fraudulent;

» federal criminal laws that prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to
healthcare matters;

+  state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws which may apply to items or services
reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in
certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating efforts;

»  the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, a U.S. law which regulates certain financial relationships with foreign government officials (which could
include, for example, certain medical professionals);

» federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially
harm consumers;

+ state and federal government price reporting laws that require us to calculate and report complex pricing metrics to government programs, where
such reported priced may be used in the calculation of reimbursement and/or discounts on our marketed drugs (participation in these programs
and compliance with the applicable requirements may subject us to potentially significant discounts on our products, increased infrastructure
costs, and potentially limit our ability to offer certain marketplace discounts); and

« state and federal marketing expenditure tracking and reporting laws, which generally require certain types of expenditures in the United States to
be tracked and reported (compliance with such requirements may require investment in infrastructure to ensure that tracking is performed
properly, and some of these laws result in the public disclosure of various types of payments and relationships, which could potentially have a
negative effect on our business and/or increase enforcement scrutiny of our activities).

In addition, certain marketing practices, including off-label promotion, may also violate false claims laws. If our operations are found to be in
violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and
criminal penalties, damages, fines, withdrawal of regulatory approval, the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, the exclusion from participation in
federal and state healthcare programs and imprisonment, any of which could adversely affect our ability to sell COMETRIQ or operate our business and also
adversely affect our financial results.

Numerous federal and state laws, including state security breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws and federal and state
consumer protection laws, govern the collection, use and disclosure of personal information. Other countries also have, or are developing, laws governing the
collection, use and transmission of personal information. In addition, most healthcare providers who are expected to prescribe our products and from whom
we obtain patient health information are subject to privacy and security requirements under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996,
as amended by the Health Information Technology and Clinical Health Act, or HIPAA. Although we are not directly subject to HIPAA, we could be subject to
criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain individually identifiable health information from a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or
permitted by HIPAA. The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve, and there has been an increasing amount of
focus on privacy and data protection issues with the potential to affect our business, including recently enacted laws in a majority of states requiring security
breach notification. These laws could create liability for us or increase our cost of doing business. International laws, such as the EU Data Privacy Directive
(95/46/EC) and Swiss Federal Act on Data Protection, regulate the processing of personal data within Europe and between European countries and the United
States. Failure to provide adequate privacy protections and maintain compliance with Safe Harbor mechanisms could jeopardize business transactions across
borders and result in significant penalties.

If we are unable to obtain adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors for COMETRIQ, our revenues and prospects for profitability
will suffer.*

Our ability to successfully commercialize COMETRIQ will be highly dependent on the extent to which coverage and reimbursement for it is, and
will be, available from third-party payors, including governmental payors, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and private health insurers. Many patients will not
be capable of paying for COMETRIQ themselves and will rely on third-party payors to pay for, or subsidize, their medical needs. If third-party payors do not
provide coverage or reimbursement for COMETRIQ, our revenues and prospects for profitability will suffer. In addition, even if third-party payors provide
some
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coverage or reimbursement for COMETRIQ, the availability of such coverage or reimbursement for prescription drugs under private health insurance and
managed care plans often varies based on the type of contract or plan purchased.

In addition, in some foreign countries, particularly the countries in the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to
governmental control. In these countries, price negotiations with governmental authorities can take six to twelve months or longer after the receipt of
regulatory marketing approval for a product. To obtain reimbursement and/or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical
trial that compares the cost effectiveness of COMETRIQ to other available therapies. The conduct of such a clinical trial could be expensive and result in
delays in the commercialization of COMETRIQ. Third-party payors are challenging the prices charged for medical products and services, and many third-
party payors limit reimbursement for newly approved health care products. In particular, third-party payors may limit the indications for which they will
reimburse patients who use COMETRIQ. Cost-control initiatives could decrease the price we might establish for COMETRIQ, which would result in lower
product revenues to us.

Current healthcare laws and regulations and future legislative or regulatory reforms to the healthcare system may affect our ability to sell COMETRIQ
profitably.*

The United States and some foreign jurisdictions are considering or have enacted a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the
healthcare system in ways that could affect our ability to sell COMETRIQ profitably. Among policy makers and payors in the United States and elsewhere,
there is significant interest in promoting changes in healthcare systems with the stated goals of containing healthcare costs, improving quality and/or
expanding access. In the United States, the pharmaceutical industry has been a particular focus of these efforts and has been significantly affected by major
legislative initiatives.

For example, under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability
Reconciliation Act, or collectively, PPACA, substantial changes may be made to the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers
and significantly affects the pharmaceutical industry. Among other things, PPACA creates a new system of health insurance “exchanges,” designed to make
health policies available to individuals and certain groups though state- or federally-administered marketplaces, beginning in 2014. In connection with such
exchanges, certain “essential health benefits” are intended to be made more consistent across plans, setting basically a baseline coverage level. While
prescription drugs are broadly considered “essential,” there is some discretion to the plans as to what categories of prescription drug products will be covered
(and the scope of coverage in each category). We cannot predict at this time whether COMETRIQ would be covered by the health plans offered in any or all
of the exchanges. Failure to be covered by plans offered in the exchanges could have a material adverse impact on our business. We anticipate that the
PPACA, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and an additional
downward pressure on the price that we receive for COMETRIQ and any subsequently approved product, and could seriously harm our business. Under the
Budget Control Act of 2011, as amended, federal budget “sequestration” became effective in March 2013, automatically reducing payments under various
government programs, including, for example, certain Medicare provider and supplier reimbursement payments. Sequestration may have a material adverse
effect on our customers and accordingly, our financial operations. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result
in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. Insurers may also refuse to provide any coverage of uses of approved products for medical indications
other than those for which the FDA has granted market approvals. As a result, significant uncertainty exists as to whether and how much third-party payors
will reimburse for newly-approved drugs, which in turn will put pressure on the pricing of drugs.

We also cannot be certain that COMETRIQ will successfully be placed on the list of drugs covered by particular commercial or government health
plan formularies, nor can we predict the negotiated price for COMETRIQ, which will be determined by market factors. Many states have also created
preferred drug lists for their Medicaid programs, and include drugs on those lists only when the manufacturers agree to pay a supplemental rebate. If
COMETRIQ is not included on these preferred drug lists, physicians may not be inclined to prescribe it to their Medicaid patients, thereby diminishing the
potential market for COMETRIQ.

As aresult of the overall trend towards cost-effectiveness criteria and managed healthcare in the United States, third-party payors are increasingly
attempting to contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement of new drugs. They may use tiered reimbursement and may
adversely affect demand for our products by placing them in an expensive tier. They may also refuse to provide any coverage of uses of approved products for
medical indications other than those for which the FDA has granted market approvals. As a result, significant uncertainty exists as to whether and how much
third-party payors will reimburse for newly-approved drugs, which in turn will put pressure on the pricing of drugs. Further, we do not have experience in
ensuring approval by applicable third-party payors outside of the United States for coverage and reimbursement of COMETRIQ. We also anticipate pricing
pressures in connection with the sale of our products due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance
organizations and additional legislative
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proposals.

Our competitors may develop products and technologies that make cabozantinib obsolete.*

The biotechnology industry is highly fragmented and is characterized by rapid technological change. In particular, the area of kinase-targeted
therapies is a rapidly evolving and competitive field. We face, and will continue to face, intense competition from biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies, as well as academic research institutions, clinical reference laboratories and government agencies that are pursuing research activities similar to
ours. Some of our competitors have entered into collaborations with leading companies within our target markets, including some of our existing
collaborators. Some of our competitors are further along in the development of their products than we are. In addition, delays in the development of
cabozantinib for the treatment of additional tumor types beyond progressive, metastatic MTC could allow our competitors to bring products to market before
us, which would impair our ability to commercialize cabozantinib in such tumor types. Our future success will depend upon our ability to maintain a
competitive position with respect to technological advances. The markets for which we intend to pursue regulatory approval of cabozantinib are highly
competitive. Further, our competitors may be more effective at using their technologies to develop commercial products. Many of the organizations
competing with us have greater capital resources, larger research and development staff and facilities, more experience in obtaining regulatory approvals and
more extensive product manufacturing and commercial capabilities than we do. As a result, our competitors may be able to more easily develop technologies
and products that would render our technologies and products, and those of our collaborators, obsolete and noncompetitive. There may also be drug
candidates of which we are not aware at an earlier stage of development that may compete with cabozantinib. In addition, cabozantinib may compete with
existing therapies that have long histories of use, such as chemotherapy and radiation treatments in cancer indications.

We believe that the principal competing anti-cancer therapy to COMETRIQ in progressive, metastatic MTC is AstraZeneca’s RET, VEGFR and
EGFR inhibitor vandetanib, which has been approved by the FDA and the EMA for the treatment of symptomatic or progressive MTC in patients with
unresectable, locally advanced, or metastatic disease. In addition, we believe that COMETRIQ also faces competition as a treatment for progressive,
metastatic MTC from off-label use of Bayer’s and Onyx Pharmaceuticals’ (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Amgen) multikinase inhibitor sorafenib, Pfizer’s
multikinase inhibitor sunitinib, and Ariad Pharmaceutical’s multikinase inhibitor ponatinib.

We believe that if cabozantinib is approved for the treatment of the indications for which we currently have ongoing phase 3 pivotal trials, its
potential principal competition in such indications may include the following:

+ CRPC: Bayer’s and Algeta’s alpha-pharmaceutical alpharadin (Radium 223); Janssen Biotech’s CYP17 inhibitor abiraterone; Medivation’s
androgen receptor inhibitor enzalutamide; and chemotherapeutic agents, including Sanofi’s cabazitaxel and generic docetaxel;

*  RCC: Pfizer’s axitinib, sunitinib and temsirolimus; Novatis’ everolimus; Bayer’s and Onyx Pharmaceuticals’ sorafenib; GlaxoSmithKline’s
pazopanib; and Genentech’s bevacizumab; and

* HCC: Bayer’s and Onyx Pharmaceuticals’ sorafenib; Bayer’s regorafenib; ImClone System’s ramucirumab; and ArQule’s tivantinib.

Examples of potential competition for cabozantinib in other cancer indications include: other VEGF pathway inhibitors, including Genentech’s
bevacizumab; other RET inhibitors including Eisai’s lenvatinib; and other MET inhibitors, including Amgen’s AMG 208, Pfizer’s crizotinib, ArQule’s
tivantinib, GlaxoSmithKline’s foretinib (XL880), and Genentech’s onartuzumab.

We lack the manufacturing capabilities and experience necessary to enable us to produce COMETRIQ for clinical development or for commercial sale
and rely on third parties to do so, which subjects us to various risks.

We do not have the manufacturing capabilities or experience necessary to enable us to produce materials for our clinical trials or for commercial sale
of COMETRIQ and rely on third party contractors to do so. These third-parties must comply with applicable regulatory requirements, including the FDA’s
current Good Manufacturing Practices, or GMP. Our current and anticipated future dependence upon these third parties may adversely affect our future profit
margins and our ability to develop and commercialize COMETRIQ on a timely and competitive basis. These third parties may not be able to produce material
on a timely basis or manufacture material at the quality or in the quantity required to meet our development and commercial timelines and applicable
regulatory requirements. We may not be able to maintain or renew our existing third party manufacturing and supply arrangements, or enter into new
arrangements, on acceptable terms, or at all. Our third party manufacturers and suppliers could terminate or decline to renew our manufacturing and supply
arrangements based on their own business priorities, at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us. If we are unable to contract for the production of materials
in sufficient quantity and of sufficient quality on acceptable terms, our clinical trials and commercialization efforts may be delayed or otherwise adversely
affected.
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Our third-party manufacturers may not be able to comply with the GMP regulations, other applicable FDA regulatory requirements or similar
regulations applicable outside of the United States. Additionally, if we are required to enter into new manufacturing or supply arrangements, we may not be
able to obtain approval from the FDA of any alternate manufacturer or supplier in a timely manner, or at all, which could delay or prevent the clinical
development and commercialization of COMETRIQ. Failure of our third party manufacturers or suppliers or us to obtain approval from the FDA or to
comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, civil penalties, delays in or failure to grant marketing
approval of COMETRIQ, injunctions, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of products and compounds,
operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could have a significant adverse effect on our business. In addition, COMETRIQ requires
precise, high-quality manufacturing. The failure to achieve and maintain these high manufacturing standards, including the incidence of manufacturing errors,
could result in patient injury or death, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns or other problems that
could have also a significant adverse effect on our business.

Clinical testing of cabozantinib is a lengthy, costly, complex and uncertain process and may fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy.

Cabozantinib is being evaluated in a comprehensive development program for the treatment of CRPC, RCC, HCC and a variety of other indications
beyond progressive, metastatic MTC. Clinical trials are inherently risky and may reveal that cabozantinib is ineffective or has unacceptable toxicity or other
side effects that may significantly decrease the likelihood of regulatory approval in such indications.

The results of preliminary studies do not necessarily predict clinical or commercial success, and later-stage clinical trials may fail to confirm the
results observed in earlier-stage trials or preliminary studies. Although we have established timelines for manufacturing and clinical development of
cabozantinib based on existing knowledge of our compounds in development and industry metrics, we may not be able to meet those timelines.

We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical testing that could delay or prevent commercialization of
cabozantinib for the treatment of CRPC, RCC, HCC and other indications, including:

+ cabozantinib may not prove to be efficacious or may cause, or potentially cause, harmful side effects;

* negative or inconclusive clinical trial results may require us to conduct further testing or to abandon projects that we had expected to be
promising;

*  our competitors may discover or commercialize other compounds or therapies that show significantly improved safety or efficacy compared to
cabozantinib;

+  patient registration or enrollment in our clinical testing may be lower than we anticipate, resulting in the delay or cancellation of clinical testing;
and

»  regulators or institutional review boards may withhold authorization of, or delay, suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirements or their determination that participating patients are being exposed to unacceptable
health risks.

If we were to have significant delays in or termination of our clinical testing of cabozantinib as a result of any of the events described above or
otherwise, our expenses could increase or our ability to generate revenues could be impaired, either of which could adversely impact our financial results.

We have limited experience in conducting clinical trials and may not be able to rapidly or effectively continue the further development of
cabozantinib or meet current or future requirements of the FDA or regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions, including those identified based on our
discussions with the FDA or such other regulatory authorities. Our planned clinical trials may not begin on time, or at all, may not be completed on schedule,
or at all, may not be sufficient for registration of cabozantinib or may not result in an approvable product.

Completion of clinical trials may take several years or more, but the length of time generally varies substantially according to the type, complexity,
novelty and intended use of cabozantinib. The duration and the cost of clinical trials may vary significantly over the life of a project as a result of factors
relating to the clinical trial, including, among others:

*  the number of patients who ultimately participate in the clinical trial;
» the duration of patient follow-up that is appropriate in view of the results or required by regulatory authorities;
* the number of clinical sites included in the trials; and

+  the length of time required to enroll suitable patient subjects.

Any delay could limit our ability to generate revenues, cause us to incur additional expense and cause the market price of our common stock or the
2019 Notes to decline significantly. Our partners under our collaboration agreements may
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experience similar risks with respect to the compounds we have out-licensed to them. If any of the events described above were to occur with such programs
or compounds, the likelihood of receipt of milestones and royalties under such collaboration agreements could decrease.

If third parties upon which we rely do not perform as contractually required or expected, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or
commercialize cabozantinib for the treatment of additional indications beyond progressive, metastatic MTC.

We do not have the ability to independently conduct clinical trials for cabozantinib, including our post-marketing commitments for COMETRIQ for
the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC, and we rely on third parties we do not control such as the federal government (including NCI-CTEP, with
whom we have our CRADA), contract research organizations, medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories to conduct our clinical
trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet expected deadlines, if the third parties need
to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory
requirements or for other reasons, our preclinical development activities or clinical trials may be extended, delayed, suspended or terminated, and we may not
be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize cabozantinib for additional indications beyond progressive, metastatic MTC.

Cabozantinib is subject to a lengthy and uncertain regulatory process that may not result in the necessary regulatory approvals, which could adversely
daffect our ability to commercialize cabozantinib.

Cabozantinib, as well as the activities associated with its research, development and commercialization, are subject to extensive regulation by the
FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and by comparable authorities in other countries. Failure to obtain regulatory approval for
cabozantinib would prevent us from promoting its use. We have only limited experience in preparing and filing the applications necessary to gain regulatory
approvals. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals in the United States and other foreign jurisdictions is expensive, and often takes many years, if
approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved. For example, before a
New Drug Application, or NDA, or NDA supplement can be submitted to the FDA, or MAA to the EMA or any application or submission to regulatory
authorities in other jurisdictions, the product candidate must undergo extensive clinical trials, which can take many years and require substantial expenditures.

In December 2011, we initiated COMET-2, our first phase 3 pivotal trial of cabozantinib in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate
cancer, with pain response as the primary efficacy endpoint for the trial. We were not able to reach a timely agreement with the FDA for a Special Protocol
Assessment, or SPA, on the proposed design and analysis of the COMET-2 trial. We originally submitted the proposed protocol for this trial using primary
endpoints of pain reduction and bone scan response to the FDA in June 2011 with a request for a SPA. The FDA’s final response prior to our discontinuation
of the SPA process, which we received in October 2011, raised the following concerns regarding the COMET-2 trial design in the context of its consideration
of a SPA for the trial, among other comments:

* A concern about the ability to maintain blinding of the trial due to differences in toxicity profiles between cabozantinib and mitoxantrone.

* A view that the assumed magnitude of pain improvement is modest and could represent a placebo effect or be attained with less toxicity by opioid
therapy.

* A view that symptomatic improvement should be supported by evidence of anti-tumor activity, an acceptable safety profile and lack of survival
decrement. The FDA also expressed the view that if the effect that we believe cabozantinib will have on pain is mediated by anti-tumor activity,
that anti-tumor activity should translate into an improvement in overall survival.

* A recommendation that if we use pain response as a primary efficacy endpoint, that we conduct two adequate and well-controlled trials to
demonstrate effectiveness as, according to the FDA, a conclusion based on two persuasive studies will always be more secure. The FDA advised
that for a single randomized trial to support an NDA, the trial must be well designed, well conducted, internally consistent and provide
statistically persuasive efficacy findings so that a second trial would be ethically or practically impossible to perform.

In the context of its consideration of a SPA for the COMET-2 trial, the FDA also recommended that overall survival be the primary efficacy
endpoint. The final FDA response prior to our discontinuation of the SPA process stated that we could choose to conduct the trial in the absence of a SPA
agreement. We elected to proceed with initiation of the COMET-2 trial and the COMET-1 trial, and to discontinue further attempts to secure a SPA agreement
with respect to the COMET-2 trial. We initiated the COMET-2 trial with a pain palliation endpoint in December 2011 and the COMET-1 trial with an overall
survival endpoint in May 2012.

Any clinical trial may fail to produce results satisfactory to the FDA or regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. For
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example, the FDA could determine that the design of a clinical trial is inadequate to produce reliable results. The regulatory process also requires preclinical
testing, and data obtained from preclinical and clinical activities are susceptible to varying interpretations. The FDA has substantial discretion in the approval
process and may refuse to approve any NDA (regardless of prior receipt of a SPA) or decide that our data is insufficient for approval and require additional
preclinical, clinical or other studies. For example, varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent
regulatory approval of cabozantinib.

In addition, delays or rejections may be encountered based upon changes in regulatory policy for product approval during the period of product
development and regulatory agency review. Changes in regulatory approval policy, regulations or statutes or the process for regulatory review during the
development or approval periods of cabozantinib may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application.

Even if the FDA or a comparable authority in another jurisdiction approves cabozantinib, the approval may impose significant restrictions on the
indicated uses, conditions for use, labeling, distribution, advertising, promotion, marketing and/or production of cabozantinib and may impose ongoing
requirements for post- approval studies, including additional research and development and clinical trials. For example, in connection with the FDA’s
approval of COMETRIQ for the treatment of progressive, metastatic MTC, we are subject to the various post marketing requirements, including a
requirement to conduct a phase 2 clinical trial comparing a lower dose of COMETRIQ to the approved dose of 140 mg daily COMETRIQ in progressive,
metastatic MTC and to conduct other clinical pharmacology and preclinical studies. These agencies also may impose various civil or criminal sanctions for
failure to comply with regulatory requirements, including withdrawal of product approval.

Risks Related to Our Relationships with Third Parties
We are dependent upon our collaborations with major companies, which subjects us to a number of risks.

We have established collaborations with leading pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including Bristol-Myers Squibb, Sanofi, Genentech,
GlaxoSmithKline, Merck (known as MSD outside of the United States and Canada) and Daiichi Sankyo, for the development and ultimate commercialization
of a significant number of compounds generated from our research and development efforts. We may pursue collaborations for selected unpartnered
preclinical and clinical programs and compounds. Our dependence on our relationships with existing collaborators for the development and
commercialization of our compounds subjects us to, and our dependence on future collaborators for development and commercialization of additional
compounds will subject us to, a number of risks, including:

*  we may not be able to control the amount of U.S. marketing and commercialization costs for cobimetinib (GDC-0973/XL518) we are obligated
to share under our collaboration with Genentech;

» we are not able to control the amount and timing of resources that our collaborators or potential future collaborators will devote to the
development or commercialization of drug candidates or to their marketing and distribution;

+  collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a drug candidate,
repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a drug candidate for clinical testing;

» disputes may arise between us and our collaborators that result in the delay or termination of the research, development or commercialization of
our drug candidates or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management’s attention and resources;

+  collaborators may experience financial difficulties;
»  collaborators may not be successful in their efforts to obtain regulatory approvals in a timely manner, or at all;

»  collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to
invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation;

*  business combinations or significant changes in a collaborator’s business strategy may adversely affect a collaborator’s willingness or ability to
complete its obligations under any arrangement;

» acollaborator could independently move forward with a competing drug candidate developed either independently or in collaboration with
others, including our competitors;

* we may be precluded from entering into additional collaboration arrangements with other parties in an area or field of exclusivity;

» future collaborators may require us to relinquish some important rights, such as marketing and distribution rights; and
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+ collaborations may be terminated (as occurred with respect to cabozantinib and X1.281, which were previously subject to our 2008 collaboration
agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb, and with respect to our 2009 discovery collaboration with Sanofi, which was terminated in December
2011) or allowed to expire, which would delay, and may increase the cost of development of, our drug candidates.

If any of these risks materialize, our product development efforts could be delayed and otherwise adversely affected, which could adversely impact
our business, operating results and financial condition.

If we are unable to continue current collaborations and achieve milestones or royalties, our revenues would suffer.*

We have derived substantially all of our revenues to date from collaborative research and development agreements. Revenues from research and
development collaborations depend on research funding, the achievement of milestones, and royalties we earn from any future products developed from the
collaborative research. If we are unable to successfully achieve milestones or royalties, or our collaborators fail to develop successful products, we will not
earn the revenues contemplated under such collaborative agreements.

If any of these agreements is terminated early (as occurred with respect to cabozantinib and XL.281, which were previously subject to our 2008
collaboration agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb, and with respect to our 2009 discovery collaboration with Sanofi, which was terminated in December
2011), whether unilaterally or by mutual agreement, our revenues could suffer. Most of our collaboration agreements contain early termination provisions. In
addition, from time to time we review and assess certain aspects of our collaborations, partnerships and agreements and may amend or terminate, either by
mutual agreement or pursuant to any applicable early termination provisions, such collaborations, partnerships or agreements if we deem them to be no longer
in our economic or strategic interests. We may not be able to enter into new collaboration agreements on similar or superior financial terms to offset the loss
of revenues from the termination or expiration of any of our existing or recently terminated arrangements.

We may be unable to establish collaborations for selected preclinical and clinical compounds.

Our strategy includes the pursuit of new collaborations with leading pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for the development and ultimate
commercialization of selected preclinical and clinical programs and compounds, particularly those drug candidates for which we believe that the capabilities
and resources of a partner can accelerate development and help to fully realize their therapeutic and commercial potential. We face significant competition in
seeking appropriate collaborators, and these collaborations are complex and time consuming to negotiate and document. We may not be able to negotiate
additional collaborations on acceptable terms, or at all. We are unable to predict when, if ever, we will enter into any additional collaborations because of the
numerous risks and uncertainties associated with establishing additional collaborations. If we are unable to negotiate additional collaborations, we may not be
able to realize value from a particular drug candidate, particularly those drug candidates as to which we believe a broad development program is appropriate
or for which we have determined not to continue to utilize our own resources to develop. As a result, our revenues, capital resources and product development
efforts could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to adequately protect our intellectual property, third parties may be able to use our technology, which could adversely affect our ability to
compete in the market.

Our success will depend in part upon our ability to obtain patents and maintain adequate protection of the intellectual property related to our
technologies and products. The patent positions of biotechnology companies, including our patent position, are generally uncertain and involve complex legal
and factual questions. We will be able to protect our intellectual property rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that our technologies
are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. We will continue to apply for patents covering our technologies
and products as and when we deem appropriate. However, these applications may be challenged or may fail to result in issued patents. In addition, because
patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be pending applications, unknown to us, which may later result in issued patents that cover the
production, manufacture, commercialization or use of our product candidates. Our existing patents and any future patents we obtain may not be sufficiently
broad to prevent others from practicing our technologies or from developing competing products. Furthermore, others may independently develop similar or
alternative technologies or design around our patents. In addition, our patents may be challenged or invalidated or may fail to provide us with any competitive
advantages, if, for example, others were the first to invent or to file patent applications for these inventions.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and many
companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending such rights in foreign
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jurisdictions. Many countries, including certain countries in Europe, have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant
licenses to third parties (for example, the patent owner has failed to “work” the invention in that country or the third party has patented improvements). In
addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may
have limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of the patent. Compulsory licensing of life-saving drugs is also becoming increasingly
popular in developing countries either through direct legislation or international initiatives. Such compulsory licenses could be extended to include some of
our product candidates, which could limit our potential revenue opportunities. Moreover, the legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain
developing countries, do not favor the aggressive enforcement of patent and other intellectual property protection, which makes it difficult to stop
infringement. We rely on trade secret protection for our confidential and proprietary information. We have taken security measures to protect our proprietary
information and trade secrets, but these measures may not provide adequate protection. While we seek to protect our proprietary information by entering into
confidentiality agreements with employees, collaborators and consultants, we cannot assure you that our proprietary information will not be disclosed, or that
we can meaningfully protect our trade secrets. In addition, our competitors may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information or
may otherwise gain access to our trade secrets.

Litigation or third-party claims of intellectual property infringement could require us to spend substantial time and money and adversely affect our ability
to develop and commercialize products.

Our commercial success depends in part upon our ability to avoid infringing patents and proprietary rights of third parties and not to breach any
licenses that we have entered into with regard to our technologies. Other parties have filed, and in the future are likely to file, patent applications covering
genes and gene fragments, techniques and methodologies relating to model systems and products and technologies that we have developed or intend to
develop. If patents covering technologies required by our operations are issued to others, we may have to obtain licenses from third parties, which may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and may require us to pay substantial royalties, grant a cross-license to some of our patents to another
patent holder or redesign the formulation of a product candidate so that we do not infringe third-party patents, which may be impossible to obtain or could
require substantial time and expense.

Third parties may accuse us of employing their proprietary technology without authorization. In addition, third parties may obtain patents that relate
to our technologies and claim that use of such technologies infringes on their patents. Regardless of their merit, such claims could require us to incur
substantial costs, including the diversion of management and technical personnel, in defending ourselves against any such claims or enforcing our patents. In
the event that a successful claim of infringement is brought against us, we may be required to pay damages and obtain one or more licenses from third parties.
We may not be able to obtain these licenses at a reasonable cost, or at all. Defense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain any of these licenses could adversely
affect our ability to develop and commercialize products.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we, our employees or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade
secrets of their former employers.

Many of our employees and independent contractors were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies,
including our competitors or potential competitors. We may be subject to claims that these employees, independent contractors or we have inadvertently or
otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these
claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention. If we fail in
defending such claims, in addition to paying money claims, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. A loss of key research personnel
and/or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize certain product candidates, which could severely harm our business.

Risks Related to Employees and Location
The loss of key personnel or the inability to retain and, where necessary, attract additional personnel could impair our ability to expand our operations.

We are highly dependent upon the principal members of our management and scientific staff, the loss of whose services might adversely impact the
achievement of our objectives and the continuation of existing collaborations. Also, we may not have sufficient personnel to execute our business plan.
Retaining and, where necessary, recruiting qualified clinical and scientific personnel will be critical to support activities related to advancing our clinical and
preclinical development programs, and supporting our collaborative arrangements and our internal proprietary research and development efforts. The
Restructurings could have an adverse impact on our ability to retain and recruit qualified personnel. Competition is intense for experienced clinical personnel,
and we may be unable to retain or recruit clinical personnel with the expertise or experience necessary to allow us to pursue collaborations, develop our
products and core technologies or expand our operations to the
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extent otherwise possible. Further, all of our employees are employed “at will” and, therefore, may leave our employment at any time.
Our collaborations with outside scientists may be subject to restriction and change.

We work with scientific and clinical advisors and collaborators at academic and other institutions that assist us in our research and development
efforts. These advisors and collaborators are not our employees and may have other commitments that limit their availability to us. Although these advisors
and collaborators generally agree not to do competing work, if a conflict of interest between their work for us and their work for another entity arises, we may
lose their services. In such a circumstance, we may lose work performed by them, and our development efforts with respect to the matters on which they were
working may be significantly delayed or otherwise adversely affected. In addition, although our advisors and collaborators sign agreements not to disclose our
confidential information, it is possible that valuable proprietary knowledge may become publicly known through them.

Our headquarters are located near known earthquake fault zones, and the occurrence of an earthquake or other disaster could damage our facilities and
equipment, which could harm our operations.

Our headquarters are located in South San Francisco, California, and therefore our facilities are vulnerable to damage from earthquakes. We do not
carry earthquake insurance. We are also vulnerable to damage from other types of disasters, including fire, floods, power loss, communications failures,
terrorism and similar events since any insurance we may maintain may not be adequate to cover our losses. If any disaster were to occur, our ability to operate
our business at our facilities could be seriously, or potentially completely, impaired. In addition, the unique nature of our research activities could cause
significant delays in our programs and make it difficult for us to recover from a disaster. Accordingly, an earthquake or other disaster could materially and
adversely harm our ability to conduct business.

Security breaches may disrupt our operations, subject us to liability and harm our operating results.*

Our network security and data recovery measures may not be adequate to protect against computer viruses, break-ins, and similar disruptions from
unauthorized tampering with our computer systems. The misappropriation, theft, sabotage or any other type of security breach with respect to any of our
proprietary and confidential information that is electronically stored, including research or clinical data, could subject us to liability and have a material
adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition. Additionally, any break-in or trespass of our facilities that results in the
misappropriation, theft, sabotage or any other type of security breach with respect to our proprietary and confidential information, including research or
clinical data, or that results in damage to our research and development equipment and assets, could subject us to liability and have a material adverse impact
on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related to Environmental and Product Liability

We use hazardous chemicals and radioactive and biological materials in our business. Any claims relating to improper handling, storage or disposal of
these materials could be time consuming and costly.

Our research and development processes involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, including chemicals and radioactive and biological
materials. Our operations produce hazardous waste products. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or discharge and any resultant injury
from these materials. Federal, state and local laws and regulations govern the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous materials. We
may face liability for any injury or contamination that results from our use or the use by third parties of these materials, and such liability may exceed our
insurance coverage and our total assets. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be expensive, and current or future environmental
regulations may impair our research, development and production efforts.

In addition, our collaborators may use hazardous materials in connection with our collaborative efforts. In the event of a lawsuit or investigation, we
could be held responsible for any injury caused to persons or property by exposure to, or release of, these hazardous materials used by these parties. Further,
we may be required to indemnify our collaborators against all damages and other liabilities arising out of our development activities or products produced in
connection with these collaborations.

We face potential product liability exposure far in excess of our limited insurance coverage.

We may be held liable if any product we or our collaborators develop causes injury or is found otherwise unsuitable during product testing,
manufacturing, marketing or sale. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims could result in decreased demand for our product
candidates, injury to our reputation, withdrawal of patients from our clinical trials, substantial monetary awards to trial participants and the inability to
commercialize any products that we may develop.
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These claims might be made directly by consumers, health care providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or testing our products. We have
obtained limited product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials and commercial activities for cabozantinib in the amount of $15.0 million per
occurrence and $15.0 million in the aggregate. However, our insurance may not reimburse us or may not be sufficient to reimburse us for expenses or losses
we may suffer. Moreover, if insurance coverage becomes more expensive, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in
sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. On occasion, juries have awarded large judgments in class action lawsuits for claims based on
drugs that had unanticipated side effects. In addition, the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, in general, have been subject to significant medical
malpractice litigation. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could harm our reputation and business and would decrease
our cash reserves.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock and the 2019 Notes
We expect that our quarterly results of operations will fluctuate, and this fluctuation could cause our stock price to decline, causing investor losses.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to fluctuate in the future. A number of factors, many of which we cannot
control, could subject our operating results to volatility, including:

»  the progress and scope of our development and commercialization activities;

* the commercial success of COMETRIQ and the revenues we generate;

+ recognition of upfront licensing or other fees or revenues;

+  payments of non-refundable upfront or licensing fees, or payment for cost-sharing expenses, to third parties;
» acceptance of our technologies and platforms;

+  the success rate of our efforts leading to milestone payments and royalties;

+ the introduction of new technologies or products by our competitors;

+ the timing and willingness of collaborators to further develop or, if approved, commercialize our product candidates out-licensed to them;
*  our ability to enter into new collaborative relationships;

» the termination or non-renewal of existing collaborations;

+  the timing and amount of expenses incurred for clinical development and manufacturing of cabozantinib;

» adjustments to expenses accrued in prior periods based on management’s estimates after the actual level of activity relating to such expenses
becomes more certain;

* the impairment of acquired goodwill and other assets;
+  the impact of our restructuring activities; and

+  general and industry-specific economic conditions that may affect our collaborators’ research and development expenditures.

A large portion of our expenses, including expenses for facilities, equipment and personnel, are relatively fixed in the short term. If we fail to achieve
anticipated levels of revenues, whether due to the expiration or termination of existing contracts, our failure to obtain new contracts, our inability to meet
milestones or for other reasons, we may not be able to correspondingly reduce our operating expenses, which could significantly harm our operating results
for a particular fiscal period.

Due to the possibility of fluctuations in our revenues and expenses, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are not a
good indication of our future performance. As a result, in some future quarters, our operating results may not meet the expectations of securities analysts and
investors, which could result in a decline in the price of our common stock.

Our stock price may be extremely volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has been highly volatile, and we believe the trading price of our common stock will remain highly volatile
and may fluctuate substantially due to factors such as the following, many of which we cannot control:

*  adverse results or delays in our or our collaborators’ clinical trials;

+ announcement of FDA approval or non-approval, or delays in the FDA review process, of cabozantinib or our collaborators’ product candidates
or those of our competitors or actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our, our collaborators’ or our competitors’ clinical trials;
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+  the commercial success of COMETRIQ and the revenues we generate;

+  the timing of achievement of our clinical, regulatory, partnering and other milestones, such as the commencement of clinical development, the
completion of a clinical trial, the filing for regulatory approval or the establishment of collaborative arrangements for one or more of our out-
licensed programs and compounds;

» actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to cabozantinib or our clinical trials for cabozantinib;

+  the announcement of new products by our competitors;

» quarterly variations in our or our competitors’ results of operations;

* developments in our relationships with our collaborators, including the termination or modification of our agreements;
»  conflicts or litigation with our collaborators;

+ litigation, including intellectual property infringement and product liability lawsuits, involving us;

+ failure to achieve operating results projected by securities analysts;

» changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

+ financing transactions;

* developments in the biotechnology or pharmaceutical industry;

» sales of large blocks of our common stock or sales of our common stock by our executive officers, directors and significant stockholders;
* departures of key personnel or board members;

+ developments concerning current or future collaborations;

+  FDA or international regulatory actions;

+  third-party reimbursement policies;

+ disposition of any of our subsidiaries, technologies or compounds; and

+  general market, economic and political conditions and other factors, including factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating
performance of our competitors.

These factors, as well as general economic, political and market conditions, may materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Excessive volatility may continue for an extended period of time following the date of this report.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted. A
securities class action suit against us could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources, which could have a material and
adverse effect on our business.

Future sales of our common stock or conversion of our convertible notes, or the perception that such sales or conversions may occur, may depress our
stock price and adversely impact the trading price of the 2019 Notes.

A substantial number of shares of our common stock is reserved for issuance upon conversion of the 2019 Notes, upon the exercise of stock options,
upon vesting of restricted stock unit awards, upon sales under our employee stock purchase program and upon conversion of the Deerfield Notes. The
issuance and sale of substantial amounts of our common stock, including upon conversion of convertible notes, or the perception that such issuances and sales
may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity or equity-
related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate. Any market that develops for the 2019 Notes is likely to influence and be
influenced by the market for our common stock. For example, the price of our common stock could be affected by possible sales of common stock by
investors who view the 2019 Notes as a more attractive means of equity participation in our company and by hedging or arbitrage trading activity that we
expect to occur involving our common stock.

The accounting method for convertible debt securities that may be settled in cash, such as the 2019 Notes, could have a material effect on our reported
financial results.

Under Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Subtopic 470-20, issuers of certain convertible debt instruments that have a net settlement
feature and may be settled in cash upon conversion, including partial cash settlement, are required to separately account for the liability (debt) and equity
(conversion option) components of the instrument. As a result of the application of ASC 470-20, we recognized $143.2 million as the initial debt discount
with a corresponding increase to paid-in capital, the equity component, for the 2019 Notes. We will be required to record the amortization of this debt
discount over the terms of the 2019 Notes, which may adversely affect our reported or future financial results and the market price of our common stock. In
addition, if the 2019 Notes become convertible, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to
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reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the 2019 Notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result in a material reduction
of our net working capital. Finally, we expect to use the if-converted method to compute earnings per share, which could be more dilutive than using the
treasury stock method.

Certain provisions in the 2019 Notes and the indenture pursuant to which such notes were issued could delay or prevent an otherwise beneficial takeover
or takeover attempt.

Certain provisions in the 2019 Notes and the indenture pursuant to which such notes were issued could make it more difficult or more expensive for
a third party to acquire us. For example, if an acquisition event constitutes a Fundamental Change, holders of the 2019 Notes will have the right to require us
to purchase their notes in cash. In addition, if an acquisition event constitutes a make-whole Fundamental Change, we may be required to increase the
conversion rate for holders who convert their 2019 Notes in connection with such make-whole Fundamental Change. In any of these cases, and in other cases,
our obligations under the 2019 Notes and the indenture pursuant to which such notes were issued, as well as provisions of our organizational documents and
other agreements, could increase the cost of acquiring us or otherwise discourage a third party from acquiring us or removing incumbent management.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent or deter attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management, which could cause the
market price of our common stock to decline.

Provisions in our corporate charter and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent an acquisition of our company, a change in control, or attempts by
our stockholders to replace or remove members of our current Board of Directors. Because our Board of Directors is responsible for appointing the members
of our management team, these provisions could in turn affect any attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our management team. These
provisions include:

* aclassified Board of Directors;
+  aprohibition on actions by our stockholders by written consent;
+ the inability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

+  the ability of our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a “poison pill” that
would work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our
Board of Directors;

» limitations on the removal of directors; and
+ advance notice requirements for director nominations and stockholder proposals.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
which prohibits a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the
date of the transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a
prescribed manner.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

Not applicable.

Item 6. Exhibits.
(a) Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is incorporated by reference here.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

EXELIXIS, INC.

October 30, 2013 /s/  FRANK KARBE
Date Frank Karbe

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporation by Reference

Form

File Number

Exhibit/
Appendix
Reference

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4*

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

10.1

10.2

Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Exelixis, Inc.

Certificate of Amendment of Amended
and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Exelixis, Inc.

Certificate of Amendment of Amended
and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Exelixis, Inc.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of
Exelixis, Inc.

Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

Form of Warrant, dated June 10, 2009,
to purchase 500,000 shares of Exelixis,
Inc. common stock in favor of
Symphony Evolution Holdings LLC.

Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated
June 9, 2005, between Exelixis, Inc.
and Symphony Evolution Holdings
LLC.

Form Warrant to Purchase Common
Stock of Exelixis, Inc. issued or
issuable to Deerfield Private Design
Fund, L.P., Deerfield Private Design
International, L.P., Deerfield Partners,
L.P. and Deerfield International
Limited

Form of Note, dated July 1, 2010, in
favor of Deerfield Private Design
International, L.P.

Form of Note, dated July 1, 2010, in
favor of Deerfield Private Design
Fund, L.P.

Indenture dated August 14, 2012 by
and between Exelixis, Inc. and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association

First Supplemental Indenture dated
August 14, 2012 to Indenture dated
August 14, 2012 by and between
Exelixis, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association

Form of 4.25% Convertible Senior
Subordinated Note due 2019

Amendment No. 2 dated August 1,
2013 to Note Purchase Agreement,
dated June 2, 2010, by and between
Deerfield Private Design Fund, L.P.,
Deerfield Private Design International,
L.P. and Exelixis, Inc.

Sublease, dated August 5, 2013,
between Exelixis, Inc. and Sutro
Biopharma, Inc.

10-K

10-K

8-K

8-K

S-1,
as amended

10-Q,
as amended

10-Q

8-K

10-Q

10-Q

8-K

8-K

000-30235

000-30235

000-30235

000-30235

333-96335

000-30235

000-30235

000-30235

000-30235

000-30235

000-30235

000-30235

000-30235
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Incorporation by Reference

Exhibit/
Exhibit Appendix Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File Number Reference Filing Date Herewith
10.3 Consent to Sublease, dated August 5, X
2013, by and among Britannia Pointe
Grand Limited Partnership, Exelixis,
Inc. and Sutro Biopharma, Inc.
10.4 Employment Agreement between X
Exelixis, Inc. and Pamela A.
Simonton
31.1 Certification required by Rule 13a- X
14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
31.2 Certification required by Rule 13a- X
14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
32.1% Certification by the Chief Executive X
Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer of Exelixis, Inc., as required
by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b)
and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code (18
U.S.C. 1350).
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X
Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension X
Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension X
Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels X
Linkbase Document
101.PRE =~ XBRL Taxonomy Extension X
Presentation Linkbase Document
* Confidential treatment granted for certain portions of this exhibit.
I This certification accompanies this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference

into any filing of Exelixis, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made
before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Amendment No. 2 to Note Purchase Agreement

This AMENDMENT No. 2, dated as of August 1, 2013 (this “Amendment”), to the Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of
June 2, 2010, as amended by that certain Consent and Amendment, dated as of August 6, 2012 (as the same may from time to time
be further amended, modified, supplemented or restated, the “Agreement”), by and among Exelixis, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the “Borrower”), and those purchasers set forth on the signature page hereof (individually, a “Purchaser” and together, the
“Purchasers” and, collectively with the Borrower, the “Parties™). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have
the meaning given to such terms in the Agreement.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, on July 2, 2010, the Purchasers purchased $124,000,000 aggregate principal amount of secured convertible
notes from the Borrower; and

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Purchasers amend certain provisions of the Agreement and the Security
Agreement and the Purchasers have agreed to amend certain provisions of the Agreement and the Security Agreement, but only to
the extent, in accordance with the terms set forth below.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements set forth herein, the Purchasers and the Borrower agree as
follows:

1. Amendments to the Agreement. The Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

() Section 1.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended by replacing the definition of
“Development/Commercialization Revenue” with the following:

“Development/Commercialization Revenue” means, with respect to any fiscal year of the Borrower, (a) all cash
consideration actually received by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries from any Person, other than the Borrower or
any of its Subsidiaries (other than cash consideration actually received by a non-United States Person from a United
States Person), during such fiscal year relating to (i) upfront payments pursuant to any
Development/Commercialization Agreements entered into after the Closing Date, and (ii) milestone, profit share and
royalty payments pursuant to any Development/Commercialization Agreements, and (b) any cash actually received
by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries from any Person, other than the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than
cash actually received by a non-United States Person from a United States Person), during such fiscal year from the
monetization of any non-cash consideration relating to payments described in clauses (i) and (ii) above; provided, in
each case, any payments received by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of the expenses of sponsored
research and any other expenses and capital expenditures incurred by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and
reimbursed pursuant to any Development Commercialization Agreement shall be excluded from the definition of
Development/Commercialization Revenue.

(b) Section 5.2(c) is amended to add the following new clause (vii):



“(vii) prepayments of the Convertible Notes with, or effected by conversions into or exchanges for, Common Stock,
together with cash payments in an aggregate amount not to exceed $25,000,000.”

2. Amendments to the Security Agreement. The Security Agreement is hereby amended by adding the
following provision to the end of Section 1(b):

Furthermore, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 1(a) above, the Collateral shall not include voting
equity interests in a Foreign Subsidiary or Foreign Subsidiary Holding Company in excess of 65% of the total voting
equity interests in such Subsidiary. For purposes hereof, “Foreign Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is not
organized under the laws of a jurisdiction of the United States, and “Foreign Subsidiary Holding Company”
means any Subsidiary if all of the assets of such Subsidiary (other than de minimis cash and assets required to
operate) consist of equity interests in a Foreign Subsidiary (such voting equity interests excluded from the
Collateral, the “Excluded Foreign Equity”). For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent the Secured Party has any
security interests in Excluded Foreign Equity, such security interests are hereby released.

3. Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, and by each Party
on separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the
same agreement. This Amendment shall become effective upon the execution hereof by the Borrower and the Purchasers.

4, Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of New York, without giving effect to the conflicts of laws principles thereof other than Sections 5-1401 and 5-1402 of
the General Obligations Law of such State.

5. Effect of Amendment. Except as amended by this Amendment, each of the Agreement and the Security
Agreement remains in full force and effect. For the avoidance of doubt, this Amendment shall be deemed to be a Finance
Document as defined in the Agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Purchasers and the Borrower have caused this Amendment to be duly executed
as of the date first written above.

BORROWER: PURCHASERS:
EXELIXIS, INC. DEERFIELD PRIVATE DESIGN FUND, L.P.

Deerfield Mgmt, L.P., its General

By: Partner
By: /s/ Frank Karbe By: J.E. Flynn Capital LLC, its General Partner
Name: Frank Karbe By: /s/ James E. Flynn
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Name: James E. Flynn

Its: President

DEERFIELD PRIVATE DESIGN
INTERNATIONAL, L.P.

Deerfield Mgmt, L.P., its General

By: Partner

By: J.E. Flynn Capital LLC, its General Partner
By: /s/ James E. Flynn

Name: James E. Flynn

Its: President



Exhibit 10.2

SUBLEASE

THIS SUBLEASE (the “Sublease”), dated for reference purposes only as of August 5, 2013 (the “Execution Date”), is made by
and between EXELIXIS INC., a Delaware corporation (“Sublandlord”), and SUTRO BIOPHARMA, INC., a Delaware corporation
(“Subtenant”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Sublandlord and Britannia Pointe Grand Limited Partnership, a Delaware limited partnership (“Master
Landlord”), are parties to that certain Lease dated as of May 24, 2001, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of
February 28, 2003, and that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated as of July 20, 2004 (as amended, the “Master Lease™), pursuant
to which Master Landlord leased to Sublandlord the building located at 240 East Grand Avenue (the “Master Premises”), in South San
Francisco, California, as more fully described in the Master Lease. The parties acknowledge that a copy of the Master Lease has been
delivered by Sublandlord to Subtenant.

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire that Sublandlord sublet to Subtenant and that Subtenant sublet from Sublandlord a portion
of the first floor of the Master Premises, consisting of approximately 17,948.92 rentable square feet as shown on Exhibit A (the
“Subleased Premises™).

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Sublease. Sublandlord does hereby sublet to Subtenant and Subtenant does hereby sublet from Sublandlord, the Subleased
Premises, together with the nonexclusive right to use the restrooms and showers located on the first floor of the Master Premises, the
entry vestibule, lunchroom, mailroom, hallways, elevators, stairwells, mechanical closets, shipping and receiving room, approximately
138 square feet located in the server room marked as room #115 on Exhibit A and other spaces designated by Sublandlord from time to
time for the non-exclusive use of the tenants of the Master Premises, and the Common Areas (as defined in the Master Lease) exterior to
the Master Premises (collectively “Common Areas”). Subtenant shall have exclusive use of the chemical and bio-waste storage areas
located within the Subleased Premises, and shall have no right to use any other chemical and bio-waste storage areas in the Master
Premises. The parties hereto agree to the rentable square footage of the Subleased Premises set forth above and Subtenant’s Share
(defined in Section 3(b) below) may be adjusted by Sublandlord in connection with a modification of the Common Area to
accommodate further subletting of any portion of the Master Premises.

(a) FF&E. The Sublease hereunder also includes the license to use Sublandlord’s offices, cubicles, and other FF&E
located within the Sublease Premises, a list of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “FF&E”). Subtenant shall maintain the FF&E
in the same condition as received throughout the Term. In the event of any damage to the FF&E, Subtenant shall provide written notice
to Sublandlord of such damage and Subtenant shall make any and all repairs that are necessary at Subtenant’s sole cost and expense. If
Subtenant fails to make any repairs to the FF&E for more than fifteen (15) days after notice from Sublandlord (although notice shall
not be required if there is an emergency), Sublandlord may, but shall not be required to, make the repairs, and Subtenant shall pay the
reasonable cost of the repairs to Sublandlord within thirty (30) days after receipt of an invoice,



together with an administrative charge in an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the cost of the repairs. At all times during the Term,
Subtenant shall insure the FF&E for its full replacement value. Subtenant shall surrender the FF&E on the End Date or earlier
termination of this Sublease in the same condition as received, reasonable wear and tear excepted. This Sublease and the license rights
granted in connection herewith shall not include any right to require Sublandlord to provide any maintenance or repair or any technical
or server support for any FF&E or any facilities within the Sublease Premises. Sublandlord makes no representation or warranty as to
the FF&E, and hereby expressly DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTIES AS TO MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE.

2. Term.

(a) Master Landlord’s Consent. Sublandlord and Subtenant expressly acknowledge and agree that this Sublease is subject to
Master Landlord’s prior written consent to this Sublease, on a form to be provided by Master Landlord that is reasonably acceptable to
Sublandlord and Subtenant (“Master Landlord’s Consent”). Sublandlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain Master
Landlord’s Consent, and Subtenant agrees to cooperate in all reasonable respects in connection therewith. Master Landlord’s Consent,
unless waived by Subtenant in writing, shall provide that Master Landlord approves of the Alterations described in Exhibit D to this
Sublease and that the provisions of Section 13.1 of the Master Lease relating to “Permitted Transfers” shall also be applicable to
Subtenant. If Master Landlord’s Consent is not obtained within thirty (30) days after execution of this Sublease by both Subtenant and
Sublandlord, then either Sublandlord or Subtenant may terminate this Sublease by giving written notice thereof to the other prior to
receipt of Master Landlord’s Consent, and Sublandlord shall return to Subtenant any amounts delivered by Subtenant under this
Sublease. Neither party shall have any liability to the other for any termination or cancellation of this Sublease as a result of Master
Landlord’s failure or refusal to consent to this Sublease, unless such party by its willful act caused Master Landlord to refuse timely
consent to this Sublease. Any fees charged by Master Landlord in connection with the Master Landlord’s Consent shall be at
Sublandlord’s cost; provided that Subtenant shall within five (5) business days of demand, pay Sublandlord for any increase in such
fees to the extent specifically resulting from Subtenant’s request for approval for Alterations, signage or other special request made by
Subtenant during the process of seeking Master Landlord’s Consent.

(b) Sublease Term. Conditioned upon receipt of the fully-executed Master Landlord’s Consent, this Sublease shall be for a
term (the “Sublease Term”) commencing on the later of (A) August 5, 2013, or (B) completion of all required county and other
regulatory agency environmental health and safety closures with respect to the Subleased Premises (in either case, the “Start Date”),
and ending on March 31, 2017, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of this Sublease (as applicable, the “End Date”).
Upon Sublandlord’s delivery of the Subleased Premises to Subtenant, Sublandlord and Subtenant shall complete and execute the
Delivery Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit C, confirming the Start Date and scheduled End Date. If the Start Date shall not occur
for any reason on or before September 15, 2013, then either party shall have the right to terminate the Sublease upon written notice to
the other whereupon any monies previously paid by Subtenant to Sublandlord shall be reimbursed to Subtenant.

(c) Delivery and Condition. Sublandlord shall deliver the Subleased Premises to Subtenant on the Start Date in “AS IS,
WHERE IS” condition, and Sublandlord warrants that it has



complied with its obligations under the Master Lease, including its repair and maintenance obligations and its obligations to comply
with applicable laws as such obligations are set forth in the Master Lease. Sublandlord further warrants that the existing heating,
ventilating and air conditioning system (“HVAC”) (which includes, without limitation, all HVAC systems serving the vivarium and lab
areas within the Subleased Premises), electrical, plumbing, fire alarm, sprinkler, lighting, and all other such elements in the Subleased
Premises shall be in good operating condition on the Start Date, and that the Subleased Premises, to Sublandlord’s actual knowledge,
do not contain hazardous substances as defined in and in violation of Section 11.6 of the Master Lease. If a non-compliance with such
warranties exists as of the Start Date (or if the Subleased Premises contains hazardous substances in violation of Sublandlord’s
obligations under the Master Lease), Sublandlord shall, at Sublandlord’s sole cost and expense, promptly after receipt of written notice
from Subtenant setting forth with specificity the nature and extent of such non-compliance, malfunction or failure (or existence of
hazardous substances), rectify the same, or, if responsibility for a particular item is the responsibility of the Master Landlord,
Sublandlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause Master Landlord to rectify the same. To be effective, Subtenant’s
written notice must be received by Sublandlord on or before the three (3) month anniversary of the Start Date.

3. Rent.

(a) Base Rent. Subtenant shall pay to Sublandlord monthly base rent (the “Base Rent”) for the Subleased Premises during
the initial Sublease Term, as follows:

Rental Rate/ Rental Rate/

TERM Rent Per Sq Ft/ Per Month Aggregate Rent Per Month
Months 1-12 $2.00 $35,897.83
Months 13-24 $2.15 $38,590.17
Months 25-36 $2.30 $41,282.51
Months 37-End Date $2.45 $43,974.84

Base Rent for the first full month in which Base Rent is due shall be paid on the Execution Date. On the first day of each month, Base
Rent shall be due and payable, in advance, at the address specified for Sublandlord below, or at such other place as Sublandlord
designates in writing, without any prior notice or demand and without any deductions or setoff whatsoever (except as otherwise expressly
provided in this Sublease). If the Start Date or End Date occurs on a day other than the first or last day, respectively, of a calendar month,
then the Base Rent for such fractional month will be prorated on the basis of the actual number of days in such month.

(b) Additional Rent. During the Sublease Term, if Sublandlord shall be charged for additional rent or other sums pursuant to
any of the provisions of the Master Lease, including, without limitation, “Operating Expenses”, as defined in Section 7.2 of the Master
Lease, and real property taxes, as set forth in Section 6.2 of the Master Lease (but excluding real property taxes arising from
improvements performed by Sublandlord to any portion of the Master Premises outside the Subleased Premises after the Execution
Date hereof), as each is incorporated herein by reference, but excepting those sums incurred by Sublandlord as a result of Sublandlord’s
breach of the Master Lease not caused by Subtenant, Subtenant shall pay, as “Additional Rent,” 100% of such additional rent or sums
that in Sublandlord’s reasonable opinion should be allocated solely to the Subleased Premises, and if in



Sublandlord’s reasonable opinion the same cannot reasonably be so allocated, then 29.44% (the 17,948.92 rentable square feet of
Sublease Premises divided by the 60,967 rentable square feet in the Master Premises) of those charges that relate generally to the
Master Premises (as applicable, “Subtenant’s Share”); provided, however, that Subtenant shall be entitled to Subtenant’s Share of any
refund of such additional rent or sums received by Sublandlord from Master Landlord in accordance with Section 7.4 of the Master
Lease or of any refund of real property taxes paid pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Master Lease if Subtenant paid Subtenant’s Share of
such real property taxes. In the event of any further subletting of any portion of the Master Premises and a modification of the Common
Area, Subtenant’s Share may be recalculated by Sublandlord. If Subtenant shall procure any additional services from Master Landlord,
or if additional rent or other sums are incurred by Sublandlord as Tenant under the Master Lease for Subtenant’s sole benefit, Subtenant
shall pay 100% of the cost thereof and shall, within ten (10) says of demand therefor, make such payment to Sublandlord or Master
Landlord, as Sublandlord shall direct, and such charges shall not be prorated between Sublandlord and Subtenant. Any other rent or
other sums payable by Subtenant under this Sublease shall constitute and be due as Additional Rent. All Additional Rent that is payable
to Sublandlord shall be paid at the time and place that Base Rent is paid, except as otherwise provided in this Sublease. Sublandlord
will have the same remedies for a default in the payment of any Additional Rent as for a default in the payment of Base Rent. Together,
Base Rent, Additional Rent and any other sums due hereunder from Subtenant are sometimes referred to in this Sublease as “Rent”. In
the event of damage to the Subleased Premises, Rent shall abate proportionately under this Sublease to the extent that rent abates under
the Master Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Sublease, Subtenant shall not be required to pay any
additional rent due from, or perform any obligation of, Sublandlord as Tenant under the Master Lease, that is (i) fairly allocable to any
period of time prior to the Start Date, or (ii) payable as a result of a default by Sublandlord as Tenant under the Master Lease not
caused by a default by Subtenant under this Sublease.

(c¢) Late Charge; Interest. If Subtenant fails to pay any Rent within five (5) days of the date when due, Subtenant shall pay a
late charge and interest thereon in accordance with the terms of Section 3.2 of the Master Lease, which is incorporated herein by this
reference. No endorsement or statement on a check or letter accompanying a check or payment shall be considered an accord and
satisfaction of past due Rent. Subtenant’s covenant to pay Rent is independent of every other covenant in this Sublease.

4. Utilities and Other Services; After Hours HVAC.

(@) Estimated Utilities and other Services Cost. Pursuant to Section 8 of the Master Lease, Sublandlord pays certain
charges for water, gas, heat, light, electricity, power, sewer, janitorial services, elevator, HVAC and boiler testing and maintenance, fire
alarm and protection, waste disposal, air and water treatment, emergency generator and uninterrupted power supply testing and
maintenance furnished to, or for, the Master Premises, and such other services or utilities supplied to or consumed in or with respect to
the Master Premises (collectively, the “Services”), directly to the providers thereof. Within thirty (30) days following expiration of
each calendar year, Sublandlord shall provide to Subtenant Sublandlord’s estimate of Subtenant’s Share of the cost of the Services for
the upcoming year (“Estimated Services Cost”), along with copies of any invoices from relevant providers, if requested by Subtenant.
The Subtenant’s Share of the Estimated Services Cost for the months between the Start Date and the end of calendar year 2013 is $.20
per square foot per month, which may be changed from time to time by notice to Subtenant if Sublandlord has reason to believe that its
estimate



is less than actual cost of the Services. Within ten (10) days of demand, Subtenant shall pay each month, as Additional Rent,
Subtenant’s Share of the Estimated Services Cost.

(b) Annual True-up. Within ninety (90) days following the end of each calendar year (or as soon thereafter as is reasonably
possible), Sublandlord shall deliver to Subtenant a statement of Subtenant’s Share of the actual cost of the Services incurred for the
preceding year, together with copies of all invoices for the Services if requested by Subtenant. If on the basis of such statement
Subtenant owes an amount that is more or less than the estimated payments for the preceding year previously made by Subtenant,
Subtenant or Sublandlord, as the case may be, shall pay the deficiency to the other party within thirty (30) days after delivery of the
statement. Failure or inability of Sublandlord to deliver the annual statement within such ninety (90) day period shall not impair or
constitute a waiver of Subtenant’s obligation to pay in accordance with this Section for the Services it consumes, or cause Sublandlord
to incur any liability for damages.

(c) Allocation Based on Excess Consumption. In the event that at any time during the Sublease Term Sublandlord
reasonably believes that any occupant of the Master Premises is consuming more than its proportionate share of utilities, then
Sublandlord shall engage Palmer Electric, or other company acceptable to both parties in their reasonable discretion, to perform a
measurement of the utilities consumption by all occupants of Master Premises. If such measurement reflects that Subtenant is
consuming more than its proportionate share of utilities Sublandlord shall be entitled to charge Subtenant for the costs of such excess
consumption calculated in a commercially reasonable manner.

(d) Phone and Data. Subtenant shall also contract directly with or otherwise obtain telephone and data services and any other
services desired by the Subtenant and not provided by Master Landlord for the Subleased Premises.

(e) HVAC Hours of Operation. The HVAC in the entire building in which the Subleased Premises are located is operated by
the Sublandlord on a twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week (“24/7”) basis, and the costs and expenses of the HVAC
are included in the Estimated Services Costs. In the event that Subtenant has any concerns about the operation of the HVAC, Subtenant
shall give notice as follows: between the hours of 8:00 am and 5:00 pm Monday through Friday, by e-mailing the Facilities staff at:
facilities@exelixis.com or between the hours of 5:00 pm and 8:00 am on weekdays, 8:00 am and 5:00 pm on Saturdays and Sundays
including holidays, calling the Facilities “On Call” phone number at 650-837-7200, and Sublandlord shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to respond to such concerns; provided that Sublandlord may bill to Subtenant overtime charges, if any, Sublandlord incurs in
connection with having its facilities vendor respond to Subtenant (the current charges are $85.00 per hour but are subject to change
from time to time).

5. Security Deposit. Concurrently with Subtenant’s execution of this Sublease, Subtenant shall provide to Sublandlord a cash Security
Deposit (“Security Deposit”) in the amount of Forty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($40,000.00). If Subtenant fails to pay Rent or
any other sums as and when due hereunder, or otherwise defaults with respect to any provision of this Sublease beyond the applicable
notice and cure period, Sublandlord may (but shall not be obligated to) use, apply or retain all or any portion of the Security Deposit for
payment of any sum for which Subtenant is obligated or which will compensate Sublandlord for any costs, loss or damage which
Sublandlord may suffer thereby. Any draw or partial draw of the Security Deposit shall not constitute a waiver by Sublandlord of its
right to enforce its other remedies hereunder, at law or in equity. If any portion of the Security Deposit is



so used or applied, Subtenant shall, within ten (10) days after written demand therefor, deposit cash with Sublandlord in an amount
sufficient to restore the Security Deposit to its original amount. Subtenant’s failure to do so shall be a default of this Sublease.
Sublandlord shall not be required to keep the Security Deposit separate from its general funds, and Subtenant shall not be entitled to
interest thereon. If Subtenant shall default more than three (3) times in the payment of Base Rent or Additional Rent, irrespective of
whether or not such default is cured, then Subtenant shall deliver to Sublandlord a replacement Security Deposit within ten (10) days
after demand by Sublandlord in an amount equal to three (3) times the Base Rent and Additional Rent. If Subtenant fully and faithfully
performs every provision of this Sublease to be performed by it, the Security Deposit or any remaining balance thereof shall be returned
to Subtenant, or, at Sublandlord’s discretion, Subtenant’s last assignee, if applicable, within thirty (30) days after the expiration of the
Sublease Term (or earlier termination of the Sublease) and Subtenant’s vacation and surrender of the Subleased Premises in accordance
with the terms of this Sublease. Subtenant hereby waives the provisions of California Civil Code Section 1950.7 (other than Paragraph
1950.7(b)) and 1951.7 and agrees that the Security Deposit shall be governed by the provisions of this Sublease.

6. Compliance with Laws; Use. The Subleased Premises shall be used for office, research and development, laboratory, vivarium,
manufacturing, warehousing, administrative uses and all related legal uses, as permitted under the Master Lease and approved by the
City of South San Francisco and any other governmental entity having jurisdiction over the Subleased Premises. Subtenant and its
employees, agents, contractors and invitees (the “Subtenant Controlled Parties”) shall comply with all statutes, codes, ordinances,
orders, rules and regulations of any municipal or governmental entity, including, without limitation, all applicable federal, state and local
Laws or regulations governing protection of, or damage to the environment, or the treatment, storage or disposal of hazardous
substances (collectively referred to as “Laws”), regarding the operation of Subtenant’s business and Subtenant’s particular use of the
Subleased Premises. In addition to the foregoing, Subtenant shall comply with the terms of Section 11 of the Master Lease, which are
incorporated herein by this reference (provided, however, that all references therein to “Landlord” shall mean and refer to Master
Landlord, except for any indemnity obligations thereunder, which shall be for the benefit of both Sublandlord and Master Landlord,
references to “Tenant” shall mean “Subtenant”, references to “Building” or “Property” shall mean the “Subleased Premises” and
references to “Rent Commencement Date” shall mean the “Start Date”), and any other rules and regulations of the Master Premises
adopted by Master Landlord from time to time, provided that a copy thereof is made available to Subtenant; provided, however, that
Subtenant shall not be required to perform any alteration, addition or change of the Subleased Premises required by law, regulation,
ordinance or order of any public authority unless such alteration, addition or change is required as a result of (i) Subtenant’s particular
use of the Subleased Premises or (ii) any alteration to the Subleased Premises made by or on behalf of Subtenant, and/or any application
made by or on behalf of Subtenant for governmental permits, licenses or approvals. Under no circumstances shall Subtenant be liable
for any hazardous substances present at any time on or about the Subleased Premises or the Building, or the air, soil, improvements,
ground water or surface water thereof (including without limitation the cost of remediation thereof), except to the extent caused to be
present by Subtenant, its affiliates or their respective, agents, employees, contractors, vendors or invitees.

7. Maintenance and Repairs. Subtenant hereby confirms its assumption of Sublandlord’s maintenance and repair obligations under
the Master Lease to the extent such obligations are applicable to the Subleased Premises, except as set forth below. Except as such
maintenance and repairs are the



responsibility of Master Landlord pursuant to the Master Lease, Subtenant shall, at its sole cost, keep and maintain in good condition
and repair the Subleased Premises to the same extent that Sublandlord is required to so keep and maintain the Subleased Premises
pursuant to the Master Lease; provided, however, that in the event a necessary repair or maintenance item affects a portion of Master
Premises for which Sublandlord is responsible under the Master Lease, and such portion is greater than just the Subleased Premises,
then, Sublandlord shall perform such obligation and Subtenant shall pay Sublandlord Subtenant’s Share of the cost of such item within
ten (10) days of demand. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section, in no event shall Sublandlord be obligated
to undertake any maintenance and repair obligations that are otherwise the responsibility of Master Landlord hereunder or under the
Master Lease.

8. Subtenant Improvements; Repairs and Alterations. Any alterations, additions or improvements to the Subleased Premises by or
for Subtenant (collectively referred to as “Alterations™) shall require the prior written consent of both Sublandlord and Master Landlord
and shall be made in accordance with Section 9 of the Master Lease, which is incorporated herein by this reference (provided, however,
that all references therein to “Tenant” and “Premises” shall mean “Subtenant” and the “Subleased Premises”, respectively, and all
references therein to “Landlord” shall mean both “Sublandlord” and “Master Landlord”). Sublandlord confirms that it will approve the
Alterations proposed in Exhibit D, provided that Master Landlord approves such Alterations in accordance with the Master Lease.
Subtenant shall be solely responsible for the planning, construction and completion of any Alterations at Subtenant’s sole cost and
expense. Subtenant shall make all payments for Alterations in a timely manner so as not to permit any mechanic’s or other liens to be
placed upon the Subleased Premises in connection with any Alterations. Subtenant shall fully discharge any such lien within ten (10)
days after it first becomes aware of the same. Subtenant shall not damage or deface the furnishings, walls, floors, ceilings or other
portions of the Subleased Premises. Any damage to the Subleased Premises caused by Subtenant or a Subtenant Controlled Party shall
be promptly repaired by Subtenant, to Sublandlord’s reasonable satisfaction, at Subtenant’s sole cost and expense. If Subtenant shall fail
to repair any damage within a reasonable time following notice from Sublandlord, Sublandlord shall have the right to repair any damage
caused by Subtenant at Subtenant’s sole cost and expense. In such event, Subtenant shall reimburse Sublandlord for the reasonable cost
of any such repairs within ten (10) days after receipt of an invoice, together with an administrative charge in an amount equal to ten
percent (10%) of the cost of the repairs. All Alterations to the Subleased Premises shall remain upon the Subleased Premises following
the End Date, provided that Sublandlord receives a written waiver from Master Landlord of its surrender obligations set forth in Section
9.2 of the Master Lease with respect to such Alterations (a “Surrender Restoration Waiver”), unless Master Landlord’s consent to
installation of such Alterations expressly permits Subtenant to remove any portion of the Alterations. If requested by Subtenant,
Sublandlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such Surrender Restoration Waiver from Master Landlord; provided that
any costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith (including, without limitation, fees, costs and expenses due to the Master
Landlord and Sublandlord’s reasonable attorney’s fees) shall be paid by Subtenant. If a Surrender Restoration Waiver is not obtained, or
if Master Landlord’s consent to installation of such Alterations expressly permits Subtenant to remove any portion of the Alterations,
then Subtenant shall, prior to the End Date, promptly remove any Alterations made by Subtenant and required, or permitted, to be
removed by Master Landlord pursuant to the Master Lease, at Subtenant’s sole cost and expense and repair any damage to the Subleased
Premises caused by such removal and return the Subleased Premises to the condition required by the Master Lease. In no event shall
Sublandlord require the



removal of any Alterations if Master Landlord is not requiring such removal pursuant to the terms of the Master Lease.

9. Entry by Sublandlord or Master Landlord. Sublandlord or Master Landlord may enter the Subleased Premises at any time during
the Sublease Term to inspect or show the Subleased Premises, or to clean and make repairs, alterations or additions to the Subleased
Premises (in accordance with Section 14.1 of the Master Lease, which is incorporated herein by this reference, provided, however, that
all references therein to “Tenant” and “Premises” shall mean “Subtenant” and the “Subleased Premises”, respectively and all references
therein to “Landlord” shall mean both “Sublandlord” and “Master Landlord”). Except in case of emergencies, Master Landlord or
Sublandlord, as applicable, shall provide Subtenant with at least twenty-four (24) hours prior notice of entry into the Subleased
Premises, which may be given orally (and if orally, then to Subtenant’s Chief Financial Officer at (650) 392-8412 and Director of
Facilities at (650) 392-8412 or such other person or persons designated by Subtenant from time to time). In addition to the foregoing,
Sublandlord reserves the right in the event of an emergency to allow its employees to enter and exit the Subleased Premises in order to
exit the Master Premises.

10. Assignment and Subletting; Consent Required. Except for a “Permitted Transfer” pursuant to Section 13.1 of the Master Lease
incorporated herein, Subtenant shall not assign, sublease, transfer or encumber any interest in this Sublease or allow any third party to
use any portion of the Subleased Premises (collectively or individually, a “Transfer”), without the prior written consent of Sublandlord
and Master Landlord, which may be given or withheld in accordance with Section 13 of the Master Lease, which is incorporated herein
by this reference (provided, however, that all references therein to “Landlord”, “Tenant” and “Building” shall mean “Sublandlord”,
“Subtenant” and “Subleased Premises”, respectively). Any Transfer or attempted Transfer without the consent of Sublandlord and
Master Landlord, except for a Permitted Transfer, shall be a default by Subtenant and, in addition to any other rights and remedies, shall
entitle Sublandlord to terminate this Sublease. To the extent that rent paid by such assignee or sublessee is in excess of Rent paid by
Subtenant hereunder (“Bonus Subrent”), such Bonus Subrent shall first be split per Section 13.2(b) and (c) of the Master Lease as
incorporated herein, to be paid and distributed accordingly within five (5) days of actual receipt by Subtenant.

11. Indemnity and Waiver of Claims. Except to the extent caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Sublandlord or
any of its owners, partners, principals, members, trustees, officers, directors, shareholders, agents, employees and lenders
(“Sublandlord Related Parties”) or a breach of the Master Lease or the Sublease by Sublandlord, Subtenant shall indemnify, defend
and hold Sublandlord and the Sublandlord Related Parties harmless from and against all liabilities, damages, claims, and expenses,
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees (if and to the extent permitted by Law), which may be imposed upon, incurred
by or asserted against Sublandlord or any of Sublandlord Related Parties arising out of or in connection with any damage or injury
occurring in the Subleased Premises caused by any acts or omissions (including violations of Law) of Subtenant or any Subtenant
Controlled Parties. Subtenant hereby waives all claims against Sublandlord and Sublandlord Related Parties for (a) any damage to
person or property (or resulting from the loss of use thereof) arising in connection with this Sublease, except to the extent caused by the
gross negligence or willful misconduct of Sublandlord or any Sublandlord Related Party or a breach of the Master Lease or the Sublease
by Sublandlord and (b) any failure to prevent or control any criminal or otherwise wrongful conduct arising in connection with this
Sublease by any third party or to apprehend any third



party who has engaged in such conduct. Notwithstanding any provision in this Sublease to the contrary, neither Sublandlord nor any
Sublandlord Related Party shall be liable for (and Subtenant hereby waives any claims for) any injury or damage to, or interference
with, Subtenant’s business, including loss of profits, loss of rents or other revenues, loss of business opportunity, loss of goodwill or loss
of use, or for any form of special or consequential damage.

12. TInsurance. The provisions of Section 12 of the Master Lease pertaining to insurance shall be incorporated into this Sublease,
subject to the following terms. For purposes of this Sublease, the term “Tenant” in Section 12 of the Master Lease shall be deemed to
mean Subtenant, the term “Landlord” shall be deemed to mean Master Landlord (except that the release and waiver of subrogation shall
also apply as between Sublandlord and Subtenant) and the term “Property” shall mean the “Subleased Premises”, except that all policies
of insurance required to be maintained by Subtenant hereunder and thereunder shall name both Sublandlord and Master Landlord as
additional named insureds and all notices related to such insurance and all evidence of such policies shall be delivered to both
Sublandlord and Master Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as Master Landlord so consents, Subtenant shall not be
required to carry Products / Completed Operations insurance pursuant to Section 12.1(a) of the Master Lease if Subtenant does not
produce any marketed or clinical products. Subtenant covenants that it shall obtain Master Landlord’s approval for the form of insurance
certificate to be provided to Master Landlord, including any “blanket insurance” policy obtained by Subtenant. Prior to the Start Date.

13. Damage or Destruction and Condemnation. The provisions of Section 15 of the Master Lease pertaining to damage or
destruction and condemnation shall be incorporated into this Sublease, subject to the following terms. For purposes of this Sublease, the
term “Tenant” in Section 15 of the Master Lease shall be deemed to mean Subtenant and the term “Landlord” therein shall be deemed to
mean Master Landlord and the terms “Building” and “Property” shall mean the Subleased Premises. In no event shall Sublandlord have
any obligation to Subtenant to restore the Subleased Premises if damaged, destroyed or condemned as described in Section 15 of the
Master Lease.

14. Events of Default. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute a material breach of this Sublease and an Event of
Default by Subtenant: (i) failure to pay Rent or any other amount within three (3) days business after written notice of nonpayment;
(ii) all those items of default set forth in the Master Lease where the obligation is incorporated in this Sublease, including, without
limitation, the Events of Default listed in Section 16 of the Master Lease (which is incorporated into this Sublease), which remain
uncured after the cure period provided in the Master Lease; or (iii) Subtenant’s failure to perform any other term, provision or covenant
of this Sublease, which failure remains uncured after thirty (30) days written notice thereof, or if such failure is not susceptible of cure
within thirty (30) days, such additional time as reasonably required for such cure provided Subtenant commences such cure within said
thirty (30) day period and diligently prosecutes such cure to completion. For purposes of this Sublease, the term “Tenant” in Section 16
of the Master Lease shall be deemed to mean “Subtenant”, the term “Landlord” shall be deemed to mean Sublandlord and the terms
“Building” and “Property” shall be deemed to mean the Subleased Premises.

15. Remedies. Upon any default by Subtenant under the terms of this Sublease, beyond any applicable notice and cure period,
Sublandlord shall have the remedies set forth in Section 16 of the Master Lease (which shall be incorporated into this Sublease) as if
Sublandlord is Master Landlord, including, without limitation, the right to terminate this Sublease, in which case Subtenant shall



immediately surrender the Subleased Premises to Sublandlord. If Subtenant fails to surrender the Subleased Premises, Sublandlord may,
in compliance with applicable Law and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, enter upon and take possession of the Subleased
Premises. Subtenant shall pay Sublandlord on demand the amount of all past due Rents, plus other losses and damages which
Sublandlord may suffer as a result of Subtenant’s uncured default. In addition to the right to terminate this Sublease and collect
damages, Sublandlord shall have the right to pursue any other remedy provided under the Master Lease or that is now or hereafter
available at Law or in equity. For purposes of this Sublease, the term “Tenant” in Section 16 of the Master Lease shall be deemed to
mean “Subtenant”, the term “Landlord” shall be deemed to mean Sublandlord and the terms “Building” and “Property” shall be deemed
to mean the Subleased Premises.

16. Master Lease.

(@) Subtenant takes possession of the Subleased Premises, and enters into this Sublease, subject and subordinate to all of the
terms, covenants, conditions, and restrictions of the Master Lease. Neither Sublandlord nor Subtenant shall by act or omission cause a
breach of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, and restrictions contained in the Master Lease. Sublandlord shall not agree to, or take
any actions giving rise to, any amendment, modification or termination of the Master Lease that materially adversely impacts the rights
and obligations of Subtenant hereunder without Subtenant’s prior written consent. Except to the extent incorporated by reference in this
Sublease, none of the terms, covenants, conditions and restrictions of the Master Lease are incorporated herein to define the agreement
as between Sublandlord and Subtenant. With respect to any obligation of Subtenant to be performed under this Sublease, wherever the
Master Lease grants to Sublandlord a specified number of days after notice or other time condition to perform its corresponding
obligation under the Master Lease (excluding the payment of Rent), Subtenant shall have two (2) fewer days to perform the obligation,
including without limitation curing any defaults. Any default notice or other notice of any obligations (including any billing or invoice
for any Rent or any other expense or charge due under the Master Lease) from Master Landlord which is received by Subtenant
(whether directly or as a result of being forwarded by Sublandlord) shall constitute such notice from Sublandlord to Subtenant under
this Sublease without the need for any additional notice from Sublandlord.

(b) Sublandlord shall not be deemed to have made any representation made by Master Landlord in the Master Lease.
Moreover, except as otherwise provided herein to the contrary, Sublandlord shall not be obligated:

(i) to provide any of the services or utilities that Master Landlord has agreed in the Master Lease to provide;
(ii) to make any of the repairs or restorations that Master Landlord has agreed in the Master Lease to make; or

(iii) to comply with any Laws or requirements of public authorities with which Master Landlord has agreed in the
Master Lease to comply; and Sublandlord shall have no liability to Subtenant on account of any failure of Master Landlord to do so, or
on account of any failure by Master Landlord to observe or perform any of the terms, covenants or conditions of the Master Lease
required to be observed or performed by Master Landlord; provided Sublandlord agrees to use commercially
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reasonable efforts to enforce Master Landlord’s obligations under the Master Lease on Subtenant’s behalf.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Sublandlord grants to Subtenant the right to receive all of the services and benefits with
respect to the Subleased Premises that are to be provided by Master Landlord under the Master Lease.

(d) If (i) Subtenant shall fail to perform any of its obligations hereunder and such failure shall continue beyond any cure
period provided for herein, or (ii) Master Landlord shall give any notice of failure or default under the Master Lease arising out of any
failure by Subtenant to perform any of its obligations hereunder then, in either case, Sublandlord shall have the right (but not the
obligation) to perform or endeavor to perform such obligation, at Subtenant’s expense, and Subtenant shall, within ten (10) days of
Sublandlord’s demands from time to time, reimburse Sublandlord for all costs and expenses incurred by Sublandlord in doing so as
Rent.

(e) Subtenant shall promptly execute, acknowledge and deliver to Sublandlord, any certificate or other document evidencing
the status of the Sublease or subordination of this Sublease to the Master Lease, that Sublandlord or Master Landlord may reasonably
request, in accordance with Sections 17, 19.11 and 19.16 of the Master Lease, which are incorporated herein by this reference
(provided, however, the terms “Tenant” and “Building” shall be deemed to mean “Subtenant” and the “Subleased Premises”,
respectively).

(f) Sublandlord warrants to Subtenant that (i) Sublandlord has delivered to Subtenant a complete copy of the Master Lease,
(ii) the Master Lease is, as of the date of this Sublease, in full force and effect, and (iii) no event of default by Sublandlord or, to
Sublandlord’s knowledge, by Master Landlord has occurred under the Master Lease nor has any event occurred and is continuing that
would constitute an event of default by Sublandlord or, to Sublandlord’s knowledge, by Master Landlord under the Master Lease, but
for the requirement of the giving of notice and the expiration of the period of time to cure. Sublandlord shall fully perform all of its
obligations under the Master Lease to the extent Subtenant has not expressly agreed to perform such obligations under this Sublease.

17. Surrender of Subleased Premises. At the expiration or earlier termination of this Sublease, if no Surrender Restoration Waiver
has been delivered to Sublandlord, then Subtenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall promptly remove from the Subleased Premises (a)
any Alterations made by Subtenant, (b) Subtenant’s personal property, and (c) repair any damage to the Subleased Premises caused by
such removal, and otherwise quit and surrender the Subleased Premises to Sublandlord in the condition required by the Master Lease,
broom clean, and in good order, condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear and damage from casualty excepted. If Subtenant fails to
remove any Alterations or Subtenant’s personal property within five (5) days after the termination of this Sublease, Sublandlord, at
Subtenant’s sole cost and expense, shall be entitled (but not obligated) to remove such Alterations or remove, store or dispose of
Subtenant’s personal property. Sublandlord shall not be responsible for the value, preservation or safekeeping of Subtenant’s personal
property. Subtenant shall not be required to remove at the expiration of the Sublease term or otherwise, alterations or improvements to
the Subleased Premises made by or for the account of Sublandlord or otherwise existing as of the Start Date.

11



18. Holding Over. Subtenant shall have no right to holdover in the Subleased Premises pursuant to this Sublease after the End Date. If
Subtenant does not surrender and vacate the Subleased Premises on the End Date, Subtenant shall be a tenant at sufferance, or at the sole
election of Sublandlord, a month to month tenancy, and the parties agree in either case that the reasonable rental value, if at sufferance,
or the Rent if a month to month tenancy, shall be Rent at the greater of (1) the monthly rate of one hundred and fifty percent (150%) of
the monthly Rent set forth in Section 3 of this Sublease, or (2) the rate of any and all Rent due to Master Landlord from Sublandlord as a
result of a holdover under the Master Lease (if any) occasioned by the holdover of the Subleased Premises by Subtenant.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in addition to all other rights and remedies on the part of Sublandlord, if Subtenant fails to surrender
the Subleased Premises upon the End Date, in addition to any other liabilities to Sublandlord accruing therefrom, Subtenant shall
indemnify, defend and hold Sublandlord harmless from all claims, actions, losses, damages and expenses resulting from such failure,
including, without limitation, any such claims, actions, losses and damages to any third parties based on such failure to surrender.

19. Parking. Subtenant shall have Subtenant’s proportionate share of such parking rights as Sublandlord may have pursuant to Section
19.20 of the Master Lease, to be used in connection with this Sublease and not in connection with Subtenant’s use of any other of
Subtenant’s facilities.

20. Limitation of Liability. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein, in no event shall any personal liability be asserted against
Sublandlord’s officers, directors, employees, agents or contractors or to the property or assets of any of them. Under no circumstances
shall Sublandlord’s officers, directors, employees, agents or contractors be liable for any injury or damage to, or interference with,
Subtenant’s business, including loss of profits, loss of rents or other revenues, loss of business opportunity, loss of goodwill or loss of
use, or for any form of special or consequential damage. Notwithstanding anything set forth herein, in no event shall any personal
liability be asserted against Subtenant’s officers, directors, employees, agents or contractors or to the property or assets of any of them.
Under no circumstances shall Subtenant’s officers, directors, employees, agents or contractors be liable for any injury or damage to, or
interference with, Sublandlord’s business, including loss of profits, loss of rents or other revenues, loss of business opportunity, loss of
goodwill or loss of use, or for any form of special or consequential damage.

21. Miscellaneous.

(@) Notices for Subtenant shall be sent to Subtenant as follows: Sutro Biopharma, Inc., 310 Utah Avenue, Suite 150, South
San Francisco, CA 94080 and to the attention of CFO. Notices for Sublandlord shall be sent to Sublandlord as follows: Exelixis, Inc.,
210 E. Grand Avenue, South San Francisco, CA 94080, and to the attention of Executive Vice President and General Counsel (each, a
“Notice Address”). All demands, approvals, consents or notices shall be in writing and delivered by hand or sent by registered or
certified mail with return receipt requested, or sent by overnight or same day courier service at the party’s respective Notice
Address(es) set forth above. Each notice shall be deemed to have been received or given on the earlier to occur of actual delivery or the
date on which delivery is refused or, if Subtenant has vacated the Subleased Premises or other Notice Address without providing a new
Notice Address, three (3) days after notice is deposited in the U.S. mail or with a courier service in the manner described above. Any
party may, at any time, change its Notice Address (other than to a post office box address) by giving the other parties written notice of
the new address.
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(b) The term “Force Majeure Delay” as used in the Sublease shall mean any delay by either party in fulfilling its obligations
hereunder which is attributable to any: (i) actual delay or failure to perform attributable to any strike, lockout or other labor or
industrial disturbance (whether or not on the part of the employees of either party hereto), civil disturbance, future order claiming
jurisdiction, act of a public enemy, war, riot, sabotage, blockade, embargo, inability to secure customary materials, supplies or labor
through ordinary sources by reason of regulation or order of any government or regulatory body; or (ii) actual delay or failure to
perform attributable to lightning, earthquake, fire, storm, hurricane, tornado, flood, washout, explosion, or any other similar industry-
wide or Building-wide cause beyond the reasonable control of the party from whom performance is required, or any of its contractors
or other representatives. Any prevention, delay or stoppage due to any Force Majeure Delay shall excuse the performance of the party
affected for a period of time equal to any such prevention, delay or stoppage (except the obligations of Subtenant to pay Rent and other
charges pursuant to this Sublease).

(c) Either party’s failure to declare a default immediately upon its occurrence or delay in taking action for a default shall not
constitute a waiver of the default, nor shall it constitute an estoppel. If either party institutes a suit against the other for violation of or
to enforce any covenant, term or condition of this Sublease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to all of its costs and expenses,
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees.

(d) This Sublease shall be interpreted and enforced in accordance with the Laws of the state in which the Subleased Premises
is located.

(e) Each of Subtenant and Sublandlord represents and warrants that it has not dealt with any broker in connection with this
Sublease, other than Kidder Mathews, on behalf of Subtenant, and Cornish & Carey Commercial Newmark Knight Frank, on behalf of
Sublandlord, and each party hereto agrees to indemnify and hold the other party harmless from any commissions due to any broker
with whom such party has dealt, other than the brokers named in this paragraph.

(f) This Sublease constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings
related to the Subleased Premises. This Sublease may be modified only by a written agreement signed by Sublandlord and Subtenant.

(g) The execution, delivery, and performance by each of Subtenant and Sublandlord of its respective obligations under this
Sublease have been duly authorized and will not violate any provision of Law, any order of any court or other agency of government,
or any indenture, agreement or other instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound.

(h) This Sublease may be executed in multiple counterparts, and by each party on separate counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed to be an original but all of which shall together constitute one agreement. The parties contemplate that they may be
executing counterparts of the Sublease transmitted by facsimile or email in PDF format and agree and intend that a signature by such
means shall bind the party so signing with the same effect as though the signature were an original signature.

22. Signage. Conditioned upon the consent of Master Landlord and applicable governmental authorities, Sublandlord agrees to permit
Subtenant to install a monument at a location specified by Master Landlord, and to allow Subtenant signage space on such monument,
provided that Subtenant
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agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the costs of installation of the monument and one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of
installing, maintaining and removing Subtenant’s signage on such monument. Conditioned upon the approval of Master Landlord, and
Sublandlord’s approval, in its reasonable discretion, of Subtenant’s proposed signage specifications, Sublandlord shall permit Subtenant
to install, at Subtenant’s expense, signage for Subtenant at the entrance to the Subleased Premises.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Sublandlord and Subtenant have executed this Sublease as of the day and year first above written.

SUBLANDLORD:

EXELIXIS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Frank Karbe
Name: Frank Karbe
Title: EVP & CFO
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SUBTENANT:

SUTRO BIOPHARMA, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ William J. Newell
Name: William J. Newell
Title: Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT A

SUBLEASED PREMISES

Sutrorentable Square Footage: Includes
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EXHIBIT B

FF&E INVENTORY
B240 Office Furniture Inventory - Sublease Space
Office Type Description Dimensions Chair Code
Open Office Book case 71x121/2
8 Ped 6x6x12
1 2 Drawer lateral 30
1 Corner Work Surface 40x42
1 Work surface 24x72
1 4 Drawer lateral
5 Work surface 24x36
1 Work surface 24x42
1 Work surface 24x60
2 Corner Work Surface 36x36
6 Office chairs
1 Panel Teknion 48x65
6 Panel Teknion 36x65
4 Overhead cabinet 36
1 Overhead cabinet 48
1 Work surface 30x30
1 Work surface 54x22
1  Corner work surface 42x60x30
2  Tack board 24x48
4 Shelfs 48
2 Task lights
2 black guest chairs
1  Steel case office chair
1 2 Drawer lateral 36
4  Wall track 80
1 Work surface 24x48
1 Work surface 24x54
1  Corner work surface 36x36
1  Tack board 24x48
4  Shelf 48
2 Task light
4  Wall track 80
1 Half moon table 36
2 Ped 6x6x12
1 2 Drawer Lateral 36
1 Book case 341/2x121/2
Open Office 121,122,& 123 8 Panel Teknion 30x65
6 Panel Teknion 36x65
3  Panel Teknion 24x65
2 Panel Teknion 54x65




4  Work surface 24x30
4  Work surface 72x30
8 Overhead 36
6 Task lights
4  Peds 6x6x12
1 Ped 12x12
2 2 Drawer lateral 36
1 Black guest chair
1 black office chair
2 Ped 6x6x12
1 Drawer lateral 36
1 Black book case 341/2x 12 1/2x 71
2 4 Drawer lateral 36
1 Wall surface 48x24
2 Black guest chairs

Office 154 117 1 Work surface 60x24
1 Work surface 54x24
1 Work surface 48x30
1  Work surface 42x30
1 Corner work surface 36x36x24
1  Corner work surface 36x36x30
1  Tack Board 24x48
1 Tack Board 30x21
1 Tack Board 36x21
2 Shelf 48
2  Shelf 36
1 Shelf 30
6 Wall track 80
1 4 Drawer lateral 36
1 Ped 6x6x2
1 Ped 12x12
3 2 Drawer Lateral 36
1 Black guest chair
1  black office chair

Office 155 119 2 Work surface 42x24
2 Work surface 30x24
1 Work surface 36x24
1  Work surface 48x24
3 Corner work surface 36x36x24
2 Task lights
2 Over head 30
2 Over head 36
2 Over head 42
2  Tack board 42x24
2  Tack board 36x24
2 Tack board 30x24
2 2 Drawer lateral 36




1 Ped 12x12

9 Wall track 36
Office 156 120 1 Work surface 48x24

1 Work surface 60x24

1  Corner wall surface 36x36x24

3 Tack Board 48x24

1 Task light

7  Shelf 48

8 Wall track 80

1 Ped 6x6x12

1 2 Drawer lateral

1 Lab Table 30x60
Office 157 118 1 Work surface 60x24

1  Work surface 36x24

1  Work surface 42x24

2  Corner work surface 36x36x24

1 Round table 36

3 Tack board 24x48

3 Task light

6 Shelfs 48

5 Wall track 80

1 Black book case 34 1/2x 41 1/2x 12 1/2

1 Ped 6x6x12

2 2 Drawer lateral 36

1 Black guest chair

2 Black office chairs
Open Office 158 125 12 Panel Teknion 30x65

4 Panel Teknion 30x41

9 Panel Teknion 60x65

3  Work surface 60x24

12 Work surface 60x30

15 Overhead 60

14 Task lights

1 Black bookcase 34 1/2x 12 1/2x 59

12 Ped 6x6x12

3 Ped 12x12
Office 177 2 4 Drawer Lateral

1 5 Drawer lateral

1 Work surface 48x30




Bldg. 240 Vivarium Equipments

Utility Room
1 -20 freezer
Hoshizaki Ice Machine

Some Mops, Brooms and Cart

Room 142

2 Metro Racks

Dyna-Fog Aerosol Applicator
Dyna-Fog Aerosol Applicator
Dyna-Fog Aerosol Applicator
Dyna-Fog Aerosol Applicator
Dyna-Fog Aerosol Applicator

Room 131

Nu Aire Biosafety Cabinet

Baker Company Biosafety Cabinet
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)

Room 143
1 Metro Rack
2 Stainless Steel Table (96X24)

Room 132

Nu Aire Biosafety Cabinet

Baker Company Biosafety Cabinet
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)

Room 133

Nu Aire Biosafety Cabinet

Baker Company Biosafety Cabinet
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)

Room 144

2 Stainless Steel Table (96X24)
2 Stainless Steel Table (60X24)
1 Metro Rack

Model #

Model # F-300 BAF
Model # F-300 BAF

2730
2730
2730
2730
2730

NU-629-600
SG603
MD75JU140MVPSHR
MD75JU140MVPSHR
MD75JU140MVPSHR

NU-629-600
SG603
MD75JU140MVPSHR
MD75JU140MVPSHR
MD75JU140MVPSHR

NU-629-600
SG603
MD75JU140MVPSHR
MD75JU140MVPSHR
MD75JU140MVPSHR

Serial #

S03749D

2108
2199
2099
2208
2212

99523062105
78085
V5382-06-03
V5381-06-03
V6483-04-04

88822020404
73668
V5379-06-03
V5380-06-03
V3690-04-02

88795020304
70088
V2932-11-01
V3586-04-02
V2570-06-01

Asset #

10003474

10003449

10003464
10003443
10003439

10003169
10003186
10003446
10003475
10003457

10003474
10003173
10003188
10003184
10003436



Room 134

Nu Aire Biosafety Cabinet

Baker Company Biosafety Cabinet
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (140 Cages)

Room 135

Baker Company Biosafety Cabinet
Allentown Caging Equipment (36 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (36 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (36 Cages)
Allentown Caging Equipment (36 Cages)

Room 137

5 Metro Racks

1 Stainless Steel Cage Cart

Small Animal Cages (940 complete set)

Room 145
Baker Company Biosafety Cabinet

Room 140

Edstrom Chlorine Flush Station

Scientek Bedding Station

3 Racks for the Cage Washer

Primus Autoclave

Scientek Cagewasher

American Sterilizer Co. (Autoclave)

Small Animal Cage Bottom (1673 pcs)
Small Animal Cage Lid (1400 pcs)

Small Stainless Steel Tray/Rack (1200 pcs)
Big Animal Cage (100 complete set)
Plastic Bottles for Water Feeding (1000 pcs)

Dirty Room (shipping Area)

Nu Aire Animal Bedding Disposal
Electro Steam Boiler

Sussman Electric Boiler

NU-629-600
SG603
MD75JU140MVPSHR
MD75JU140MVPSHR
MD75JU140MVPSHR

SG603
RM 10198/96U36MVPSHR
RM 10198/96U36MVPSHR
RM 10198/96U36MVPSHR
RM 10198/96U36MVPSHR

SG603

SBD 1200-4

KTI263660D
SW6300
UME-3660-CA

NU-607-400
LB-50
ES100

98516050605
73669
V5378-06-03
V2571-06-01
V2432-02-01

77167
V7674-04-05
V7676-04-05
V2795-08-01
V7675-04-05

73670

15361
6312981571
295858

83852050903
36665
N6-19026-W06

10003455
10003194
10003174
10003202
10003460

10003166
10002449
10002898
10002445
10002456

10003179

10003434
10003431

10003429
10003158

10003152



EXHIBIT C
DELIVERY AGREEMENT

Re: Sublease dated August 5, 2013, between EXELIXIS INC., a Delaware corporation (“Sublandlord”), and SUTRO
BIOPHARMA, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Subtenant”), concerning the subleased premises consisting of a portion of the
first floor (the “Subleased Premises”) of the building located at 240 East Grand Avenue, South San Francisco, CA 94080 (the
“Master Premises”).

Ladies and Gentlemen:

In accordance with the subject Sublease (to which reference is made for any undefined capitalized terms used herein), we wish to
advise and/or confirm as follows:

The Start Date of the Sublease Term for the Subleased Premises is , 2013 (the “Start Date”), and the Sublease Term
for the Subleased Premises is scheduled to expire on March 31, 2017, unless sooner terminated according to the terms of the Sublease (as
applicable, the “End Date”). Sublandlord delivered possession of the Subleased Premises to Subtenant on the Start Date, in the condition
required under the Sublease and Subtenant accepted possession of the Subleased Premises on the Start Date but subject to the provisions
of Section 2(c) of the Sublease.

That in accordance with the Sublease, Base Rent in the amount of $ shall commence to accrue on
2013.

The total rentable square feet of the Subleased Premises is 17,948.92 and of the Master Premises is 60,967. Subtenant’s Share of
the Subleased Premises is 100% and of the Master Premises is 29.44%.

Each party represents and warrants to the other that it is duly authorized to enter into this document and that the person signing
on its behalf is duly authorized to sign on behalf of such party.

SUBLANDLORD: SUBTENANT:

EXELIXIS, INC., SUTRO BIOPHARMA, INC,,
a Delaware corporation a Delaware corporation

By: By:

Name: Name:

Title: Title:




EXHIBIT D

SUBTENANT’S PROPOSED ALTERATIONS



Project:  Sutro - 240 East Grand Avenue

Location: 240 East Grand Avenue
South San Francisco, CA

Date: July 25, 2013
Area (s.f.): n/a

Csl CSI CODE DESCRIPTION

CODE

Est. No. 3
Est. by: AP

pUILDERS

File: 7-25-13 - Sutro 240 EGA Budget

COST BREAKDOWN

ITEM DESCRIPTION

DIRECT COSTS
20100 SURVEY & LAYOUT

20500 DEMOLITION

66000  FINISH CARPENTRY

67000 LAB CASEWORK

72000 INSULATION
82000 WOOD & HOLLOW METAL DOORS
92500 GYPSUM BOARD

93000 MODIFY (E) SHOWERS

95000 ACOUSTIC CEILING
96800 FLOOR COVERING
99000  PAINTING

153000 FIRE PROTECTION

154000 PLUMBING

155000 HVAC

159500 ENERGY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

tear back ceiling in areas that ductwork modifications will take
place, protection of (e) finishes

demo (e) casework to accept new hoods, demo hood, 4 new &'
fume hoods with monkey bars, modify casework

retro/replace door hardware and prep for card reader - card
reader by others

includes demo of the (e) prefabricated shower, demo of the
lockers and bulkhead, relocate (e) plumbing fixtures, sheet rock
opening, ceramic tile, relocate (e) light

patch only @ demoed casework and new door cut in locations
touch up only

relocate / add sprinklers for new hoods, install sprinklers in 4 new
hoods

hook up 4 fume hoods including 4 cup sinks CDA & VAC & Ns to]
ea hood, CO2 / Vac piping for laminar flow hoods, 3 CO2's for
incubators, safe off as needed, design and engineering

Re-sheave and balance AH-4 & ef 6.1, demo existing R/A duct
serving Lab 179 & 180, Add new larger duct with new fume
hoods to handle Lab 179 & 180, re-duct Lab 170 to convert R/A
to exhaust tied into (4) new BSC, Upsize existing CAV box that
serves Lab 170 to overcome the additional heat load of the 6
BSC's and other equipment. AH-4 now becomes a 100% OSA
air handler. We need to now add a preheat coil to the air handler.
To avoid adding an actual coil — we will utilize the chilled water
coil and tie hot water into it as a cross over. This hot water has to
come up from the second floor. A new roof penetration is needed
(roof patch by Landmark). We are carrying the piping and the
controls to make this happen, Modify AH- 4 to make it 100% OSA|
- so we need to add an OSA Hood and eyebrow to the location
that the return duct previously had been. Disconnect and demo
AH-4 return duct and modify exhaust ductwork to tie into the
return ductwork riser.

Connect EF-6.1 duct to AH-4 old return air riser

Rebalance all affected areas on the 1st floor. This rebalance
includes adjusting 14 CAV boxes, one exhaust system and all
downstream supply off those zones.

n.i.c. - existing to remain



csl CS| CODE DESCRIPTION COST ITEM DESCRIPTION
CODE
demo, safe off for relocation or removal of casework and
fumehoods in 3 areas, reroute circuits to remain to aboved ceiling
j-box for future power, 1ea new 208v 30 amp outlets at 2
160000 ELECTRICAL Iocgtions, 1ea.new 208v epower at 2 locations, 1Qea120v 20 amp
dedicated equipment outlets, 6ea epower for equipment outlets,
4ea connection to fume hoods 2 cuircuits 120v j box above
ceiling, 4ea card reader raceways, 10 network cabling drops
quads each = 40 tctal, engineering.
167100 LIFE SAFETY SYSTEM n.i.c. - existing to remain
167200 SECURITY ALARM SYSTEM n.ic. - existing to remain - excludes card readers
167400 COMMUNICATION CABLING 40 drops - included in cc 160000
SUB-TOTAL
GENERAL CONDITIONS
1100000 PROJECT SUPERINTENDENT
1150000 PROJECT MANAGER part time as required
1200000 TEMPORARY FACILITIES temp power distribution, water, phones, & toilets
1400000 SUPPLIES & SERVICES photos & blueprints
1500000 EQUIPMENT small tods & supplies, fuel, misc. equipment rentals
1700000 CLEAN UP progressive & final clean up
OTHER FEES
1800000 DESIGN FEES
1900000 FEES
1893000 GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE excludes course of construction insurance
1984000 CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY
1985000 OVERHEAD & PROFIT
TOTAL=>>>>>
ALTERNATES NOT INCLUDED ABOVE
If we cannct exclusively use EF-6.1 for 1% floor, then we will need
JALT #1 Add two exhaust fans for 2nd floor lab exhaust to add two exhaust fans to the roof to allow us to utilize the
existing large fan.
ALT 22 Demo (e) equipment room flooring and replace w/ includes demo of the floor and new Medintech seamless floor -
Medintech excludes moisture protection (1.5k add)
ALT #3 N2 and CO2 Automatic Switch over Manifolds this cost can be wrapped into the services provided by the venor

supplying the N2 and CO2.




Sutro Biopharma - Proposed Tenant Improvements - Summer 2013
Scope of Demolition




Sutro Biopharma - Proposed Tenant Improvements - Summer 2013
Scope of Construction




Exhibit 10.3

CONSENT TO SUBLEASE AGREEMENT

THIS CONSENT TO SUBLEASE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made as of August 5, 2013, by and among
BRITANNIA POINTE GRAND LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a Delaware limited partnership ("Landlord"), EXELIXIS INC., a
Delaware corporation ("Tenant"), and SUTRO BIOPHARMA, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Subtenant").

RECITALS

A. Reference is hereby made to that certain Lease dated as of May 24, 2001, between Landlord and Tenant (the
"Original Lease"), as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated as of February 29, 2003 ("First Amendment"),
and that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated as of July 20, 2004 ("Second Amendment," together with the Original Lease
and the First Amendment, collectively, the "Lease"), for certain premises (collectively, the "Premises") located at 240 East Grand
Avenue ("Building"), in South San Francisco, California.

B. Pursuant to the terms of Article 13 of the Original Lease, Tenant has requested Landlord's consent to that certain
Sublease dated on or about the date hereof, between Tenant and Subtenant (the "Sublease"), with respect to a subletting by
Subtenant of a portion of the Premises consisting of approximately 17,948.92 rentable square feet of space on the first floor of the
Building, as more particularly described in the Sublease (the "Sublet Premises"). A copy of the Sublease is attached hereto as
Exhibit A. Landlord is willing to consent to the Sublease in the terms and conditions contained herein.

C. All defined terms not otherwise expressly defined herein shall have the respective meanings given in the Lease.

AGREEMENT

1. Landlord's Consent. Landlord hereby consents to the Sublease; provided, however, notwithstanding anything
contained in the Sublease to the contrary, such consent is granted by Landlord only upon the terms and conditions set forth in this
Agreement. The Sublease is subject and subordinate to the Lease. Landlord shall not be bound by any of the terms, covenant,
conditions, provisions or agreements of the Sublease. Subtenant acknowledges for the benefit of Landlord that Subtenant accepts
the Sublet Premises in their presently existing, "as-is" condition and that Landlord has made no representation or warranty to
Subtenant as to the compliance of the Sublet Premises with any law, statute, ordinance, rule or regulation. Tenant and Subtenant
hereby represent and warrant to Landlord that the copy of the Sublease attached hereto is a full, complete and accurate copy of the
Sublease, and that there are no other documents or instruments relating to the use of the Sublet Premises by Subtenant other than
the Sublease.

2. Reimbursement of Landlord. Within five (5) days after invoice, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord all of Landlord's
reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with its review and consent of the Sublease and preparation and negotiation
of this Agreement.



3. Non-Release of Tenant; Further Transfers. Neither the Sublease nor this consent thereto shall release or discharge
Tenant from any liability, whether past, present or future, under the Lease or alter the primary liability of the Tenant to pay the rent
and perform and comply with all of the obligations of Tenant to be performed under the Lease (including the payment of all bills
rendered by Landlord for charges incurred by the Subtenant for services and materials supplied to the Sublet Premises). Neither the
Sublease nor this consent thereto shall be construed as a waiver of Landlord's right to consent to any further subletting either by
Tenant or by the Subtenant, or to any assignment by Tenant of the Lease or assignment by the Subtenant of the Sublease, or as a
consent to any portion of the Sublet Premises being used or occupied by any other party; provided that Landlord hereby confirms
that the provisions of Section 13.1 of the Lease relating to "Permitted Transfers" shall continue to apply to Tenant and shall also
apply to Subtenant during the term of the Sublease. Landlord may consent to subsequent sublettings and assignments of the Lease
or any amendments or modifications thereto without notifying Subtenant nor anyone else liable under the Sublease and without
obtaining their consent. No such action by Landlord shall relieve such persons from any liability to Landlord or otherwise with
regard to the Sublet Premises.

4. Relationship With Landlord. Tenant hereby assigns and transfers to Landlord the Tenant's interest in the Sublease
and all rentals and income arising therefrom, subject to the terms of this Section 4. Landlord, by consenting to the Sublease agrees
that until a default shall occur in the performance of Tenant's obligations under the Lease, Tenant may receive, collect and enjoy the
rents accruing under the Sublease. In the event Tenant shall default in the performance of its obligations to Landlord under the
Lease (whether or not Landlord terminates the Lease), Landlord may at its option by notice to Tenant, either (i) terminate the
Sublease, (ii) elect to receive and collect, directly from Subtenant, all rent and any other sums owing and to be owed under the
Sublease, as further set forth in Section 4.1, below, or (iii) elect to succeed to Tenant's interest in the Sublease and cause Subtenant
to attorn to Landlord, as further set forth in Section 4.2, below.

4.1 Landlord's Election to Receive Rents. Landlord shall not, by reason of the Sublease, nor by reason of the
collection of rents or any other sums from the Subtenant pursuant to Section 4, item (ii), above, be deemed liable to Subtenant for
any failure of Tenant to perform and comply with any obligation of Tenant, and Tenant hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs
Subtenant, upon receipt of any written notice from Landlord stating that a default exists in the performance of Tenant's obligations
under the Lease, to pay to Landlord the rents and any other sums due and to become due under the Sublease. Tenant agrees that
Subtenant shall have the right to rely upon any such statement and request from Landlord, and that Subtenant shall pay any such
rents and any other sums to Landlord without any obligation or right to inquire as to whether such default exists and
notwithstanding any notice from or claim from Tenant to the contrary. Tenant shall not have any right or claim against Subtenant
for any such rents or any other sums so paid by Subtenant to Landlord. Landlord shall credit Tenant with any rent received by
Landlord under such assignment but the acceptance of any payment on account of rent from the Subtenant as the result of any such
default shall in no manner whatsoever be deemed an attornment by the Landlord to Subtenant or by Subtenant to Landlord, be
deemed a waiver by Landlord of any provision of the Lease, or serve to release Tenant from any liability under the terms,
covenants, conditions, provisions or agreements under the Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any other payment of rent from
the Subtenant directly to Landlord, regardless of the circumstances or reasons therefor, shall in no




manner whatsoever be deemed an attornment by the Subtenant to Landlord in the absence of a specific written agreement signed by
Landlord to such an effect.

4.2 Landlord's Election of Tenant's Attornment. In the event Landlord elects, at its option, to cause Subtenant to
attorn to Landlord pursuant to Section 4, item (iii), above, Landlord shall undertake the obligations of Tenant under the Sublease
from the time of the exercise of the option, but Landlord shall not (i) be liable for any prepayment of more than one month's rent or
any security deposit paid by Subtenant, (ii) be liable for any previous act or omission of Tenant under the Lease or for any other
defaults of Tenant under the Sublease, (iii) be subject to any defenses or offsets previously accrued which Subtenant may have
against Tenant, or (iv) be bound by any changes or modifications made to the Sublease without the written consent of Landlord.

4.3 Operational Matters. Notwithstanding Landlord's consent to the Sublease as set forth herein, Landlord shall not
be obligated to accept from Subtenant any payments of minimum rental or Tenant's Operating Cost Share of Operating Expenses
due under the Lease, all of which shall be paid by Tenant as set forth in the Lease. Requests for Building services as provided under
the Lease, including without limitation, parking privileges, repair and maintenance services, or any other services or obligations to
be performed by Landlord under the terms of the Lease, shall be made by Tenant, and Landlord shall have no obligation to respond
to any direct request of Subtenant regarding the same.

4.4 No Waiver. The acceptance of any amounts by Landlord from Subtenant or any other party shall not be deemed
a waiver by Landlord of the obligation of Tenant to pay any or all amount due and owing under the Lease. The performance of any
obligation required by Tenant under the Lease by Subtenant or any other party shall not be deemed a waiver by Landlord of the
duty of Tenant to perform such obligation or any other obligation as to which performance is or becomes due under the Lease.

4.5 Acts of Subtenant. Any act or omission by Subtenant, or by any other person or entity for whose acts or
omissions Tenant is liable or responsible under the terms of the Lease, that violates any of the provisions of the Lease, shall be
deemed a violation of the Lease by Tenant, subject to any applicable notice and cure provisions contained in the Lease.

4.6 Indemnification. Subtenant hereby assumes all risk of damage to property or injury to persons in, upon or about
the Premises from any cause whatsoever (including, but not limited to, any personal injuries resulting from a slip and fall in, upon
or about the Sublet Premises) and agrees that Landlord, its partners, subpartners and their respective officers, agents, servants,
employees, and independent contractors shall not be liable for, and are hereby released from any responsibility for, any damage
either to person or property or resulting from the loss of use thereof, which damage is sustained by Subtenant or by other persons
claiming through Subtenant. Tenant shall indemnify, defend, protect, and hold Landlord harmless from any and all loss, cost,
damage, expense and liability (including without limitation court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred in connection with
or arising from any cause in, on or about the Premises (including, but not limited to, a slip and fall), any acts, omissions or
negligence of Subtenant or of any person claiming by, through or under Subtenant, or of the contractors, agents, servants,
employees, invitees, guests or licensees of Subtenant or any such person, in, on or about the Building, provided that the



terms of the foregoing indemnity shall not apply to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord. The provisions of this
Section 4.6 shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of the Sublease with respect to any claims or liability arising in
connection with any event occurring prior to such expiration or termination.

4.7  Insurance. Prior to Subtenant's occupancy of the Sublet Premises, Subtenant shall provide Landlord with
certificates of all of the insurance required to be carried by Subtenant by the terms of the Sublease, which shall show Landlord as
being an additional insured thereunder; provided, however, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in Section 12 of
the Sublease, Subtenant shall be required to carry Products/Completed Operations insurance pursuant to Section 12.1(a) of the
Original Lease if and when Subtenant produces marketed or clinical products. The waiver of subrogation contained in Section 12.4
of the Original Lease shall apply as between Landlord and Subtenant.

4.8 No Consent to Alterations or Particular Use. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Sublease to the
contrary, Landlord's consent to the Sublease as contained in this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a consent to (i) any alteration
or work of improvement that Tenant or Subtenant may desire or intend in the Sublet Premises, except as expressly provided in
Section 4.8.1, below, (ii) any use of hazardous, radioactive or toxic materials in or about the Sublet Premises, or (iii) any signage
proposed to be installed for the benefit of Subtenant, except as expressly provided in Section 4.8.2, below.

4.8.1 Proposed Alterations. Landlord hereby approves of the proposed Subtenant alterations described in
Exhibit D to the Sublease ("Preliminary Plans"); provided, however, that the parties hereto acknowledge that such Preliminary
Plans do not consist of final, detailed construction drawings and accordingly, Landlord hereby reserves its right to review and
approve, in accordance with Section 9 of the Lease, the final construction drawings for such alterations ("Final Construction
Drawings"); provided further that Landlord shall only have the right to disapprove such Final Working Drawings to the extent the
same are not a logical extension of, or are otherwise materially inconsistent with, the Preliminary Plans. Based upon the
Preliminary Plans, Landlord does not anticipate requiring the removal of any of the alterations described therein at the end of the
term of the Sublease.

4.8.2 Proposed Signage. Landlord hereby agrees that Subtenant shall be permitted to install its name and/or
logo (provided that in no event shall the same include an "Objectionable Name," as defined below) (i) on the existing Building
monument sign, in a location designated by Landlord, in Landlord's sole and absolute discretion, and (ii) at the entrance to the
Sublet Premises, specifically located on the left-hand wall once you pass through the vestibule of the Building. The terms of
Section 9.5 of the Lease (including Landlord's right to approve the size, design and composition of such signage) and Section 22 of
the Sublease (including Subtenant's responsibility for the entire cost of installing, maintaining and removing such signage) shall be
applicable to such foregoing signage rights. In no event shall such above-referenced signage include, identify or otherwise refer to a
name and/or logo which relates to an entity which is of a character or reputation, or is associated with a political faction or
orientation, which is inconsistent with the quality of the Building, or which would otherwise reasonably offend a landlord of a
comparable



building (an "Objectionable Name"). The parties hereby agree that the name "Sutro BioPharma, Inc.," or any reasonable
derivation thereof, shall not be deemed an Objectionable Name. Upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Sublease, Tenant
shall, or shall cause Subtenant to, remove the above-referenced signage and shall cause the area in which such signage was located
to be restored to the condition existing immediately prior to the installation of such signage. If such signage is not timely removed
or areas in which such signage was located timely restored, as provided in the immediately preceding sentence, then Landlord may
perform such work, and all costs incurred by Landlord in so performing shall be reimbursed to Landlord within thirty (30) days
after Tenant's and/or Subtenant's receipt of an invoice therefor. The terms of this Section 4.8.2 shall survive the expiration or earlier
termination of the Sublease and the Lease.

5. General Provisions.

5.1 Consideration for Sublease. Tenant and Subtenant represent and warrant that there are no additional payments
of rent or any other consideration of any type payable by Subtenant to Tenant with regard to the Sublet Premises other than as
disclosed in the Sublease.

5.2 Brokerage Commission. Tenant and Subtenant covenant and agree that under no circumstances shall Landlord
be liable for any brokerage commission or other charge or expense in connection with the Sublease and Tenant and Subtenant agree
to protect, defend indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against the same and from any cost or expense (including, but
not limited to, attorney's fees) incurred by Landlord in resisting any claim for any such brokerage commission.

5.3  Controlling Law. The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and
governed by the laws of the State of California.

5.4 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, their heirs,
successors and permitted assigns. As used herein, the singular number includes the plural and the masculine gender includes the
feminine and neuter.

5.5 Captions. The paragraph captions utilized herein are in no way intended to interpret or limit the terms and
conditions hereof; rather, they are intended for purposes of convenience only.

5.6  Partial Invalidity. If any term, provision or condition contained in this Agreement shall, to any extent, be
invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such term, provision or condition to persons or
circumstances other than those with respect to which it is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each and every
other term, provision and condition of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

5.7  Attorneys' Fees. If either party commences litigation against the other for the specific performance of this
Agreement, for damages for the breach hereof or otherwise for enforcement of any remedy hereunder, the parties hereto agree to
and hereby do waive any right to a trial by jury and, in the event of any such commencement of litigation, the prevailing party shall




be entitled to recover from the other party such costs and reasonable attorneys' fees as may have been incurred.



IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties have executed this Consent to Sublease Agreement as of the day and year first above
written.

"Landlord"

BRITANNIA POINTE GRAND LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

By: HCP-Pointe Grand, Incorporated
its general partner

By: /s/ Jonathan M. Bergschneider
Its: Executive Vice President

"Tenant"

EXELIXIS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Frank Karbe

Its: EVP & CFO

"Subtenant"

SUTRO BIOPHARMA, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ William J. Newell

Its: Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 10.4

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made as of September 19, 2013 (the “Effective Date”) by and
between Exelixis, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Exelixis” or the “Company”), and Pamela A. Simonton (“Executive”). Executive
and Exelixis are jointly referred to herein as the “Parties,”

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Executive has been employed by Exelixis since April 3, 2000 and employed as Executive Vice President and
General Counsel since January 1, 2008; and

WHEREAS, commencing on the Effective Date, Exelixis desires to engage Executive’s services as Executive Vice
President, Exelixis and Executive is willing to serve in the employ of Exelixis in such capacity; and

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to enter into a written agreement setting forth the terms and conditions of Executive’s
continued employment:

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises of the Parties and the mutual benefits they will gain by the
performance thereof, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the
Parties do hereby agree as follows:

1. Employment and Term.

Effective on the Effective Date, Exelixis hereby employs Executive in the position of Executive Vice President, Exelixis
and Executive hereby accepts such employment and agrees to render services to the Company, upon the terms and conditions set
forth in this Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall be for a term of three years, commencing on the Effective Date, subject
to the provisions of Section 4.

2. Duties.

(a) As Executive Vice President, Exelixis Executive shall have the typical duties, responsibilities and authority of such
position, subject to the authority of the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO”) of the Company to expand or limit such duties,
responsibilities and authority. Executive’s duties shall include but not be limited to those duties attached as Exhibit A. Executive’s
duties will be such that she would be able to routinely work remote. Executive understands that there may be occasions during the
term of the Agreement that her duties will require her to be present in the office, including when requested by the CEO, and at
times travel.



(b) Executive shall report to the CEO of the Company. Executive shall devote her best efforts and all of her business time,
attention, skill and energy exclusively to the business of the Company. While employed by Exelixis, Executive shall not engage or
prepare to engage in any other business activity, whether or not such business activity is pursued for gain, profit or other economic
or financial advantage; provided, however, that Executive may engage in appropriate civic or charitable activities and devote a
reasonable amount of time to private investments, service on boards of directors or other activities, conducting seminars and
making presentations, provided that such activities do not interfere or conflict with Executive’s responsibilities and are not or not
likely to be contrary to the interests of the Company.

(c) Executive shall be subject to, and shall comply with, the policies, standards and procedures generally applicable to
executives of Exelixis from time to time.

(d) Ninety (90) days before the one-year anniversary of the Effective Date, the Parties shall review Executive’s
performance during the first nine months of this Agreement to assess whether her position should remain a full-time position or
whether the position should be adjusted to part-time status. If the position is changed to part-time status, such status change shall be
effective no earlier than November 1, 2014. The Company shall make the final determination with respect to the full-time or part-
time status of the position. Part-time status shall mean 30 hours per week which qualifies Executive for regular company benefits
including but not limited to those programs currently included in the Exelixis, Inc. Health and Welfare Plan (group medical, dental
and vision insurance; employee assistance program; life; accidental death and disability and travel accident insurance; and prepaid
legal insurance); the Exelixis, Inc. 401(k) Plan; the Exelixis, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and paid holidays.

3. Compensation and Benefits.

(a) Base Salary. Exelixis shall compensate and pay Executive for services during the term of this Agreement at a base
salary of $430,523.34 per year (“Base Salary”) based on a full-time position, less applicable payroll withholdings, payable in
accordance with Exelixis’ normal payroll practices. This salary shall be subject to annual review and adjustment by the
Compensation Committee or the Board of Directors in accordance with its general policies as in effect from time to time. In the
event that Executive’s position is changed from full-time to part-time in accordance with Section 2(d), Executive’s salary shall be
adjusted to a prorated amount.

(b) Fringe Benefits. Executive shall be entitled to participate in all of Exelixis’ employee benefit programs generally
available to employees of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of such programs. Those programs currently include
the Exelixis, Inc. Health and Welfare Plan (group medical, dental and vision insurance; employee assistance program; life,
accidental death and disability and travel accident insurance; long-term disability insurance; and prepaid legal insurance); the
Exelixis, Inc. 401(k) Plan; the Exelixis, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and



paid vacation, paid sick leave and paid holidays. All benefits are subject to change at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors
of the Company.

(c) Executive Benefits. Executive shall be entitled to maintain her participation in the Exelixis, Inc 2000 Equity Incentive

Plan Stock Option Agreement and to participate in the Exelixis, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan Option Agreement, the Exelixis,
Inc. Change in Control and Severance Benefit Plan and the Company’s discretionary cash and/or stock bonus programs provided
for in the Exelixis, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan approved by stockholders May 18, 2011, for executives. In determining the
amount of the discretionary bonus for Executive, the same criteria used for determining cash and/or stock Bonus payments to other
Executive Vice Presidents on the Management Team shall be utilized so that Executive is treated consistently with her peers.

(d) Reimbursement of Business Expenses. Exelixis shall reimburse Executive for all reasonable expenses incurred by
Executive in the course of performing her duties under this Agreement which are consistent with Exelixis’ policies in effect from
time to time with respect to travel, entertainment and other business expenses for Executive Vice Presidents, subject to Exelixis’
requirements with respect to reporting and documentation of such expenses. Such reimbursements shall be payable in accordance
with Exelixis’ general reimbursement practices.

4. Termination.

(a) Employment At-Will and Termination. Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary contained herein,
Executive’s employment with Exelixis is “at will.” Executive or Exelixis may end the employment relationship at any time for any
reason, with or without Cause.

(i) Either Party may terminate this Agreement and Executive’s employment for any reason upon thirty (30) days’
written notice to the other party that this Agreement is being terminated after November 1, 2014.

(ii) The Parties may terminate this Agreement and Executive’s employment for any reason without notice upon
mutual written agreement of the parties.

(iii) Exelixis may terminate Executive’s employment and this Agreement upon written notice to Executive at any
time that the Company has determined that there is Cause for such termination. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause”
shall mean “Cause” as defined in Section 2(m) of the Exelixis, Inc. Change in Control and Severance Benefit Plan (the
“CIC Plan”).

(iv) This Agreement shall terminate immediately upon Executive’s death.

(b) Payments Upon Termination. Except as provided in this Section 4(b), in the event that (i) Executive’s employment is
terminated by the Company for Cause or (ii) Executive terminates her employment hereunder, Executive shall have no right
pursuant to this Agreement to



compensation or other benefits for any period after her termination date other than for Base Salary and vacation accrued through
the termination date.

(i) Termination Without Cause. If Executive’s employment with Exelixis is terminated by Exelixis without Cause,
including because of “Disability” as defined in the Section 13 (g) of the Exelixis, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan adopted by the
stockholders May 18, 2011, prior to the expiration of the term of this Agreement, the Company shall pay Executive the
following benefits (“Severance Benefits”):

(A) A cash severance benefit equal to the Executive’s current Base Salary at the time of termination
(calculated on a full-time employment basis) for the remainder of the term described in Section 1. Assuming
Executive has timely complied with the obligation under Section 4(c), such payment shall be made in a single lump
sum on the first business day following thirty-five (35) days after Executive’s termination date and shall be subject
to the withholding of such amounts, if any, relating to tax and other payroll obligations as the Company may
reasonably determine should be withheld pursuant to applicable law or regulation; and

(B) The full amount of Executive’s COBRA premiums on behalf of Executive and her eligible dependents
under the Company’s group health plan shall be paid by Company for a period equal to the lesser of the balance of
the term of this Agreement as defined in Section 1 or until Executive obtains coverage under another group health
plan, provided that Executive timely elects continuation coverage under COBRA (section 4980 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 [the “Code”]). Executive shall promptly notify the Company in writing in the event that she
obtains coverage under another group health plan. The Company’s obligation to pay or reimburse COBRA
premiums is subject to the condition that such payments shall not violate the nondiscrimination provisions of section
105(h) of the Code or any other applicable law or regulation, including, without limitation, the Patient Protection
and Affordable Care Act of 2010. If Exelixis reasonably determines that the payment of such premiums would be
discriminatory under section 105(h) of the Code or any other applicable law or regulation, Exelixis may in its sole
discretion, in lieu of such payments, increase the payment in Section 4(b)(i)(A) above.

(C) All other employee benefits shall terminate as of Executive’s termination date (except to the extent that
a conversion privilege may be available thereunder). Vesting of and exercisability of any outstanding options to
purchase the Company’s common stock (or stock appreciation rights or other rights with respect to stock of the
Company issued pursuant to the Exelixis, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement or the Exelixis,
Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan Option Agreement or any successor or similar plan adopted by the Company



and held by Executive), if not disallowed under the then-current Employee Incentive Program and the Employee
Equity Agreement, shall not be accelerated upon Executive’s termination if Executive is terminated for Cause as
defined in Section 4 (a)(iii) or the Parties mutually agree to terminate the Agreement. For termination without
Cause, any unvested options granted pursuant to the Exelixis, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option
Agreement or the Exelixis, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan Option Agreement or any successor or similar plan
adopted by the Company and held by Executive, if not disallowed under the then-current Employee Incentive
Program and the Employee Equity Agreement shall be accelerated upon Executive’s termination. Executive shall
have until July 31, 2017 to exercise the stock options that have vested.

(ii) Change in Control. Notwithstanding Section 3(b)(i) of the CIC Plan, in the event that Executive’s employment is
terminated prior to the expiration of the contract term described in Section 1 due to a Covered Termination or a Change in
Control Termination as those terms are defined in the CIC Plan, in lieu of any Severance Benefits under this Agreement,
Executive shall be entitled to receive all of the rights and benefits provided under the CIC Plan.

(c) Release and Commencement of Severance Benefits. As a condition of receiving any Severance Benefits under this

Section 4, Executive must sign a Release Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit B to the CIC Plan (“Release™) releasing
Exelixis and all affiliated or related entities and individuals from known and unknown claims, and such Release must become
effective according to its terms. If the period for signing and revoking the Release begins in one taxable year for the Executive and
ends in the subsequent taxable year, the payment of any Severance Benefits will begin in the second taxable year.

(d) Section 409A. The parties intend that the Severance Benefits provided under this Agreement will be deemed not to be
deferred compensation subject to section 409A of the Code (“section 409A”) to the maximum extent provided in the exceptions
provided in the Treasury Regulations for short term deferrals (section 1.409A-1(b)(4)) and separation pay plans (section 1.409A-
1(b)(9)). All Severance Benefits shall be paid within the period ending no later than the last day of the second taxable year of the
Executive following the taxable year in which the Executive’s separation from service occurs, in conformance with section 1.409A-
1(b)(9) of the Treasury Regulations. If Executive is a “specified employee” of the Company or any affiliate thereof within the
meaning of section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code on her termination date, then any cash severance payments pursuant to this
Section 4(b) shall be delayed until the date that is six (6) months after Executive’s termination date, without any adjustment on
account of such delay.



5. Protection of Confidential Information.

(a) Employee Proprietary and Inventions Agreement. Executive acknowledges and agrees that in connection with her

employment with Exelixis, she has signed an Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement with the Company, a
copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “C” and incorporated herein. Executive confirms that during the term of her
employment and thereafter, she will be subject to such agreement. Executive acknowledges and agrees that she will comply fully
with her Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement unless it is determined not to be enforceable in whole or in
part under California law.

(b) Return of Property. On and after Executive’s termination of employment for any reason, or at any time during
Executive’s employment, at the request or direction of the Company, Executive will immediately deliver to Exelixis any or all
equipment, property, material, confidential and proprietary information (as defined in Exhibit “C”) or copies thereof which are
owned by the Company or its affiliates and are in Executive’s possession and control. Such property includes documents or other
information prepared by Executive or on Executive’s behalf, or provided to Executive in connection with Executive’s duties while
employed by Exelixis, regardless of the form in which such document or information is maintained or stored. Executive may retain
a copy of any document or information describing any rights Executive may have after the termination of Executive’s employment.

(c) Remedies. Executive acknowledges that the provisions of her Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions
Agreement incorporated herein are necessary, fundamental and required for the protections and continued conduct of Exelixis’
business, and that breach of such provisions may cause Exelixis or its affiliates irreparable harm which cannot be adequately
compensated by monetary damages, and therefore in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement, Exelixis or its
affiliates (including their successors) may, in addition to other rights and remedies existing in their favor, apply to any court of
competent jurisdiction for specific performance and/or injunctive or other relief in order to enforce, or prevent any breaches of, the
provisions of this Agreement.

6. General Provisions.

(a) Arbitration. Except for claims for injunctive relief brought pursuant to Section 5(c), any dispute or controversy arising
out of or relating to this Agreement, or the employment relationship created by this Agreement, including the termination of that
relationship and any allegations of unfair or discriminatory treatment arising under state or federal law or otherwise, will be
resolved exclusively by final and binding arbitration. The arbitration will take place before a single neutral arbitrator with JAMS,
Inc. (“JAMS”) in San Francisco, California with JAMS’ then-applicable arbitration rules for the resolution of employment claims.
The parties acknowledge that by agreeing to this arbitration procedure, they waive the right to resolve any such dispute



through a trial by jury, judge or administrative proceeding. The arbitrator shall be selected by mutual agreement from an
association or listing or arbitrators or retired judges. Exelixis shall be responsible for the fees and expenses of the arbitrator in
connection with the Arbitration. Executive shall be responsible for any costs required by the arbitrator necessary to commence the
arbitration, if so commenced at Executive’s request, but in no event shall Executive be responsible for any costs beyond those
which he would be required to incur if he filed a civil action in court concerning the dispute or controversy. The Parties shall have
all the rights, remedies and defenses available in a civil action for the dispute or controversy. The prevailing party is entitled to
recover her or its attorney’s fees and costs. The arbitrator shall issue a written award that includes the arbitrator’s essential findings
and conclusions. The arbitrator will not have the authority to amend, modify, supplement or change the terms and conditions of
employment as set forth in this Agreement. This arbitration provision will not prohibit either party from seeking injunctive relief
pending the outcome of the arbitration or an order confirming or vacating the award in a court of competent jurisdiction.

(b)  Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be
effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
respect under any applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other
provision or any other jurisdiction, but this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such
invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

(c) Complete Agreement. This Agreement embodies the complete agreement and understanding of the parties with respect
to the subject matter hereof and supersedes and preempts any prior understandings, agreements or representations by or between
the parties, written or oral, which may have related to the subject matter hereof. There are no other agreements or understandings,
written or oral, in effect between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, unless expressly referenced in this
Agreement.

(d) Successors and Assigns. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of and

be enforceable by Executive, Exelixis and their respective successors and assigns; provided that the rights and obligations of
Executive under this Agreement, being personal, shall not be assignable.

(e) Governing Law and Jurisdiction. All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and

interpretation of this Agreement and the exhibits hereto shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the
State of California. Except as provided in Section 6(a), each of the parties hereto submits to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of
any state or federal court sitting in the County of San Mateo, California.



® Waiver of Jury Trial. AS A SPECIFICALLY BARGAINED FOR INDUCEMENT FOR EACH OF THE
PARTIES HERETO TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT (AFTER HAVING THE OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT
WITH COUNSEL), EACH PARTY HERETO EXPRESSLY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
LAWSUIT OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO OR ARISING IN ANY WAY FROM THIS AGREEMENT OR THE
MATTERS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

(g) Amendment and Waiver. The provisions of this Agreement may be amended or waived only with the prior written
consent of Exelixis (as approved by the Board) and Executive.

(h) No Strict Construction. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the Parties

hereto to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any party.

(i) No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended or shall be construed to give
any person other than the parties to this Agreement and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors, permitted
assigns or Affiliates any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of any agreement or any provision contained
herein.

(j) Notices. All notices, requests and other communications under this Agreement must be in writing and shall be deemed
to have been duly given only if delivered by email or facsimile transmission, personal delivery with written receipt, or delivery by
overnight courier prepaid, using the following contact information:

If to Executive: Pamela A. Simonton JD, LLM
At the address of the Executive as set forth in the Executive’s personnel file maintained by the
Company.

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Rudy Exelrod Zieff & Lowe LLP
Attn: Alan B. Exelrod, Esq.

351 California Street, Suite 700
San Francisco, CA 94104

If to Company: Exelixis, Inc.
210 East Grand Ave.
South San Francisco, CA 94080
Attention: Laura Dillard, Vice President, Human Resources



Fax: 650.837.7226
email: ldillard@exelixis.com

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Littler Mendelson, P.C.
Attn: Jennifer J Walt, Esq.
650 California Street

San Francisco, CA 94108

(k)  Survival. The covenants contained in Sections 5, 6(a) and 6(f) will survive any termination or expiration of this
Agreement.

(D Review and Enforceability of Agreement. Executive represents and warrants that prior to executing this Agreement,
she reviewed each and every provision of this Agreement and understands same, and that he had a full opportunity to have this
Agreement reviewed by legal counsel of Executive’s own choosing.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the date first written above.

Pamela A. Simonton EXELIXIS, INC., the Company
Executive

By: /s/ Michael M. Morrissey
/s/ Pamela A. Simonton 19 Sept 2013 Title: CEO

Signature Date Date: 9.19.2013




EXHIBIT A

Executive Vice President, Exelixis
SUMMARY OF MAJOR JOB RESPONSIBILITIES

Duties include, but are not limited to:

¢ Continue as General Counsel until such time as a new General Counsel is retained by the Company
* Assisting in transitioning of projects to the new General Counsel

¢ Advising members of the Management Team on Global Patent Strategies

¢ Assisting in the conducting of due diligence for financing projects or licensing activity

¢ Serving as a Director of the offshore entities

* Assisting with business development activities

¢ Assisting with Legal training to general employee population, if needed



EXHIBIT B

RELEASE AGREEMENT

I understand that this Release, together with the Employment Agreement, constitutes the complete, final and exclusive embodiment
of the entire agreement between the Company, affiliates of the Company and me with regard to the subject matter hereof. I am not
relying on any promise or representation by the Company or an affiliate of the Company that is not expressly stated therein. Certain
capitalized terms used in this Release are defined in the Plan.

I hereby confirm my obligations under the Company’s Employee Proprietary Information

and Inventions Agreement. Except as otherwise set forth in this Release, I hereby generally and completely release the Company
and its affiliates, and their parents, subsidiaries, successors, predecessors and affiliates, and their partners, members, directors,
officers, employees, stockholders, shareholders, agents, attorneys, predecessors, insurers, affiliates and assigns, from any and all
claims, liabilities and obligations, both known and unknown, that arise out of or are in any way related to events, acts, conduct, or
omissions occurring at any time prior to and including the date I sign this Release. This general release includes, but is not limited
to: (a) all claims arising out of or in any way related to my employment with the Company and its affiliates, or their affiliates, or the
termination of that employment; (b) all claims related to my compensation or benefits, including salary, bonuses, commissions,
vacation pay, expense reimbursements, severance pay, fringe benefits, stock, stock options, or any other ownership interests in the
Company and its affiliates, or their affiliates; (c) all claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination, and breach of the implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (d) all tort claims, including claims for fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge
in violation of public policy; and (e) all federal, state, and local statutory claims, including claims for discrimination, harassment,
retaliation, attorneys’ fees, or other claims arising under the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (as amended), the federal Americans
with Disabilities Act of 1990 (as amended), the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act (as amended) (“ADEA”), the
federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (as amended), and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (as
amended). Notwithstanding the foregoing, I understand that the following rights or claims are not included in my Release: (a) any
rights or claims for indemnification I may have pursuant to any written indemnification agreement with the Company or its affiliate
to which I am a party; the charter, bylaws, or operating agreements of the Company or its affiliate; or under applicable law; or (b)
any rights which cannot be waived as a matter of law. In addition, I understand that nothing in this Agreement prevents me from
filing, cooperating with, or participating in any proceeding before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the
Department of Labor, or the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing, except that I hereby waive my right to any
monetary benefits in connection with any such claim, charge or proceeding.

I hereby represent and warrant that, other than the claims identified in this paragraph, I am not aware of any claims I have or might
have that are not included in the Release.
I acknowledge that I am knowingly and voluntarily waiving and releasing any rights I



may have under the ADEA, and that the consideration given under the Employment Agreement for the waiver and release in the
preceding paragraph hereof is in addition to anything of value to which I was already entitled. I further acknowledge that I have
been advised by this writing, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) my waiver and release do not apply to any rights or claims that
may arise after the date I sign this Release; (b) I should consult with an attorney prior to signing this Release (although I may
choose voluntarily not do so); (c) I have twenty-one (21) days to

consider this Release (although I may choose voluntarily to sign this Release earlier); (d) I have

seven (7) days following the date I sign this Release to revoke the Release by providing written

notice to an officer of the Company; and (e) this Release shall not be effective until the date upon

which the revocation period has expired, which shall be the eighth day after I sign this Release.

I acknowledge that I have read and understand Section 1542 of the California Civil Code

which reads as follows: “A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does

not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if

known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.”

I hereby expressly waive and relinquish all rights and benefits under that section and any law of

any jurisdiction of similar effect with respect to my release of any claims hereunder.

I hereby represent that I have been paid all compensation owed and for all hours worked,;

I have received all the leave and leave benefits and protections for which I am eligible pursuant

to the Family and Medical Leave Act, the California Family Rights Act, or otherwise; and I have

not suffered any on-the-job injury for which I have not already filed a workers’ compensation

claim.

I acknowledge that to become effective, I must sign and return this Release to the
Company so that it is received not later than twenty-one (21) days following the date it is
provided to me.

EMPLOYEE

Name:
Date:



EXHIBIT C

EMPLOYEE PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND INVENTIONS AGREEMENT



EXELIXIS

EMPLOYEE PROPRIETARY INFORMATION
AND INVENTIONS AGREEMENT
(U.S. EMPLOYEES)

In consideration of my employment by Exelixis, Inc. or any of its affiliated companies (the "Company"), and the compensation paid to me, I hereby

agree as follows:

1. NONDISCLOSURE

1.1 Recognition of Company's Rights; Nondisclosure. At all
times during my employment and thereafter for a period of ten (10) years, I
will hold in strictest confidence and will not disclose, use, lecture upon or
publish any of the Company's Proprietary Information (defined below),
except as such disclosure, use or publication may be required in connection
with my work for the Company, or unless an officer of the Company
expressly authorizes such in writing. I will obtain Company's written
approval before publishing or submitting for publication any material
(written, verbal, or otherwise) that relates to my work at Company and/or
incorporates any Proprietary Information. I hereby assign and agree to
assign to the Company any rights, title and interest that I may have or
acquire in such Proprietary Information and recognize that all Proprietary
Information shall be the sole property of the Company and its assigns.

1.2 Proprietary Information. The term "Proprietary
Information" shall mean any and all confidential and/or proprietary
knowledge, data or information of the Company. By way of illustration but
not limitation, "Proprietary Information" includes tangible and
intangible information relating to biological and organic materials and/or
protocols, including, but not limited to, antibodies, cell lines, samples of
assay components, media and/or cell lines and procedures and formulations
for producing any such assay components, media and/or cell lines,
formulations, products, processes, know-how, designs, formulas, methods,
developmental or experimental work, clinical data, improvements,
discoveries, plans for research, new products, marketing and selling,
business plans, budgets and unpublished financial statements, licenses,
prices and costs, suppliers and customers, and information regarding the
skills and

compensation of other employees of the Company. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, it is understood that, at all such times, I am free to use
information which is generally known in the trade or industry, which is not
gained as result of a breach of this Agreement.

1.3 Third Party Information. I understand, in addition, that the
Company has received and in the future will receive from third parties
confidential or proprietary information ("Third Party Information")
subject to a duty on the Company's part to maintain the confidentiality of
such information and to use it only for certain limited purposes. During the
term of my employment and thereafter for a period of ten (10) years, I will
hold Third Party Information in the strictest confidence and will not
disclose to anyone (other than Company personnel or other authorized
representatives who need to know such information in connection with
their work for the Company) or use, except in connection with my work for
the Company, Third Party Information unless expressly authorized by an
officer of the Company in writing.

1.4 No Improper Use of Information of Prior Employers and
Others. During my employment by the Company, I will not improperly use
or disclose any confidential information or trade secrets, if any, of any
former employer or any other third party to whom I have an obligation of
confidentiality, and I will not bring onto the premises of the Company any
unpublished documents or any property belonging to any former employer
or any other third party to whom I have an obligation of confidentiality
unless consented to in writing by that former employer or third party. I will
use in the performance of my duties only information which is generally
known and used by persons with training and experience comparable to my
own, which is common knowledge in the industry or otherwise legally in
the



public domain, or which is otherwise provided or developed by the
Company.

2. ASSIGNMENT OF INVENTIONS.

2.1 Proprietary Rights. The term "Proprietary Rights" shall
mean all trade secret, patent (including without limitation, any invention,
development, concept, and improvement), trademark, copyright, mask
work and other intellectual property rights throughout the world.

2.2 Prior Inventions. Inventions which are the subject of a
pending patent application or issued patent, and have been reduced to
practice prior to the commencement of my employment with the Company,
are excluded from the scope of this Agreement. To preclude any possible
uncertainty, I have set forth on Exhibit B, attached hereto, a complete list of
all inventions, listed by Country filed patent number, that I have, alone or
jointly with others, reduced to practice prior to the commencement of my
employment with the Company, that I consider to be my property or the
property of third parties and that I wish to have excluded from the scope of
this Agreement (collectively referred to as "Prior Inventions"). If
disclosure of any such Prior Invention would cause me to violate any prior
confidentiality agreement, I understand that I am not to list such Prior
Inventions in Exhibit B but am only to disclose a cursory name for each
such invention, a listing of the party(ies) to whom it belongs and the fact
that full disclosure as to such inventions has not been made for that reason.
If no such disclosure is attached, I represent that there are no Prior
Inventions. If, in the course of my employment with the Company, I
incorporate a Prior Invention into a Company product, process or machine,
the Company is hereby granted and shall have a nonexclusive, royalty-free,
irrevocable, perpetual, worldwide license (with rights to sublicense through
multiple tiers of sublicensees) to make, have made, modify, have modified,
use, have used, sell, have sold, import and have imported such Prior
Invention as part of or in connection with such product, process or
machine, unless a portion is restricted by a prior obligation, in which case
such portion may be excluded. Notwithstanding the foregoing, I agree that I
will not incorporate, or permit to be incorporated, in whole or in part, Prior
Inventions in any Company Inventions without the Company's prior written
consent.

2.3 Assignment of Proprietary Rights. Subject to Sections 2.4
and 2.6, T hereby assign and agree to assign in the future all my right, title
and interest in and to any and all Proprietary Rights (which are filed

in patent applications or made or first fixed in a tangible medium, as
applicable) to the Company whether or not patentable or registrable under
patent, copyright or similar statutes, which are made, conceived, developed,
discovered, or reduced to practice or learned by me, either alone or jointly
with others, during the period of my employment with the Company.
Inventions assigned to the Company, or to a third party as directed by the
Company pursuant to this Section 2, are referred to as "Company
Inventions."

2.4 Nonassignable Inventions. This Agreement does not apply
to an invention which qualifies fully as a nonassignable invention under
applicable state laws. For California-based employees, Section 2870 et seq.
of the California Labor Code (hereinafter "Section 2870") requires that I
receive the notification on Exhibit A (Limited Exclusion Notification) and
by my signature below, I acknowledge receipt of the notification.

2.5 Obligation to Keep Company Informed. During the period
of my employment and for six (6) months after termination of my
employment with the Company, I will promptly disclose to the Company
fully and in writing all inventions authored or made by me, either alone or
jointly with others. In addition, I will promptly disclose to the Company all
patent applications filed by me or on my behalf within one (1) year after
termination of my employment and provide a copy of such patent
application(s) in written and electronic form; I will provide said disclosure
and/or copies within thirty (30) days of conception, making and/or
reduction to practice, or filing, respectively. At the time of each such
disclosure, I will advise the Company in writing of any inventions that I
believe fully qualify for protection under applicable state laws (including in
California, Section 2870); and I will at that time provide to the Company in
writing all evidence necessary to substantiate that belief. The Company will
keep in confidence and will not use for any purpose or disclose to third
parties without my consent any confidential information disclosed in
writing to the Company pursuant to this Agreement relating to inventions
that qualify fully for protection under the provisions of applicable state
laws. In any event, I will preserve the confidentiality of any invention that
does not fully qualify for protection under applicable state laws.

2.6  Government or Third Party. I also agree to assign all my
right, title and interest in and to any particular Company Invention to a
third party,



including without limitation the United States, as directed by the Company.

2.7  Works for Hire. I acknowledge that all original works of
authorship which are made by me (solely or jointly with others) within the
scope of my employment and which are protectable by copyright are
"works made for hire," pursuant to the United States Copyright Act (17
U.S.C,, Section 101).

2.8 Enforcement of Proprietary Rights. I will assist the
Company in every proper way to obtain, and from time to time enforce,
United States and foreign Proprietary Rights relating to Company
Inventions in any and all countries. To that end, I will execute, verify and
deliver such documents (including but not limited to patent applications
and assignments) and perform such other acts (including without limitation,
appearances as a witness) as the Company may reasonably request for use
in applying for, obtaining, perfecting, evidencing, sustaining and enforcing
such Proprietary Rights and the assignment thereof. In addition, I will
execute, verify and deliver assignments of such Proprietary Rights to the
Company or its designee. My obligation to assist the Company with respect
to Proprietary Rights relating to such Company Inventions in any and all
countries shall continue beyond the termination of my employment, but the
Company shall compensate me at a reasonable rate after my termination for
the time actually spent by me at the Company's request on such assistance.

In the event the Company is unable for any reason, after reasonable effort,
to secure my signature on any document needed in connection with the
actions specified in the preceding paragraph, I hereby irrevocably designate
and appoint the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as my
agent and attorney in fact, which appointment is coupled with an interest, to
act for and on my behalf to execute, verify and file any such documents and
to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the purposes of the
preceding paragraph with the same legal force and effect as if executed by
me. I hereby waive and quitclaim to the Company any and all claims, of
any nature whatsoever, which I now or may hereafter have for infringement
of any Proprietary Rights assigned hereunder to the Company.

3. RECORDS. I agree to keep and maintain adequate and current records
(in the form of laboratory notebooks, notes, sketches, drawings and in any
other form that may be required by the Company) of all Proprietary Rights
developed, discovered, conceived

or made by me (solely or jointly) during the period of my employment at
the Company, which records shall be available to and remain the sole
property of the Company at all times.

4. ADDITIONAL ACTIVITIES. I agree that during the period of my
employment by the Company I will not, without the Company's express
written consent, engage in any employment or business activity which is
competitive with, or would otherwise conflict with, my employment by the
Company. I agree further that for the period of my employment by the
Company and for one (l) year after the date of termination of my
employment by the Company, I will not induce any employee of the
Company to leave the employ of the Company.

5. NO CONFLICTING OBLIGATION. I represent that my
performance of all the terms of this Agreement and as an employee of the
Company does not and will not breach any agreement to keep in confidence
information acquired by me in confidence or in trust prior to my
employment by the Company. I have not entered into, and I agree I will not
enter into, any agreement either written or oral in conflict herewith.

6. RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY. When I leave the employ of
the Company, I will deliver to the Company any and all property of the
Company, including without limitation laboratory notebooks, drawings,
notes, memoranda, specifications, devices, formulas, and documents,
together with all copies thereof, and any other material containing or
disclosing any Company Inventions, Third Party Information or Proprietary
Information of the Company. I further agree that any personal property
situated on the Company's premises, including computers, email, disks and
other storage media, filing cabinets or other work areas, is subject to
inspection by Company personnel at any time with or without notice. Prior
to leaving, I will cooperate with the Company in completing and signing
the Company's termination statement verifying my compliance with the
terms of this Agreement.

7. LEGAL AND EQUITABLE REMEDIES. Because my services are
personal and unique and because I may have access to and become
acquainted with the Proprietary Information of the Company, the Company
shall have the right to enforce this Agreement and any of its provisions by
injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief, without bond and



without prejudice to any other rights and remedies that the Company may
have for a breach of this Agreement.

8. NOTICES. Any notices required or permitted hereunder shall be given
to the appropriate party at the address specified below or at such other
address as the party shall specify in writing. Such notice shall be deemed
given upon personal delivery to the appropriate address or if sent by
certified or registered mail, three (3) days after the date of mailing.

Executive Director, Human Resources
Exelixis, Inc.

170 Harbor Way

P.O. Box 511

South San Francisco, CA 94083-0511

9. NOTIFICATION OF NEW EMPLOYER. In the event that I leave
the employ of the Company, I hereby give consent to Company to notify
my new employer of my rights and obligations under this Agreement.

10. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

10.1 Governing Law; Consent to Personal Jurisdiction. This
Agreement will be governed by and construed according to the laws of the
State of California, as such laws are applied to agreements entered into and
to be performed entirely within California between California residents. I
hereby expressly consent to the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal
courts located in San Mateo County, California for any lawsuit filed there
against me by Company arising from or related to this Agreement.

10.2  Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions
contained in this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid,
illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement, and
this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or
unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. If moreover, any
one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any
reason be held to be excessively broad as to duration, geographical scope,
activity or subject, it shall be construed by limiting and reducing it, so as to
be enforceable to the extent

compatible with the applicable law as it shall then appear.

10.3  Successors and Assigns. This Agreement will be binding
upon my heirs, executors, administrators, legatees, and other legal
representatives and will be for the benefit of the Company, its successors,
and its assigns.

10.4  Survival. The provisions of this Agreement shall survive
the termination of my employment and the assignment of this Agreement
by the Company to any successor in interest or other assignee.

10.5 Employment. I agree and understand that nothing in this
Agreement shall confer any right with respect to continuation of
employment by the Company, nor shall it interfere in any way with my
right or the Company's right to terminate my employment at any time, with
or without advance notice and with or without cause. This is called
"employment at will," and no one other than the President of the Company
has the authority to alter this arrangement, to enter into an agreement for
employment for a specified period of time, or to make any agreement
contrary to this policy. Furthermore, any such agreement must be in writing
and must be signed by both the President of the Company and me.

10.6 Waiver. No waiver by the Company of any breach of this
Agreement shall be a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach. No
waiver by the Company of any right under this Agreement shall be
construed as a waiver of any other right. The Company shall not be
required to give notice to enforce strict adherence to all terms of this
Agreement.

10.7 Adyvice of Counsel. I acknowledge that, in executing this
agreement, I have had the opportunity to seek the advice of independent
legal counsel, and I have read and understood all of the terms and
provisions of this agreement. This Agreement shall not be construed against
any party by reason of the drafting or preparation hereof.

[signature page follows]



10.8 Entire Agreement. The obligations pursuant to Sections 1
and 2 of this Agreement shall apply to any time during which I was
previously employed, or am in the future employed, by the Company as a
consultant if no other agreement governs nondisclosure and assignment of
inventions during such period. This Agreement is the final, complete and
exclusive agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof
and supersedes and merges all prior discussions between us. No
modification of or amendment to this Agreement, nor any waiver of any
rights under this Agreement, will be effective unless in writing and signed
by the party to be charged. Any subsequent change or changes in my duties,
salary or compensation will not affect the validity or scope of this
Agreement.

This Agreement shall be effective as of the first day of my
employment with the Company, namely: , 20

I have read this Agreement carefully and understand its terms. I have completely
filled out Exhibit B to this Agreement.

EMPLOYEE
Dated:
Signature

Printed Name:

COMPANY

Dated:

Signature:

Printed Name: Pamela Simonton




EXHIBIT A
LIMITED EXCLUSION NOTIFICATION
THIS IS TO NOTIFY you in accordance with Section 2870, et seq. of the California Labor Code that the foregoing Agreement between you and

the Company does not require you to assign or offer to assign to the Company any invention that you developed entirely on your own time without using the
Company's equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret information except for those inventions that either:

1. Relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to the Company's business, or actual or demonstrably anticipated

research or development of the Company; or

2. Result from any work performed by you for the Company.

To the extent a provision in the foregoing Agreement purports to require you to assign an invention otherwise excluded from the preceding
paragraph, the provision is against the public policy of this state and is unenforceable.

This limited exclusion does not apply to any patent or invention covered by a contract between the Company and the United States or any of its
agencies requiring full title to such patent or invention to be in the United States.

I ACKNOWLEDGE RECEIPT of a copy of this notification.

By:__
(PRINTED NAME OF EMPLOYEE)
Date:__

Received by:

Signature

Laura Dillard, Executive Director, Human Resources
Name & Title

Date



EXHIBIT B

PRIOR INVENTIONS

TO: Exelixis, Inc.
FROM:
DATE:

SUBJECT:Prior Inventions

1. Except as listed in Section 2 below, the following is a complete list of all inventions or improvements relevant to the subject matter of my employment
by Exelixis, Inc. (the "Company") that have whatever recited above by me alone or jointly with others prior to my engagement by the Company:

No inventions or improvements.

See below:

Additional sheets attached.

2. Due to a prior confidentiality agreement, I cannot complete the disclosure under Section 1 above with respect to inventions or improvements

generally listed below, the proprietary rights and duty of confidentiality with respect to which I owe to the following party(ies):

Invention or Improvement Party(ies) Relationship

Additional sheets attached.



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Michael M. Morrissey, Ph.D., Chief Executive Officer of Exelixis, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of Exelixis, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ MICHAEL M. MORRISSEY
Michael M. Morrissey, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: October 30, 2013



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Frank Karbe, Chief Financial Officer of Exelixis, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of Exelixis, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/  FRANK KARBE
Frank Karbe
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: October 30, 2013



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title
18 of the United States Code, Michael M. Morrissey, Ph.D., the Chief Executive Officer of Exelixis, Inc. (the “Company”), and Frank Karbe, the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 27, 2013, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the
“Quarterly Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have set their hands hereto as of the 30th day of October 2013.

/s/  MICHAEL M. MORRISSEY /s/  FRANK KARBE
Michael M. Morrissey, Ph.D. Frank Karbe
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Executive Officer) (Principal Financial Officer)



